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Financial Highlights
it 7

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
4 B R

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-NE —EZ-Z§F —T--F —E--F| ZBZ=f
HK$milion  HKS'milon ~ HK$milon  HKSmilion | HK$'million
BERT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEET
Revenue e i
Restaurant, food and hotel &%~ R fa & /B /& 856 768 706 676 574
Property investment and WERERER
development 114 263 90 105 109
970 1,031 796 781 683
Profit/(Loss) Attributable to RAEEA

owners of the Parent FEfEEH,/ (B8) 278 14 81 4 (176)
Basic Earnings/(Loss) per gRERET,/

Share (HK cents) (B1B) GBI 22.12 1.12 6.44 0.25 (11.18)
Net Assets BEFE 3,830 3,563 3,831 4,078 3,585
Total Assets BEE 6,262 6,393 6,772 7,082 6,489

Analysis of Profit/(Loss)

Analysis of Revenue
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS
(Honorary Chairrman)

MA Kai Yum, PhD (Chairman)

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JP
(Vice-chairman)

LIANG Rui (Chief Executive Officer)

CHAN Francis Ping Kuen

MA Hung Man#

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles
WONG See King
CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LO Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman)
WONG See King
CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

WONG See King (Chairman)
LO Ming Chi, Charles
CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

MA Kai Yum, PhD (Chairman)

LO Ming Chi, Charles

WONG See King

CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHAN Francis Ping Kuen

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda

i Mr. Ma Hung Man was appointed as an executive director with
effect from 8 September 2022
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACES

OF BUSINESS

26/F Phase Il Wyler Centre
200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
Hong Kong

5/F Carrianna Friendship Square
2002 Renminnan Road

Lo Wu District, Shenzhen

China

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM10, Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

SOLICITORS
Michael Li & Co.
Bird & Bird

K.C. Ho & Fong

LEGAL ADVISER ON BERMUDA LAW
Appleby

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

O-Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communication (Hong Kong) Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.carrianna.com
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | would like
to present the Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings
Company Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s turnover was
HK$683,482,000 (2022: HK$781,170,000), decreased by
13% as compared to last year. The Group’s loss attributable
to shareholders was HK$175,680,000 as compared to a
profit attributable to shareholders of HK$3,822,000 from last
year. The decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the restaurant and food business turnover during
the year. The operating loss attributable to shareholders was
mainly due to () the disruptions to the restaurant and food
business due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, in
particular, the city lockdown of Hainan in the last two weeks
before the Mid-Autumn Festival, which affected significantly
on the mooncake sales this year; (i) the impact of exchange
loss on investment property valuation due to devaluation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars during the year; and (i)
increase in the finance costs due to the increase in interest
rates in bank borrowings.

While the Group’s business was affected by a slower than
anticipated pace of economic recovery in Hong Kong, and a
nation-wide COVID-19 outbreak during the third quarter which
seriously impacted the restaurant business in Mainland China,
restaurant business saw a sharp rebounce at the beginning of
2023 following the relaxation of pandemic-related controls and
re-opening of the Chinese borders. The business remained
healthy overall and started to pick up again with good turnover
and profit.

Contribution from property segment remained steady during
the year. There was no major change in the investment property
portfolio of the Group for the year. The Group had recorded
an increase of 2% in rental income for the year. The increase
in rental income was as a result of the gradual resumption of
tenancy business to normal as the restrictions of COVID-19
were uplifted.

EERMEMEREMRAT | 2023F R

Chairman’s Statement
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The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project is
in full operation. With the subcontracting out of the business
operation and property management of the project to Kaisa
Group, new tenancy contracts were signed and new brand
name shops were introduced to the shopping centre, which
has increased the occupancy and value of the project.

The 13 storeys high grade Guangzhou South Station
commercial property continued to contribute to the Group’s
rental income for the year. The office building has achieved
100% occupancy to date.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s 50% owned residential property
re-development project at Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po has
entered its construction stage of development. The project
has a buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft. The residential
building comprises 115 residential units and 2 floors of
commercial shops. The pre-sale of the residential units has
commenced in July 2022 and more than 40 units have been
sold. The project is expected to complete by end of 2023.

The Group’s another 50% owned residential property re-
development project at Castle Peak Road, Sham Shui Po has
also commenced its construction stage of development. The
project has a buildable gross floor area of 42,400 sq.ft. The
associate has successfully acquired 100% of the property
ownerships of the Phase 1 development. Site investigation and
demolition works have commenced in the second quarter of
2023. The project is expected to complete by mid-2026.

The food and restaurant business is another core business of
the Group. The business segment recorded a decrease of 15%
in turnover from last year. The decrease was mainly attributable
to the disruptions to the restaurant and food businesses due
to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong
and the Mainland, in particular the lockdown of Hainan in the
last 2 weeks before the Mid-Autumn Festival, which affected
significantly on the mooncake sales this year. Segment profit
decreased by 82% from last year. The decrease was mainly
due to reduction of mooncake sales for the year.

REBEHEB0N DL REFERESRBD
TERAEF-HAZEBZERMEER
BABKREKRERBER HBECDRIZERHM
B ®wEeslETRFREER BmHNE
AR EETELB AR

FANNSEHENEHESI3SBNELE®E
MERZBEEAEBERBEETWA -EES ZW
EVRAEFREHBERIZESTI00% °

EE/E  NEBBBS0BERM N FRKE 518
HeEEVMXEERBEEDEARKRERR
ZIA B 2 A 2 IEEETE A42,500F 5 R © 5% E
ERERSEEESN KR EmE AR P
—E__FtLtAARBEFEEEN TEE
B E40EE N - ZIBE BN =T ==
FFERTHK

REB S —HBS0%ERMUNRKEE LB
ZIEEYMESEZEEMEABEERERBA
ZIB B 2 A EIEEE A 542,400F 75 R o Bt &
NAER U EESE —HAE R Z100% % H - i
BHMREFHIEER - E-_=ZFF_FF
B -BEEBHER - NFFPRTK-

RmEERR/AEB R —EBXK -ZN
ERBBREFHF/I5%HD ARSI EH
REAREERAMRENEHARIER/E
BERRMEBERNTE LERSFRS
TRER R W 2 2378 7 & BHS A 8 85 & 1M B
BERE DG MREFRD82% BRI
TEHRABHEER DA



Food business turnover recorded a decrease of 23% from last
year. The decrease in food business turnover mainly came from
the decrease in mooncake sales this year. The bakery business
in Hong Kong recorded an increase of 8% in sales from last
year. The Group’s subsidiary Profit Smart group has recorded
an increase in profit of 38% from last year. The increase was
due to the improvement in operating results of factory and retail
businesses as well as government subsidies received during
the year. Management will continue to strengthen product
development and introduce more new products with the aim to
boost sales. Profit Smart group has undergone a renovation of
the production areas and acquisition of additional equipment to
increase its production capacity.

The Group’s overall restaurant turnover decreased by 5% from
last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease
in the turnover of Delicious group restaurants due to close of
some loss making shops during the year. While the restaurant
business was affected by a slower than anticipated pace of
economic recovery in Hong Kong, and a nation-wide COVID-19
outbreak during the third quarter which seriously impacted the
restaurant business in Mainland China, restaurant business
saw a sharp rebounce at the beginning of 2023 following the
relaxation of pandemic-related controls, resulting in a small loss
this year.

With the lifting of COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and the
reopening of borders, the pace of recovery in the Hong Kong
and Mainland markets is expected to be gradual. While there
are still economic uncertainties— inflation, rise of interest rates
and Ukraine-Russia War situation, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic about the economic outlook for the coming year.

Management will continue to focus its business development
in the Greater Bay Area. Management is of the view that
consumer spending will remain strong in the area. The Group
will leverage on the established branding and reputation of
the “Carrianna” Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
and will continue to expand its restaurant business in a
steady pace in the region. A new “Carrianna” Chao Zhou
and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurant was opened at the
self-owned property in Kunmin and 3 new “Shun Yi” Shunde
cuisine restaurants were opened in Shenzhen during the year,
taking the advantage of the lower rental negotiated during the
COVID-19 period.

EEBPEBMZERERAR | 202353
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On the property development side, while the investment
property portfolio in the Mainland continues to provide steady
income flow to the Group, Management believes that the
limited land supply and strong end-user demand will continue
to provide support to the residential property market in Hong
Kong. Also, the new Guangzhou South Station Property and
the two Shum Shui Po property re-development projects will
provide additional income return to the Group in the short and
medium term. The Group remains positive and cautious about
the property business.

Building on the solid foundation of the Group’s food business
and capacity of the production facilities, the Group will continue
to expand its food business in the Mainland market. Besides
the Carrianna mooncake, the bread production line of the
advanced Hainan food factory is also in operation. The factory
is also expected to produce packaged Hainan style food and
Chinese style dry meat products. The Group will introduce
more new products and elements in the sector. Management
believes that food business will become the Group’s another
key driver of profitability and growth in the next few years.

The Group will continue to implement effective cost control
measures and adjust its business strategies in response to
market changes to increase its competitiveness and to sustain
business growth in our operating markets in Hong Kong and
Mainland China.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board, management team and staff for their support
and dedication to the Group and to shareholders, customers,
suppliers and other business partners for their unfailing
support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, PnD, SBS, BBS, aged 81, is the co-founder
of the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary
Chairman and re-designated as Non-Executive Director of the
Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma was re-designated as
Executive Director on 10 December 2020. Mr. Ma has over
30 years’ experience in the restaurant business and property
development. He was a committee member of the 9th,
10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is the consultant of the
All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, the
permanent honorary president of the Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association, the permanent honorary
president of the Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Community Organizations Ltd., the permanent honorary
president of the Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce
Limited and the permanent honorary president of the Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. Mr. Ma is the
elder brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PhD, aged 72, a co-founder of the Group,
has been an Executive Director of the Group since 1984,
and Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma
accumulated many years of management experience from
garment business, property development, hotel and catering
business. Mr. Ma is currently responsible for the important
decision-making and business development of the Group. Mr.
Ma was a former member of Guangdong Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
also serves as the life honorary president of Hong Kong &
Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association, the supervisor of Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association Secondary
School, the executive chairman of Hong Kong Changsha
Chamber of Commerce, the vice president of the Federation
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organization, the vice-
chairman of the Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong
Kong and the chairman of the Hong Kong Commerce, Industry,
and Professionals Association. Mr. Ma is the younger brother of
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JP, aged 56, is an Executive
Director of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990 and was appointed Vice-chairman on 28
June 2019. He has been the Managing Director of Carrianna
Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently responsible
for the Group’s property development operations. He has
extensive experience in the catering industry, as well as
property management and development. Mr. Ma was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003
appointed Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2015 and a Honorary
Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison University in
2004. In 2011, he was awarded the honorary citizen by the
Shenzhen government. He was the chairman of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a member of Tung
Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a member of the
Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and also serves as
the executive vice chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organisations, the president of the
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce and the chief
president of the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce, Qianhai.
Mr. Ma is an independent non-executive director of Liu Chong
Hing Investment Limited, the shares of which are listed on Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is
the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

LIANG Rui, aged 48, is the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Group since 2 January 2021. He is
a representative of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress.
He holds a doctoral degree in technical economics and
management from the School of Economics and Business
Administration of Chongging University and a postdoctoral
degree in applied economics from the School of Economics and
Finance of Xi'an Jiaotong University. Since 2000, Mr. Liang has
worked for the Shenzhen Luohu District People’s Government
for nearly 17 years, serving various senior posts including
deputy director of the Letters and Calls Bureau, director of the
District Committee (Government) Office, director of the District
Civil Affairs Bureau, and secretary and director of the Party’s
Working Committee of Nanhu Street Office. He has served
as the chief executive officer of Shuibei Jewelry Group since
October 2017. Mr. Liang is currently a non-executive director of
Coolpad Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He
has served as the executive director of Coolpad Group Limited
from January 2018 to December 2020 and also their chief
executive officer from September 2019 to December 2020.

CHAN Francis Ping Kuen, aged 64, is the Executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group.
Mr. Chan joined the Group as the Group Financial Controller
in June 2019 and was appointed Company Secretary of the
Company in November 2019. He was appointed Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 1 March
2020. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chan has held senior finance positions in a number
of listed companies and multinational corporations. He was
also the director of an investment and business consultancy
firm and has extensive experience in corporate finance and
investment in the Mainland and Hong Kong. He also possesses
substantial working experience in public accountancy practice
with an international accounting firm. Mr. Chan holds a
bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University of Sydney
in Australia. He is a member of the Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is currently an
independent non-executive director of Ev Dynamics (Holdings)
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Man, aged 47, is the Executive Director of the
Group since 8 September 2022 and is currently responsible for
the development of Group’s food business. Mr. Ma graduated
from the University of California, Davis with a bachelor of
Science degree in Civil Engineering in 2000. He then began his
professional practice in structural engineering in California and
obtained his professional license in civil engineering (BPELSG,
USA) in 2004. Mr. Ma returned to Hong Kong to join the
Group in 2006 and participated in the property development
projects in Mainland China. He was appointed Managing
Director of the Group’s restaurant and food production division
in 2012. Mr. Ma has substantial management experience
in food and beverage business and property development.
He was a committee member of the 10th, 11th and 12th
Hunan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung, the controlling shareholder and an executive director
of the Company and a brother of Mr. Ma Hung Ming John, an
executive director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 73, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group
in 1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow
member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr.
Lo is an independent non-executive director of Cash Financial
Services Group Limited. He was an executive director of
Winshine Science Company Limited from 3 October 2009
until 10 November 2014 when he was re-designated as non-
executive director and served until 18 December 2017. All
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. He has more than 30 years of professional and
business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian countries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

WONG See King, aged 61, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief financial officer of HAGER
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which is a
market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market, being engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Macquarie
University, Australia and is a member of the CPA Australia.

CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher, S8S, JP, aged 71, is
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Cheung joined the Group in July 2021. Mr. Cheung
was formerly a member of the Legislative Council (Financial
Services) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He is currently the Chairman of Christfund Securities Limited.
He obtained an EMBA degree from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2007. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience
in the financial market and securities industry for over 40
years. He was a former member of the National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
and also serves as the honorary president of the Hong Kong
Securities Professionals Association, an elected director of
the Hong Kong Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, the
president of the Hong Kong China Chamber of Commerce,
the honorary president of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian
Association, the deputy secretary of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association, and the vice president of the Federation of HK
Jiangsu Community Organization. Mr. Cheung is currently an
independent non-executive director of Tongda Group Holdings
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 56, is the Managing Director of the
China Food Division of the Group, Carrianna (Hainan) Catering
Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna (Hainan) Food Processing Co.,
Ltd.. He has been serving the Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau)
Restaurant in Hong Kong since 1986. Mr. Lee has been in
charge of operation of Hainan Carrianna restaurant and food
business since 1993.

JIANG Benhua, aged 56, joined the Group in 1992 and was
promoted to executive chef of the Group in 1993. In 2016,
he was appointed as the Managing Director of Carrianna
restaurant group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked
for a well-known restaurant group in Hong Kong. Mr. Jiang
has over 30 years of experience in restaurant operation and
management and has acquired honorary awards and positions
including Chinese Cooking Master, Golden Chef of Europe
Excellent Food Society, Shenzhen Top Ten Golden Chef and
Honorary Chairman of Asia Pacific Grandchef Society.

CHU Chun Fung, aged 62, is the founder of the Profit Smart
group and currently an Executive Director of Profit Smart Group
Limited. Mr. Chu has more than 35 years’ experience in bakery
business. He is responsible for business development and daily
operation of the Profit Smart group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which became effective on 1 January 2005. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality
board of directors (the “Board”), sound internal control,
principles and practices, transparency and accountability to
all shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed below,
the Company has complied with the CG Code throughout the
accounting period covered by this report.

In accordance with Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
directors are not appointed for a specific term. However, all
the directors (except Chairman) are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the provision of
the Bye-laws of the Company and their terms of appointment
are reviewed when they are due for re-election.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the directors of the Company
have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard under the Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprised nine directors,
including six executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The brief biographical details of the directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 9 to
14 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills, diversity of
perspectives and experience which can meet the requirements
of the business of the Company.

The directors of the Company have been appointed for a term
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company. According to Bye-law 102(A) of the
Bye-laws of the Company, director appointed to fill any casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting after their appointment and shall be subject to
re-election by the shareholders of the Company. According to
Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
(except Chairman or Managing Director) and shall be eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All directors of the
Company have made full and active contribution to the affairs of
the Board and the Board has always acted in the best interests
of the Group.

The executive directors and senior management of the
Company are delegated with respective levels of authorities
with regard to key corporate strategy and policy and
contractual commitments. Management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group with divisional heads
responsible for different aspects of the business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 67 to 75 of the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held four regular
board meetings. The attendance of the directors at the board
meetings was as follows:
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Number of
attendance
Directors BE= R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNEEE (ZELE) 4/4
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) ENREE (E£FE) 4/4
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BBk (BEE) 4/4
Mr. Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) RS (TTEAEZ) 4/4
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen BRI 4 5t & 4/4
Mr. Ma Hung Man BB/ X EE 2/4
(appointed on 8 September 2022) (RZFZZFNANAZF)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA o 4/4
Mr. Wong See King BEREAE 4/4
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher REIR L E 4/4
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board mesting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2023, the directors participated in the
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following trainings: =HlE

Type of training
Directors = EIN|R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) SNBEE (ZEELE) @)
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 1.2
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BsshiE (BlEE) M.
Mr. Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) R STE (TTEAES) 1.2
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen PR R4 St & (1),
Mr. Ma Hung Man BB ek 1.2

(appointed on 8 September 2022) (R=ZFZZFNANAZE(F)

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA 1.
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE ©)
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher SREE I ST A 1.2

(1)  Attending training sessions/seminars

(2)  Reading materials

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman and
Mr. Liang Rui was the Chief Executive Officer, of which the roles
are separated and not performed by the same individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors provide a wide range
of expertise and experience as well as checks and balances
to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders.
Their participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing one-third of the Board. More than one of the
independent non-executive directors have the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board confirms that the Company
has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence and
considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company were established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
comprises three independent non-executive directors, including
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Wong See King and
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review of the Group’s financial statements. The
Audit Committee is also provided with other resources to
enable it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance
records of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in
the table below:
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Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HESRRE

Directors BE= HMERERY
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BRAE Sk () 2/2
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher REE L 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the external auditors of the
Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed auditing, internal controls and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Ernst & Young in respect of the services
rendered was as follows:

% Yok 2
BRI AT FRGZ RIE2BEmT -

2023 2022 2021

—E-= —E—-— —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000

FET FETT FETT

Audit fee ZH RS 2,850 2,850 3,040
Non-audit service fees* IERZE RS 80 80 240
Total st 2,930 2,930 3,280

*

Non-audit services include taxation compliance and other
professional services provided

The Audit Committee had concluded that it was satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Wong See King (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012 and 13 January 2023 respectively and the
contents of which are in compliance with the code provisions of
the CG Code.

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings. The attendance records of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:
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Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HESRRE

Directors BE= BEBIRE
Mr. Wong See King (Chairman) BEEBRAEE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BEAE kL 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher SR EE I S A 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Remuneration Committee also formulated and evaluated the
remuneration policy and structure for the directors and senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the

remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

EW @Hi/\aﬁdmﬂﬁi%Z M 155 48

1**hﬁ%$/*hﬁd@ FMEZEET
r*ﬁlJuT&pHEK Ti%&%?&EEAEZ#
W BSR4

EEREREHEANEMN S

BIR (CEEATR 2 TR EB.150E
WY BE-T-—F-A=t-ALEE
RHEMERE D SRERALNHHS B
T

Number of

individuals

AE

Up to HK$1,000,000 % 121,000,000 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7 £2,000,000/8 7T 4
HK$2,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 2,000,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 2

Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of directors
and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

HtBEREEME ROUFMES 2 1E S B
EMRELHRAME T NBETHREZE—
FHIEDRIETINERE B RKRM 8 RIA -
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March 2012
and comprises one executive director and three independent
non-executive directors, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman),
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Wong See King and Mr. Cheung
Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of new written terms of reference, which describes
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the nomination of directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
The attendance records of the members of the Nomination
Committee are set out in the table below:

RhZEE

REZEBEN T —F=A=+ AKX
H—BRTEE R =B IFNTEFARN -
BRESNKEE(ZTE) BRELLE R
BT EROREE L -

—heHzRAZEEEERERECN =
E-—_F-A-+BEEZSXRMN HEA
REZBEZERMBE ETABARHE

(BEEARTA) 2TABRXERRERERES
AR -

REZECAANEFRBERESR UERE
AEREBEXNIELERNEE NE AR
TEEZERERE RESFSFEHERM PR
2PRET RBRLEE2ETNELEBRKE
AHBERE K RER EXRHEER-

FRN REZEEAF—XEH RLZES

Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HEEBERE

Directors BE= BEBIRE
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BB RE 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HEREBEE 1/1
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher oR EE & 5 A 1/1
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Francis
Ping Kuen, who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the University of Sydney in Australia and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand. Mr. Chan has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is overall responsible for maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and its shareholders’ investments. The Board
oversees the operations of all the businesses units within the
Group and continuously reviews and makes improvements in
its risk management and internal control framework. Suitable
candidates are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility. The Board conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls
as well as the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board conducted semi-annual reviews on the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group covering
all material controls including financial, operational controls
and risk management pursuant to the Codes and considered
that all the material internal controls and risk management in
the Group were adequate and effective during the year. The
Board will keep reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems on a regular
basis to ensure that the systems in place are adequate.
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communications:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i)  updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors;

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company; and

(v) the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written requests to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at the annual
general meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders
of the Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall on the written requisition of shareholders of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the SGM,
forthwith proceed duly to convene the SGM (“Requisition”). The
Requisition, which may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists, must state the
objects of the SGM and be deposited at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)
(Continued)

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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PROPERTY

Turnover of property segment for the year ended 31 March
2023 was HK$109,021,000 (2022: HK$105,026,000), an
increase of 4% from last year. The Group’s rental income from
investment properties for the year was HK$96,045,000 (2022:
HK$94,298,000), an increase of 2% from last year. There was
no major change in the investment property portfolio of the
Group for the year. The increase in rental income was as a
result of the gradual resumption of tenancy business to normal
as the restrictions of COVID-19 were uplifted. Segment loss
for the year was HK$96,642,000 as compared to a profit of
HK$56,990,000 from last year. The segment loss was mainly
attributable to: (i) the increase in net loss on investment
property valuation of approximately HK$60,138,000 from last
year due to devaluation of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars
during the year; and (ii) the share of the associate’s property
revaluation gain of approximately HK$87,761,000 last year
due to the re-planning of the building layout of the Home Town
project, resulting in an increase in the leasable floor area.

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project is
in full operation, comprising the east tower of home furniture
and building materials centre with a total floor area of 109,000
sg.m. and the west and north towers of community and
shopping mall with a total area of 164,000 sg.m. With the
subcontracting out of the business operation and property
management of Dongguan Home Town project to Kaisa Group,
new tenancy contracts were signed and new brand name
shops were introduced to the shopping centre, which has
increased the occupancy and value of the project.
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Shenzhen Carrianna Friendship Square Shenzhen Imperial Palace
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Dongguan Home Town Project Home Town Centre
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Red Star Macalline International Home Furniture Mall Home Town Furniture and Building Materials Mall
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The Guangzhou South Station Property, a high grade
commercial tower comprising the ground floor lobby, all office
units from 3rd to 13th floors and 75 car parking spaces at the
basement level with a total gross floor area of the office units
is 9,203 sg.m., continued to contribute to the Group in rental
income for the year. The office building has achieved 100%
occupancy to date.

The Group’s 50% owned Haitan Street re-development project,
which is situated at 223-225A Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po,
Hong Kong has entered its construction stage of development.
The project comprises a site area of 4,729 sq.ft., buildable
gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft., and saleable floor area of
approximately 34,400 sqg.ft. The residential building comprises
115 residential units and 2 floors of commercial shops. The
pre-sale of the residential units has commenced in July
2022 and more than 40 units have been sold. The project is
expected to complete by end of 2023.

The Group’s another 50% owned Castle Peak Road
redevelopment project, which is situated at 300-306 Castle
Peak Road, Sham Shui Po, Hong Kong has also commenced
its construction stage of development. The project comprises
a site area of 4,709 sq.ft., buildable gross floor area of 42,400
sq.ft., and saleable floor area of approximately 34,300 sq.ft.
The associate has successfully acquired 100% of the property
ownerships of the Phase 1 development. Site investigation and
demolition works have commenced in the second quarter of
2023. The project is expected to complete by mid-2026.
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Carrianna Business Centre located at
Guangzhou South high speed train station
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Haitan Street re-development project site at Castle Peak Road re-development project site at
Sham Shui Po — The Vim Sham Shui Po
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RESTAURANT, FOOD AND HOTEL

Turnover of restaurant, food and hotel segment for the
year ended 31 March 2023 was HK$574,461,000 (2022:
HK$676,144,000), a decrease of 15% from last year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the disruptions to the
restaurant and food businesses due to the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong and the Mainland, in
particular the lockdown of Hainan in the last 2 weeks before
the Mid-Autumn Festival, which affected significantly on the
mooncake sales this year. Segment profit for the year was
HK$8,970,000 (2022: HK$51,070,000), a decrease of 82%
from last year. The decrease was mainly due to reduction of
mooncake sales for the year.

Restaurant turnover for the year was HK$270,267,000
(2022: HK$285,592,000), a decrease of 5% from last year.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in the
turnover of Delicious group restaurants due to close of some
loss making shops during the year. Restaurant business has
recorded a slight operating loss of HK$559,000 as compared
to that of HK$19,389,000 last year. While the restaurant
business was affected by a slower than anticipated pace of
economic recovery in Hong Kong, and a nation-wide COVID-19
outbreak during the third quarter which seriously impacted the
restaurant business in Mainland China, restaurant business
saw a sharp rebounce at the beginning of 2023 following the
relaxation of pandemic-related controls, resulting in a small loss
this year. The business remained healthy overall and started to
pick up again with good turnover and profit.
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sta restau at Sha Kok Estate, Shatin
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Spicy pickled pepper grilled fish Skewer platter
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Food business turnover for the year was HK$283,257,000
(2022: HK$368,361,000), a decrease of 23% from last year.
The decrease in food business turnover mainly came from the
decrease in mooncake sales this year due to the outbreak of
Covid-19 and lockdown of Hainan in the last 2 weeks before
the Mid-Autumn. The advanced Hainan food factory has a site
area of 29,968 sq.m. and a total floor area of 58,114 sqg.m.
The advanced automatic mooncake production line is in full
operation and will significantly increase the production capacity
of mooncakes. The bread production line is also in operation.
Besides, the factory is expected to produce packaged Hainan
style food and Chinese-style dry meat products. Management
believes that the food business will continue to contribute to the
Group’s profitability and growth.
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Well known Carrianna mooncake products
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Lava Quartet Mooncake
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The Group’s bakery business in Hong Kong recorded an
increase of 8% in sales to HK$129,776,000 from last year.
The Group’s subsidiary, Profit Smart group, has recorded
a profit of HK$8,441,000 (2022: HK$6,102,000) during the
year, an increase of 38% from last year. The increase was due
to the improvement in operating results of factory and retail
businesses as well as government subsidies received during
the year. Management will continue to strengthen product
development and introduce more new products with the aim to
boost sales. Profit Smart group has undergone a renovation of
the production areas and acquisition of additional equipment to
increase its production capacity.
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V28 Bakery at Hin Keng Estate, Shatin
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Snowman My purple world
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Fruit & Moustache Various Mooncake
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Hotel business has recorded a turnover of HK$20,937,000
(2022: HK$22,191,000), a decrease of 6% from last year.
The operating loss of the two hotels for the year was
HK$18,929,000 (2022: HK$24,234,000), decreased by 22%
from last year. The operating results have been affected by
the occasional outbreak of COVID-19 and the government
restriction on the opening for business during the year. Both
hotels have achieved positive operating cash flows during
the year. The room rent and occupancy have increased as
government restrictions of COVID-19 were lifted.
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Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel
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Foshan Carrianna Hotel
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OUTLOOK

With the lifting of COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and the
reopening of borders, the pace of recovery in the Hong Kong
and Mainland markets is expected to be gradual. While there
are still economic uncertainties— inflation, rise of interest rate
and Ukraine-Russia War situation, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic about the economic outlook for the coming year.

Management will continue to focus its business development
in the Greater Bay Area. Management is of the view that
consumer spending will remain strong in the area. The Group
will leverage on the established branding and reputation of
the “Carrianna” Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
and will continue to expand its restaurant business in a
steady pace in the region. A new “Carrianna” Chao Zhou and
“Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurant was opened at the self-
owned property in Kunming and 3 new “Shun Yi” Shunde
cuisine restaurants were opened in Shenzhen during the year,
taking the advantage of the lower rental negotiated during the
COVID-19 period.

On the property development side, while the investment
property portfolio in the Mainland continues to provide steady
income flow to the Group, Management believes that the
limited land supply and strong end-user demand will continue
to provide support to the residential property market in Hong
Kong. Also, the new Guangzhou South Station Property and
the two Shum Shui Po property re-development projects will
provide additional income return to the Group in the short and
medium term. The Group remains positive and cautious about
the property business.
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Carrianna Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant at \WWanchai,
Hong Kong
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Newly opened “Shunyi” Shunde cuisine restaurant at

Wanda Plaza, Guangming, Shenzhen
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Carrianna Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant at Kunming City, Yunnan

Province
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Newly opened “Shunyi” Shunde cuisine restaurant at
the Mixc, Sungang, Shenzhen
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Building on the solid foundation of the Group’s food business
and capacity of the production facilities, the Group will continue
to expand its food business in the Mainland market. Besides
the Carrianna mooncake, the bread production line of the
advanced Hainan food factory is also in operation. The factory
is also expected to produce packaged Hainan style food and
Chinese style dry meat products. The Group will introduce
more new products and elements in the sector. Management
believes that food business will become the Group’s another
key driver of profitability and growth in the next few years.

The Group will continue to implement effective cost control
measures and adjust its business strategies in response to
market changes to increase its competitiveness and to sustain
business growth in our operating markets in Hong Kong and
Mainland China.
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OVERALL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s turnover was
HK$683,482,000 (2022: HK$781,170,000), decreased by
13% as compared to last year. The Group’s loss attributable
to shareholders was HK$175,680,000 as compared to a
profit attributable to shareholders of HK$3,822,000 from last
year. The decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the restaurant and food business turnover during
the year. The operating loss attributable to shareholders was
mainly due to (i) the disruptions to the restaurant and food
business due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, in
particular, the city lockdown of Hainan in the last two weeks
before the Mid-Autumn Festival, which affected significantly
on the mooncake sales this year; (i) the impact of exchange
loss on investment property valuation due to devaluation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars during the year; and (iii)
increase in the finance costs due to the increase in interest
rates in bank borrowings.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s consolidated net assets after
deduction of non-controlling interests was HK$3,585,202,000
(81 March 2022: HK$4,078,405,000) and consolidated net
assets after deduction of non-controlling interests per share
was HK$2.28 (31 March 2022: HK$2.60).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$287,707,000 (2022: HK$279,616,000),
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars of HK$61,446,000, HK$223,205,000
and HK$3,056,000, respectively. The Group’s free cash
and bank balances amounted to HK$287,707,000 (2022:
HK$279,616,000).

44

BEXH

BE_T-_=F=-A=1t—HIL5E &X&£E
% % %8 5683,482,0008 L (Z T - =
781,170,000 70) * RAF A 13% o NEE
H % 51 B 165 85 18 5175,680,00058 7T+ #B ¥ &
O {% 3R FE 1 5% 713,822,000/ 7T © & R
TEHRTFRERREREREERRDM
B-REEBELEEFSBREIZEHAN: (BEFT
MABBERERMRMEBTREE LE
ERPUBITMELR EREHREAFEAR
I EMKBEETE: WARBLBTLER
REHKREMEGRETRELSENTE:
R (iR IRITEEFIE A BB K A5
hn ATk e

B e R MR R

RZTZ=F=A=+—H  AEENMKRIE
TR = R AR A & EFHE A3,585,202,000%8
T (ZFEZZF=H=+—H :4,078,405,000
BT BIRIRIEEREREGEEEFE
A28 (ZE-_-F=A=+—H:2.60
BIT) °

RZZE_=F=ZA=+—H r5EMNHEE K
$R1T 4582 5287,707,0008 T (Z T = — 4
279,616,000 7T ) + H #161,446,0007% 7T *
223,205,000 7t %.3,056,0007% 7T 7 Bl JA &
T ARERETHE-AEENEHRER
$R1T 4582 52287,707,0008 T (Z T = — 4
279,616,000 7T ) °



As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings
and convertible bonds amounted to HK$1,699,047,000
(2022: HK$1,629,186,000) and HK$57,988,000 (2022:
HK$58,171,000) respectively. All interest-bearing bank
borrowings bear interest at floating rates. The convertible
bonds bear interest at 3% per annum. Netting off cash
deposits pledged for borrowings, the Group’s net borrowings
were HK$1,723,467,000 (2022: HK$1,643,884,000).
Net borrowings less free cash and bank balances were
HK$1,435,760,000 (2022: HK$1,364,268,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings and convertible bonds, net
of cash and bank balances, and pledged time deposits as
a percentage of the Group’s total equity, was approximately
40.0% (2022: 33.5%).

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy in cash and
financial management. The objective of the Group’s treasury
policy is to maintain a sound financial position by holding an
appropriate level of cash to meet its operating requirements
and long-term business development needs.

The Group generally funds the operations from internal
resources, investment income and bank borrowings. The
liquidity needs mainly comprise general working capital,
capital expenditure and investment, and repayment of bank
borrowings and interest.

During the year under review, management closely monitored
the cash position of the Group from time to time to ensure
that it was adequate to finance the financial and operational
requirements. With the increase in the level of cash balance,
management will utilize it for appropriate investments in
accordance with the Group’s strategies and directions from the
Board.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had no
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties
(2022: HK$143,000).
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, time
deposits and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
with a total carrying value of approximately HK$2,030,345,000
(2022: HK$2,604,743,000) were pledged to secure general
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the Group.
In addition, rental income generated in respect of certain
investment properties of the Group was assigned to banks to
secure loan facilities granted to the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
Most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
as at 31 March 2023 and for the year then ended principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Majority of
the sales, purchases and expenditure incurred by the operating
units of the Group during the year were denominated in the
units” functional currencies and as a result, the Group does
not anticipate significant transactional currency exposures. The
Group has not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to
foreign currency risk.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 500 employees
in Hong Kong and approximately 1,100 employees outside
Hong Kong (Mainland China). Employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Business and Financial Review set out on pages 28 to 46 of
this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 76 to 246.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

Annual General Meeting

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 23 August 2023 to Monday, 28 August 2023, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 22 August
2023.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION B % & kI fif =

The table set out below summarises the results, assets, TFXREIANEBBEREHBFEE 22 DM
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last 348 B & - BE R IEHERER  HiEtrE AN
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited £ 7 & TWAZ M IEME o 178 B I T ALK
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the EXFIEHRE Z D °

audited financial statements.

Year ended 31 March/At 31 March
HZ2=A=t+-HLEE /R=A=1+-H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-=E —ZE-C —E-—F —E-F —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT FEL FAT TET
RESULTS E
REVENUE A 683,482 781,170 796,026 1,031,070 970,210
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR £ R%F/ (F#E) (169,733) 25,111 110,537 14,861 300,720
Attributable to: JE :
Owners of the parent SARIEAA (175,680) 3,822 81,004 14,123 277,958
Non-controlling interests RS 5,947 21,289 29,533 738 22,762
(169,733) 25,111 110,537 14,861 300,720
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE BER
NON-CONTROLLING FERES
INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,489,071 7,081,620 6,771,712 6,393,211 6,261,702
TOTAL LIABILITIES “aeE (2,903,869)  (3,003,215)  (2,940,504)  (2,830,207)  (2,431,636)
NON-CONTROLLING FERES
INTERESTS 6,762 8,268 5,738 36,355 39,744

3,591,964 4,086,673 3,836,946 3,699,359 3,869,810
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company'’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 32 and 33 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2023, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision
of The Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (2022: approximately
HK$28,675,000). In addition, the amount of approximately
HK$1,505,959,000 previously included in the Company’s share
premium account may be distributed in the form of fully-paid
bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling approximately HK$1,595,000 (2022: HK$841,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders, which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group
has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
that a better future depends on everyone’s participation
and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report
conducted by a professional third party will be published in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)

Ma Kai Yum (Chairrman)

Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman)

Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer)

Chan Francis Ping Kuen

Ma Hung Man (gppointed on 8 September 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Wong See King

Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher
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In accordance with Bye-law 102(B) of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Ma Hung Man, who was appointed as an executive director
with effect from 8 September 2022, will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Liang Rui and Mr. Wong See King will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Wong See King has served on the Board for more than
nine years. He does not have any executive or management
role in the Company and its subsidiaries. Mr. Wong has made
considerable contributions to the Company with his relevant
experience and knowledge throughout his years of service
and has maintained an independent view in relation to the
Company'’s affairs. He has diversified financial experience and
brings a wide range of experience and insights to the Company.
He has been assessed by the Nomination Committee of
the Company to be independent. He does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling Shareholders of the Company. Taking into
consideration of Mr. Wong’s independence and integrity when
performing his duties as Independent Non-Executive Director
over the past years, there is no evidence that the length of
tenure will have any adverse impact on his role. Therefore, the
Board considers Mr. Wong is independent and recommends
him to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors, and as at the date of this report still considers them
to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 9 to 14 of
the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Liang Rui and Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen had entered into
a service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Kai Yum, Mr. Ma Hung Ming,
John and Mr. Ma Hung Man had no service contract with the
Company as at the end of the reporting period.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
been appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2023 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) The Company
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Underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares Percentage of
and nature of interests pursuant to the Company’s
Capacity/ Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director nature of interests interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBREZ
BELBRRASEREGNE RERAE A HAAFAE BT
BEpR 5/ ERE AR EQY 4 Hipig s (F3E1) At BRABGRE
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, security 361,283,986 7,050,000 259,129,025 - 627,463,011 (1) 39.93
BNE interest in shares, interest (note 7) (note 2) (note 3)
of spouse and beneficiary (H7) (Hi2) GE)
of trust
EREAA BRRDER
RBEERETREA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, security 204,688,714 3,200,000 101,201,040 - 309,089,754 (1) 19.67
BN interest in shares, interest (note 7) (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
of spouse and beneficiary (Kt7) (Fitsk4) (B zE576)
of trust
ERBEA BRROES
RBEEREFEREA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner 476,000 = = 2,000,000 2,476,000 (L) 0.16
o E ERBAA
Chan Francis Ping Kuen  Beneficial owner - - - 6,000,000 6,000,000 (L) 0.38

Fime EREHAA

L - Long position &
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S =
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN i
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

(a) The Company (Continued) (a)

Notes:

(1)  The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the directors and senior executive under the
2015 Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 33 to
the financial statements.

(2)  The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

(8) Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the beneficiaries of
a discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

(4)  The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

(6)  Ma Kai Yum and his family are the beneficiaries of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

(6)  Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”’). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

(7)  Included in “Personal interests” are 125,428,754 shares
owned by Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited, of
which 62,714,377 shares were charged in favour of Ma
Kai Cheung, and 62,714,377 shares were charged in
favour of Ma Kai Yum.
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EROQMEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

(e EXI PN -V P&
Bkt 2 B & R R B (s

(b) W& 2=

Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share

Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary Name of director  Capacity shares held (L) shares shares)
EHEAR
ERTRABDN
WEARARE EEpE 54 FiERO#E L) R4 E 5 (BER)
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 0.68
Limited
EUVLERBRATA BNE BREBA LRk
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 66 Ordinary 3
Limited
EUVLERBRAA BN EAEREMA LRk
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
FRERABRAA BNE BREBA BREEE il
Tkt
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
RRERABR AT BN ERBEBA BEREREE ek
T/t
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred
BNE EREBA BREREE BNk
TR 1A
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
BN BREBA BREREE it
Tkt
EBEEBRABBEAR  MakKai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BENE BREBA TEA @R

L - Long position #F &
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Report of the Directors
EROGWMEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as detailed in note 40 to the financial statements, no
director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries of fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

2015 OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on
24 August 2015, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with a validity period of 10
years.

The principal terms of the 2015 Option Scheme are as follows:

Purpose of the option scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Option Scheme is to
grant options to eligible participants, recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group and
will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
track and retain or maintain relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group, and additionally in
the case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and to reward
them for their past contributions.

Participants of the option scheme

The eligible participants are eligible to participate in the
2015 Option Scheme. In determining the basis of eligibility
of each eligible participant, the Board would take into
account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Board shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether a person shall qualify as
an eligible participant.

Total number of shares available for issue and
percentage to the issued share capital as at 31
March 2023

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2015 Option Scheme was 125,388,753 shares
representing 7.98% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2023.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

4.

.O“l

o8

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted
under the 2015 Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any
twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed one per cent.
(1%) of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being (“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any twelve (12)-month
period up to and including the date of such further
grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the
shareholders and the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such eligible participant and
his associates abstaining from voting. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of the options to be
granted to such eligible participant must be fixed before
the shareholders’ approval and the date of board meeting
for proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, save that no share option may be exercised
more than 10 years after grant.

Payment on acceptance of an option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate notice of grant constituting acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents. Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable and shall not be
deemed a part payment of the exercise price of an option.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

Payment on acceptance of an option (Continued)

Any offer to grant an option may be accepted in respect
of a lesser number of shares for which it is offered
provided that it must be accepted in respect of a board
lot or an integral multiple thereof and such number is
clearly stated in the duplicate notice of grant constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by the acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents, it shall be deemed
to have been irrevocably declined.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of:

(@) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
options (“Offer Date”);

(b) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

The remaining life of the option scheme

The 2015 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 24 August 2015
(being the date of fulfiment of all conditions on the
adoption of the 2015 Option Scheme).

As at 31 March 2023, the Company had 11,000,000 share

options outstanding pursuant to the 2015 Option Scheme.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION A BB B RE 5t 308 B R (e
SCHEME (Continued)
The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s T XRIBEBFARNRAGRIE T — A FHERE

share options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme  FF&|18 T & AR1TE 2 B EE
during the year:

Number of share options
BRE#E
Closing
price
Exercise at grant
Granted  Exercised Forfeited Date of Exercise price of date of
At 1 April during during  during the At 31 March grant of period of share share
2022  the period the period period 2023  share options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
HK$ per share  HK$ per share
S s RERE
ZBCCE iR —B-=Z% Bt fix:3 fix:3 BB
MA-B REARE RERTE %% =ZB=t-B EBRERS BRENE BREEK 2 {E
(BzH1) (Hit3E2)
BiRET BRET
Executive Directors
HiTES
Ma Hung Ming, John 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
S 19-2-2025
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
Chan Francis Ping Kuen 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2020 to 0.714 0.70
R 2-6-2025
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2021 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2026
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2022 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2027
8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000
Other continuous contract 1,600,000 - - (100,000 1,500,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
employees 19-2-2025
HitBRANES 1,600,000 S - (100,000) 1500000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0714 0.70
19-2-2026
3,200,000 - - (200,000 3,000,000
In aggregate

st 11,200,000 = = (200,000) 11,000,000




INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

Save as disclosed above during the period under review,
no options under the 2015 Option Scheme were exercised,
cancelled or lapsed.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company had 11,000,000 share
options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme. Should
they be fully exercised, the Company will receive approximately
HK$7,854,000 (before issue expenses). The grant date fair
value of these unexercised options measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies (note 2.4 to the financial
statements) amounted to approximately HK$1,249,000.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the directors, the following persons or corporations
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which was required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO:
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Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued

substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital

®E EARRATE

TERFER 51/ BaitE P & AREBERYA ERTRATHL

Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, a 627,463,011 (L) 39.93
BNE security interest

in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
ExAA BHAR
i BB ER
REERHEA
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EHEAWMES
Number of Percentage of the
Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued
substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital
BB EARRAT
TERFER 2V +:1:3-1 B &E AREBRYE ERTRATHL
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, b 309,089,754 (L) 19.67
SN security interest
in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
EREAA EFR
D% WIBHEE
REEEXEHEA
East Asia International Trustees Trustee © 360,330,065 (L) 22.93
Limited EEPN
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled d 259,129,025 (L) 16.49
corporations
SR YNEL £
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation d 184,121,625 (L) 11.72
BEEERAA
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled e 101,201,040 (L) 6.44
corporations
XENAER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation d 75,007,400 (L) 4.77
HEERAT
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation e 74,651,040 (L) 4.75
BEEERAT
Rainbow Choice Holding Group Beneficial owner f 125,428,754 (L/S) 7.98
Limited ExBEBA
FEREREBBR AR
Chen Chu Zhen Interest in controlled f 125,428,754 (L/S) 7.98
[Egag=] corporation
XENAER

L - Long position ¥ &
S — Short position X &



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes:

a.

The 627,463,011 shares comprised:
298,569,609 shares owned by Ma Kai Cheung;

i interest in 7,050,000 shares owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the
spouse of Ma Kai Cheung;

iii interest in 259,129,025 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (d)
below); and

iv interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Cheung (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

The 309,089,754 shares comprised:
141,974,337 shares owned by Ma Kai Yum;

ii. interest in 3,200,000 shares owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the
spouse of Ma Kai Yum;

. interest in 101,201,040 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his family are
the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (g)
below); and

V. interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Yum (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

East Asia International Trustees Limited (‘EAIT”) is the trustee
of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his
family are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company. As
at the end of the reporting period, EAIT was effectively interested
in a total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.

+
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East Asia International Trustees Limited
(TEAT ) ABSNERERKIEAZEA
MK —BEEEIENETLA LA
B H 2 E[f{ B A A]Golden Yield Holdings
Limited ([Golden Yield |) T # A X2
A]259,129,0258% f% 17 1tk #h + EAITIR [F BF
BENREERKEAS m AMKILE
—EHEEEANETA LERAEZEKR
B A FlWealthy Platform Limited ( [Wealthy
Platform | ) i & # # 5 42 5]101,201,0400%
B fn - RIEEIR EATERZBEEAA T AR
360,330,0650% f% 15 °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

d.

Golden Yield by owning the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World
and Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Wealthy Platform by owning the entire issued share capital of
Grand Wealth and Peaceful World and indirectly owning the
entire issued share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful
World, was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the
Company. The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful
World and Real Potential are the same block of shares as
disclosed in “Other interests” of Ma Kai Yum under the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited (“Rainbow Choice”) is
wholly owned by Chen Chu Zhen. 62,714,377 shares in the
issued share capital of Rainbow Choice were charged in favour
of Ma Kai Cheung and 62,714,377 shares were charged in
favour of Ma Kai Yum.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2023,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF CHAPTER
13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:

EEMEMERERAF | 2023F 1§
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TORTARBEERZHHEREARRR ZHF
Bl REBITRERME:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2023 banking facilities obligations
HK$’000
R-ZB-=F=A=+—H SBITERREEHA BEBITEME
REBRITENRSRE
FHET
105,386 19 May 2027 (Note)
—ETZ+FRATAIAB (BEE)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding a 39.93% shareholding interest
in the Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company
holding a 19.67% shareholding interest in the Company, undertake to
maintain a total of at least 42% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in
this annual report, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report is a connected transaction.

i

ARRZBZBIFEREBRBRRESENMEBELEFAR
RNA)39.93% 2 AR - RARE Z EEHFNRE
ERAART9.67% 2 AL - HAGE R R HE
FREAXKTIRAERRRN42% -

MEXZRFHANERS

EARFERFREAN RIELTIERGIZRER
EARZFERBERBERISIRFEBER
%0

EEEEEH—ARERE REREMR
HBENEE ROELFRABEIN R
BH TR UL F®ira M HRKRME402FEH
BALXRZBERBEERS-
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by public
as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 15 to 27.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Wong See King and Mr. Cheung Wah
Fung, Christopher.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholders’ value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

EY:x

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 76 to 246,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audlitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial staterments section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulffiled the responsibilities described in the Auditors
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Staterments section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREZER
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&% FE (a)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Bz ERNAEEBRERSEE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”)

Il REFYFERIFELEYE (5id [Wx]) 2 A
B FE

The Group had properties under development
and properties held for sale of approximately
HK$321,756,000 and HK$449,774,000, respectively,
as at 31 March 2023.
RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—H' EBEXEBZZET
W RFEER &M E 5 Rl 4 /321,756,000 7T &
449,774,000 7T °

The Properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable values of the Properties of the Group is
highly dependent on management’s judgements and
estimates, including the expected selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, the estimated selling
expenses and the estimated costs to be incurred to
completion.

VIR R R FEME T CRIEEAR -ETE
EREMECAERFESEABEEREZHE X
fheh BRNAEXEKBART 2AFEE AetHE
P MTEEATE TS FEE Z(HETRCAR -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of net realisable values of the Properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRABYEZ ISR FEMET I EZETFE
(AP BE)ATRIE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers;
o  HMEFEMNEGHEMZFEMNL e REEBE

akb
BE

o we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the valuation techniques,
key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuations; and

e HBMEEFHRMZABHEZXRGE R
MERABZEERE FERERBARE &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRELER

B %% EE (a)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMZERNAEEBRELSEE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”) (Continued)
FlaREFYFRIFELEYE (5iH [Wx]) 2 A
B FEE (B)

The Group engaged a firm of independent
professionally qualified valuers (the “external valuers”)
to perform valuations of the Properties based on
prevailing market conditions and information available
at the time of the valuations, and by applying
valuation techniques considered as appropriate, so
as to assist management in assessing whether any
write-down of the Properties to their net realisable
values is required.
EREZE-—RMBVEXSERMEEMAR ([HME
fERD ) ARIBBRITH R KRN A ER AT EERIE R
ERERRBEE 2 HEFEEYEETHE M
MO EREN GRS RAHME LI ERIFEELE
fR] HORL

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balances involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BRI NGRS RRNNARAEZERNGH
B Ko (AT RIAIRFRULER -

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MR ESH N A M HmR M 3520
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we assessed certain key assumptions and
estimates including, among others, (i) the
expected selling prices of the Properties by
comparing the expected selling prices to,
among others, the recent transaction prices for
similar properties or the prices of comparable
properties; (i) the estimated selling expenses
by comparing the historical average selling
expenses to revenue ratio or to other relevant
information; and (i) the estimated costs to be
incurred to completion for PUD by checking the
estimated costs against budgets approved by
management and examined, on a sample basis,
relevant construction contracts and other reliable
evidence available.

BB FEE T E2RE MM B8 (Ad
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREZER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Bz ERNAEEBRERSEE

Assessment of fair values of investment properties

FEREY R 2 FE

The Group had investment properties of
approximately HK$2,329,752,000 as at 31 March
2023.
R-ZBE-_=F=ZA=+—8"
#)52,329,752,000/8 7T °

BEREZRENE

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair
value and are revalued at the end of each reporting
period by a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers (the “external valuers”) engaged
by the management of the Group. The valuation of
investment properties involves significant estimations
and assumptions, including, among others, the
estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for
the income capitalisation approach and the estimated
market price for the direct comparison approach.

EEECZREMERATFEAINEENEREHR
B ESEEREZRE-—MBIEXSEEMAERD
RAI(MHNEHERM]) EFHE-REMERBES R
BRMEFREBR 2R (AR EE) BKABREZ
HEHEBERENMCEURBEELBE 2 EEtT

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.
BRSNS SRR NARFAEZERNGH
B Ko (T RAIRFRULEIR -

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MEARESHNGE B RRMEIR14 -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of fair values of investment properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRTEREMEC A FEMETZIERIEFE
(AP BE)ATRIE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers; and

o  EMEFEINEGHEM T g8 KB TR
iRk

o with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, we evaluated the valuation
techniques used and assessed the underlying
key inputs and assumptions through, among
others, enquiry with management and the
external valuers and with reference to relevant
historical, underlying and market information.

e HMEBFBRFMzARGEEZERBHEMER
MERERMNEGEMELESARBRERTHERE
£ EBEAREKTSER M ERERABZMETER
AR = 28 A BUR KRR -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Yat Kin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

28 June 2023
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F=-=F=HA=+—HI FE

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET FET
REVENUE WA 5 683,482 781,170
Cost of sales $HE AR (384,589) (407,152)
Gross profit EF 298,893 374,018
Other income and gains, net HAb YA R as - 388 5 67,658 54,559
Selling and distribution expenses HERD AL (136,163) (140,231)
General and administrative expenses — #& & 171 5 52 (150,826) (135,146)
Other expenses, net Himk 58 (132,658) (87,420)
Finance costs B 75 K AN 7 (84,283) (53,199)
Share of profit/(losses) of associates & {5 B & A 7]
swmAl (EE) (48,066) 35,991
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBIATER S (E58) 6 (185,445) 48,572
Income tax credit/(expense) FrERiE%e,/ (FX) 10 15,712 (23,461)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FREERF| (Fi8) (169,733) 25,111
Attributable to: Jﬁ%fﬁ :
Owners of the parent ISINEIE PN (175,680) 3,822
Non-controlling interests #ﬁ? R B 5,947 21,289
(169,733) 25,111
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BRAIEEREREA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EiEEREF, (&A)
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
- Basic —HR HK cents (11.18)8{l | HK cents 0.257 1l
- Diluted — 8 HK cents (11.18)84l |  HK cents 025751l
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z_-F—=

=HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR EERF, (FE) (169,733) 25,111
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ H2mEmB A (FE)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that BRERBRANENSES
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BamzEfth2mH
subsequent periods: WA (E518) -
Exchange differences: N ER:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBCERER
foreign operations (195,887) 86,075
Share of other comprehensive income/ SMEEE AT 2 AR E
(loss) of associates WA (EE) (79,528) 133,908
(275,415) 219,983
Other comprehensive loss that will not be R EEZHBR AT ZEFHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 18z 2 Efth & E 518 -
periods:
Changes in fair value of equity investments 8 7F &% A FEY IR MR E A
designated at fair value through other PHRAFRE Z ERRE
comprehensive income AT EED (24,118) (27,105)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AEEHMEERBA S (EHE)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (299,533) 192,878
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  AEEZ2HEWKA  (FEE)RE
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (469,266) 217,989
Attributable to: e -
Owners of the parent [SY/NEIEZ TN (474,133) 196,366
Non-controlling interests IR AE RS 4,867 21,623
(469,266) 217,989
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31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=H —E-—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt & FERT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB Mk 13 858,120 899,700
Investment properties wWEME 14 2,329,752 2,522,690
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 15(a) 137,587 120,777
Goodwill EES 16 52,581 64,470
Interests in associates FABS & N R) 2 B A 17 976,948 1,083,728
Equity investment designated EEREATEYER
at fair value through other REMEERAREEZ
comprehensive income R E 18 95,868 119,492
Properties under development BRERPYE 20 321,756 337,320
Deferred tax assets BIEHIEEE 30 20,964 18,999
Other receivables, deposits and HEb KRR He RFER
prepayments FRIA 23 34,066 46,405
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 4,827,642 5,213,581
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties held for sale RIELEMSE 20 449,774 487,200
Inventories FE 21 30,082 39,107
Tax recoverable A Ug [ 74 18 4,120 78
Trade receivables W E 2 BR K 22 30,913 29,442
Other receivables, deposits and HEb BRI e RFER
prepayments FKIA 23 381,529 472,201
Due from directors JE W % = FRIE 24 2,765 5,109
Due from non-controlling JiE U JE 452 A% A% SR 3R I8
shareholders 41 - 15,253
Due from an associate JE W — R B & 2 &) 3R IB 17 283,038 300,974
Financial assets at fair value through 22 (B8R R 1B 25
profit or loss RIEBZESREE 19 124,238 159,941
Equity investment designated EEERATEYERER
at fair value through other REAMEEKRAFRREZ
comprehensive income RmIEE 18 33,663 35,553
Restricted cash PR #3852 25 32 92
Pledged time deposits EEAEEBTFR 25 33,568 43,473
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITEEER 25 287,707 279,616
Total current assets MBEERE 1,661,429 1,868,039
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31 March 2023 —FE=Z=#=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt & FERT FHET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables JEE ZBER 26 (56,819) (44,597)
Other payables, accruals and Hi MR EBErBRA K
deposits received Bz 27 (227,484) (367,618)
Provisions B 28 - (670)
Convertible bonds A]mRES 29 (57,988) =
Due to directors B EEHIA 41 (3,067) (4,349)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & 1< 3F 2 A% % 3R 51 18 41 (37,956) (39,756)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE 29 (1,189,482) (943,028)
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) (36,366) (40,754)
Deferred income EERA 31 (31,213) (34,491)
Tax payable FERT IR (306,710) (325,397)
Total current liabilities MEBREERE (1,947,085) (1,800,660)
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ REBEERE(AEF)
(LIABILITIES) (285,656) 67,379
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,541,986 5,280,960
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Accruals and deposits received EETERAREWIZS 27 (6,779) (7,073)
Convertible bonds AR ES 29 - (58,171)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EZIRITIEE 29 (509,565) (686,158)
Lease liabilities HESE 15(b) (81,782) (56,767)
Deferred income EREW A 31 (82,678) (92,247)
Deferred tax liabilities BT IEBE 30 (271,293) (297,255)
Provisions B 28 (4,687) (4,884)
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELRE (956,784) (1,202,555)
Net assets BEFE 3,585,202 4,078,405
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31 March 2023 —ZFE_-_=Z#F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—g=-= T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M aE FERT FET
EQUITY [ &N
Equity attributable to owners of BRI EG#Em
the parent
Issued capital BEITIRA 32 157,136 157,136
Reserves & 34 3,434,828 3,929,537
3,591,964 4,086,673

Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (6,762) (8,268)
Total equity A 3,585,202 4,078,405

Ma Kai Yum
BN

Director

EF

Chan Francis Ping Kuen

R 1 #E
Director

EF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A HE Bk

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z - % —

ZFEZAZT—HUFE

Atrbutable to owners of the parent
SRAEEAES
Leasehold
Futy  lndend
Share  component of buiding Share Exchange Capial Capital Non-
Issued  premium  converble  revaluation option Goodwil  fuctuation  redemption Reseve  Farvalie  andotier  Refained controling Total
captal account bonds Tesene Tesenve Tesenve Tesenve esenve funds Tesenve Tesenves profts Total interests equity
EELH
EEf B TERES kg BRE EX 23 ATE E5R FiEK
& BER  BEEH  ERER fE  HREE  MBHE  WERR (153 BE  AbBE  REEA 3t [ 3.
Notes HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000
Bt TR TR TEL TR TR TER T TEL TR TR TR TR TEL TR TR
A1 Aprl 2021 HIZZ-F
mA-A 138280 1440624 > 83218 5398 86,230) (11,10) 316 581 (74,625) (62914) 2403343 3836946 (6738 3831,208
Proft forthe year RERRT = = = = = = = = = = = 362 382 21,289 25,111
Otver comprefensiveincome/ ~ REEEH2E
(loss)fo the year: WA/ (B8):
Changes in far value of BAFEIIER
quiy nvestments & REBZE
fair value though other RAREEL
comprehensive income EaRELTE
2y - - - - - - - - - (27,108) - - 27,108) - (27,108)
Exchange diferences on RERNERL
ranslation of foreign Exza
operafions - - - - - - 85,741 - - - - - 85,741 3 86,075
Share of oher comprehensie  AE—HBER T
income of &n associate Ap2EHA = = - - - - 1398 - - - - - 13390 - 1339
Totd comprehensive ncome/fosy) AEF2ERA/
forthe year (FR)EE - - - - - - 219649 - B IA 7] - 382 19636 N6 217989
Dividends paid o non-controling 2 RBE 2
sharchoders k& = = S = S S = S = S S = S s
Equiy-seted share opion WEREE 2 ERE
anangements ¢ ki - - - - 149 - - - - - - - 149 - 149
Issue of shares upon subscrption - ZERAEL{TH
of shares ff 2 18,856 65,335 > = S S = > = S > = 84,191 - 84,191
Transfer of share option resenee ~ REMREX
upon forfeture of share optons - S EHRERE - - - S %) o S S S S S ki S S S
Issue of convertble bonds BITRRES 9 = = 16,162 S S > S > S o > o 16,162 S 16,162
Firal 2021 hidend B-ERERE = = S = S S = S = S AT AT AT
A1 March 2022 i St 3
Zh=t-8 167,186 1,505,969" 16,162 83,278" 5511 (862801 208544" 316" 51t [(101730F (G294 2360060 4086673 (8268) 4078405




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Gomngyx

Year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE_-F_-_=F=H=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BRAREARG
Leasehold
Equity  landand
Share  component of building Share Exchange Capital Capital Non-
Issued ~ premium  convertible  revaluation option  Goodwill fluctuation  redemption Reserve  Fairvalue  andother  Retained controlling Total
capital  account bonds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds reserve  reserves profits Total  interests equity
il 6
B8 R TERRS )it 52 BRE EX g% AVE B4R #2R

BE OERE REEG  ERGR B HEER MBER  REER  GRe B RbREE  REW it B Ru4E
Notes HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000
it TR TER TR TEr TEn TER  TEn  TEn  TER TER TR TR TR TEn AR

At 31 March 2022 and i S 3
1 Aprl 2002 ZRZ1-BR

mA-A 1% 150699 16162 83208 551 620 2085M 316 ST (101730 (62014 260060 4086673 (8269 4078405
Proftoss)for th year HEREH/ (BB - - - - - - - - (175830 (175680) 54T (169739
Other comprehensive loss FEEEMRE

for the year: s
Changes In far value of RAVEIIRR
equityinvestments at REHZE
fairvale through other WARREZ
comprefiensive income EERELTE
29 - - - - - - = > = 24118 = = 24118) = (24118
Exchange diferences on BERNERL
translaton of foreign EizE
operations - - - - - - (194807) - - - - - (194807) (108) (195,887
Stare of other compretiensie  HE—HBELFZ
Joss of an associte Lh2EER - - - - - - (95 - - - - - (195 BN ]
Totel compreensive lss TEE2EEREE
for the year = = > = = = (274,335) > = (24118 = (175,680) (474133 4867 469,266)
Dividends paid o non-controling 22 RHERZ
shareholders ke o & = o = S & = o = S & = (10,735) (10,735)
Equity-settd share opton WEREH,BRE
anangements g ki - - - - 20 - - - - - - - 20 - 20
Transfer of share optionreseve  HEREANE
upon forfsture of share options - SRR EEE = S S = (18 S S S S S = 18 - - -
Aoguiton of non-controling ~~ hE-EHBLATZ
interestin a subsidlary HERER o & = o = S & = o = S (4882) (4882) 7374 249
Find 2022 diicend SEoCERERE 1 - - - - - - - - - - - mmg 5Ty N )
At 31 March 2023 S k3
=f=1-H 157,136 1,506,959 16,162 83,218 5518 186,230 (65,791)" 316* 581" (125848 62914 2163802 3591964 6762 3585202

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ~ * Ut E EE%(\]S,434,8§8,000‘}%TE (Z2==
approximately HK$3,434,828,000 (2022: HK$3,929,537,000) in £ :3,929,537,0008 7T ) B B L 4R & W 1
the consolidated statement of financial position. MARZEREHEZR -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N Ve EL
SAUeRE
Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

2023 2022
—E=-= —ET-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET F&T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & XKMEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATR A, (EHE) (185,445) 48,572
Adjustments for: FHER
Finance costs B 75 K S 7 84,283 53,199
Share of losses/(profit) of FE(REE N REE,
associates CaF) 48,066 (35,991)
Bank interest income RITH B UA 5 (3,528) (3,918)
Investment interest income & F BUA 5 (2,081) (11,303)
Other interest income A B A 5 (33,397) (21,344)
Dividend income from equity BE RERATFESER
investment designated at fair value N R H b 2 FE U A
through other comprehensive RIBZERIREZ
income RS A 5 - (4,169)
Dividend income from financial EATFEIEERREBERFRE
assets at fair value through BremBEEZ
profit or loss fi% B A 5 (3,323) (3,702)
Loss on disposal/write-off of BEFEEME - BE R
items of property, plant and BIHEB ZEE F58
equipment, net 6 3,194 825
Impairment of goodwill EERE 6 11,889 3,233
Fair value loss, net: NEEEE FE:
Financial assets at fair value BAFEYRERIBEF
through profit or loss BREZEMEE 6 7,674 46,414
Depreciation of property, plant and 1% = MR E 2T E
equipment 6 93,187 73,353
Changes in fair value of investment & ¥ A F1{&
properties, net BE) FEE 6 90,003 29,865
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) FEUE S8R5k 2 R ERE
of trade receivables, net ORE) - F%58 6 2,498 (1,225)
Impairment of other receivables, net £t f& Ui B FOR (& - 7F 58 6 18,373 2,151
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  FHAEEEZITE 6 40,014 51,373
Release of deferred income IR AE U A R BR 6 (783) (205)
Equity-settled share option expense AR 45 & 2 B ILAERT X 33 20 149
Gain on lease modification HEBE 2 W= 5 (733) =
Gain on lease termination RIEFAE 2 W 5 (2,115) (109)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z_-_F_=ZF=H=+—HIFFZE
2023 2022
—==-= —E=-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Bt 5 FHExT FET
Increase in properties under BERPMEZ
development 38 0 (7,266) (11,602)
Decrease in properties held for sale 3 {EH & W E Zm 989 2,022
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, () 6,443 (7,322)
Decrease/(increase) in trade ERE ZERTRL,
receivables (3ghn) (2,411) 5,225
Decrease/(increase) in other HiEWERER REk
receivables, deposits and B RER LD,
prepayments (3gh0) 37,464 (172,463)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due  JEUW = E KB R L
from directors (#&n) 2,210 (50)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables &1 E 5 BRZIE N,
CR4) 9,168 (748)
Decrease in other payables, HAn e BR R
accruals and deposits received EEtERRERIZS
7 (157,619) (89,540)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due  FE{ & = FKIEE N,
to directors (BA) (1,780) 4,356
Increase/(decrease) in provisions BEE M ORd) (724) 2,187
COVID-19-related rent concessions 7 A $fCOVID-194H 3
from lessors HEeER (1,000) (2,343)
Cash generated from/(used in) KRBT,/ (FA)Z
operations R 53,270 (43,110)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BN EENEH R (162) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) CEBEBRIE,/ (FTA)Z
operating activities ReEmEFHE 53,108 (43,110)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAVeWER
Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—F_-_=—F=H=+—HIFFE&E

2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERTTH B 3,528 3,918
Other interest received H b B U F B 35,478 32,636
Dividend received from equity B TE AR AT AR X
investment designated at fair value ~ REMEEWARERE >
through other comprehensive ERREZRE
income - 4,169
Dividend received from financial BYIE A FEY R ERER
assets at fair value through profit FREZEHEERSE
or loss 3,323 3,702
Purchases of items of property, plant B A% ME &
and equipment HEIEHE (101,050) (181,514)
Proceeds from disposal of items of Hj%%¥ J??Sl}%&
property, plant and equipment HEIE B TS 3,643 3,794
Purchases of financial assets at fair B A& A (A EE&
value through profit or loss REEFEELZ
SRBE (59,604) (152,895)
Proceeds from disposal of financial ~ H & & A AR &
assets at fair value through profit RBRPEEZ
or loss TREEMBSRKIE 87,633 170,531
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMEFBHIE
an investment property 48,200 -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged 2B E BF R R
time deposits and pledged bank BIREIRITASRZ
balances A, (3G ) 9,905 (33,473)
Decrease in restricted cash PR #I3E 2 2 B 53 18
Redemption of structured deposits ~ B& @ &5 & 14 17 X - 149,649
Investment in an associate & — & R R (2,300) (3,000)
Increase in an amount due from JE Y — R Bée & A A
an associate I Z &N (877) =
Purchase of an equity investment BABEAEAFEYER
designated at fair value through REMEEBAFEE
other comprehensive income BERE - (23,651)
Advances to an associate A — & R 7] 299 (78,796)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBFE,/ (FA)Z
investing activities ReRhEFHE 28,231 (104,912)

85



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2023

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SRV eHER

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F=-=F=HA=+—HI FE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FExT FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RiEEEFIEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN 2 FriS 3R - 84,191
Proceeds from issue of convertible 17 A] # I (E %5 P15 208
bonds - 75,425
New bank loans FIBIRITE R 1,049,844 1,204,361
Repayment of bank loans EBIEITER (976,704) (1,215,748)
Changes in balances with non- IR AR R ERFE R &) - R 5B
controlling shareholders, net 12,903 (2,160)
Principal portion of lease payments 2 &~ ZH) & A &5 (33,727) (48,780)
Dividends paid EfIRE (15,714) (47,141)
Dividends paid to non-controlling EATIEERRR R B
shareholders (10,735) (24,153)
Interest paid EATF & (85,538) (54,271)
Net cash flows used in financing BMEFEMAZ
activities HEemEFHE (59,671) (28,276)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) HERBREEEEH
IN CASH AND CASH #®in GRd) B
EQUIVALENTS 21,668 (176,298)
Cash and cash equivalents FzHekBeE
at beginning of year BH 279,616 448,396
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNERTE RS E R Ro 2
changes, net HER (13,577) 7,518
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS & zB& K
AT END OF YEAR HE&EEEH 287,707 279,616
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES REeERREEE
OF CASH AND CASH BHEHEBRZDN
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and unpledged bank balances R & K A& #1755 17 4 #4 280,746 268,671
Time deposits with original maturity 4 8& % R 21| HA B >
of less than three months when R={A 2 EBRFR
acquired 6,961 10,945
Cash and cash equivalents as stated #AEERERNEIZ
in the consolidated statement of RekREEEIER
cash flows 287,707 279,616
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

NEVE gt

FEEMEEZERAERAR ([RAF])
E—HRBREIMKLZEBRAF -
AN B 5 3 = B 7 Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda -

FR-ARBREMBAR (5 [ KK
BNEBRGANEZER MEKRE
RBERIAMGEBE  BERRRmER -

W 2 =) A B R
ARREEMBARZFHENT

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
TR BRTLE/ ANE R RE
AR AR MR EXE L FisRERR FERBRA Bk FTEEK
2023 2022
—E-=f |ZZE-_-F
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Property investment
DEMEXZBRRA B LER 28T MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USEBJ 100 100 Invgstment holding
EREXHES Limk e REZR
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 91 83  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited
EEH (M) BEERAR A EER 8,000,000 7T it Sd
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 100 100  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
%Eg?ﬂw ARm(EE) BB EER 900,000/ 7 BAER
RAA]
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100 Property investment
and development
EENEEFRAA B LER 25,000,000/ 7T NERBRER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) People’s Republic Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. of China (‘PRC")/ and property
Mainland China investment and
development
E2H ORI KRE EP%QJE?&)@ AMER 80,000,000/ 7T REBRRMERE
BRARN [ ] RER
LIEN S
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1.

88

P CF - —F=H=F+—HIFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (Continued)

5= = A )
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W 8 2> 5] M BB R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL,/ BRITERE/ AREELRE
AR AR MR E XL FsRERSR HEMRA Aok TEEK
2023 2022
ZEC=F | ZE-_-%
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Materials City Limited
EZREARMHAERRA BB EER 1,000,000/ 7T REZR
Delicious Group Dining Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$13,733,601 100 63  Restaurant operations
Services Limited
RELEERARBERLRT FE Eak 13,783,601/ 7T EEgE
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
REBEEERATF HERLHE 1 v REZK
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
BRERERAF" HERLHE 1 v REZK
Goldfield Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
FYEXERAA T8 Eak 28T NERE
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
EEERERAR" EREXHES EER E REZR
Max Honour Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Property investment
Limited
TEREBRAR BE Lk 17T NERE
Profit Smart Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,598,059 76 60  Bakery operations
HERmEBERATE B LRk 5,598,059/8 7T BRELE
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100  Property investment
BE Eak 2007 NERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
ERRIE 1,000,000% 7T
R
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Company Limited !
ENTESREGRARAO  RE/pEAE FHEL 51,000,000% 7T MERE
Wealth Mark Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares Us$10 90 90  Investment holding
HEEEERAA EREXES EER 10%7T REZR
EEF (HL) PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRAA® operations
HE/REAE HMEA AR H14,700,0007 BERBEEE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

1.

(NENES B¢ )

Wt B 2 &) M B & R s

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMmARL BRTLEE/ QA ML R
ARER A& FsRESR R A BAl TBER
2023 2022
ZEC=F | ZE--%
BEEEHRAERAT?  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
HE/REARE HHEA AR#31,000,0007 AREH
nHEBEPEREEEE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital  RMB100,000,000 90 90  Hotel operations
BRARF® RE /R ARE AMER ARE BERE
100,000,0007C
RINERFERERE PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital RMBS5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAF RE /R ARE AMER AR #5,000,00070 BREE
ERERR R MR T PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital 1US$46,000,000 100 100 Property investment
(EER)BRRA R B AR AfEX 46,000,0005 7 and development
MERBRER
Carrianna Food PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$1,000,000 100 100  Food business
(Shenzhen) Ltd.® R A B AfEX 1,000,000/ 7T RmER
FEEFRR (FID
BRAFN
FITEEHER PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAR® RE B ARE AMER A #:6,000,00070 BREE
EEM(EM)BFMELE  PRCMainland China  Registered capital RMB40,000,000 100 100 Property investment
ERARARY HE/REARE it E A AR 40,000,000 MERE
BHEEBERRE PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRAR HE/REAE HHEA AR ¥50,000,0007C il tdy
EHREEFRAEM/AFY  PRCMainiand China  Registered capital 1US$2,000,000 75 75 Food business
hE/REAE HHEX 2,000,000 7% AREH
Sleek Treasure Ventures British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$77,200 60 60  Investment holding
Limited (‘Sleek Treasure”) ~ EBRZHES Limk 77,2005 7T REER
JEZ IR AR AF
(NEZ])
RYMIEEERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAR HE/REARE FHEL AR %6,000,00070 il 3y
RATEEBSERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAF® REREARE AMER A #1,000,00070 BREE
FITEEHEREERLE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAR HE/REARE FHEL AR %1,000,0007 il 3y
RHEEMESRER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 - Restaurant operations
BRAF® RE/REARE AMER A #1,000,00070 BREE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 28 REEER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W8 2 &) B & R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMARYL/ BRTLE/ KA AL IR E
PEEL: A& R ESR R AR A BAl TBER
2023 2022
ZEC=F | ZE-_-%
Carrianna Land Development  British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited (formerly known as  RBREXEE LAk 1% REER
Tak Sing Asia Inc.)*
EBMEERBRAA
Max Honour Investments British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment
Limited®* EREXHES Eak E RE
WEBEBRAA
Quantum Data Science Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000 95 87  Data center
Limited B0 LR 1,000 T operations
BEET (BB)ARAA BT LEE
Jade Choice Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000 95 87  Property investment
BYERAR BE Limik 1,000/ 7T NERE
* Direct subsidiaries of the Company * VNN N=E 4 ) =N
M Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises 0 INEEE R
@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies @ HRINEEBEDE
@ Domestic enterprises & NERZE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company EEZRB UNEMANEARRIZHEB A A
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected AREIEREFEEEIEANAEEEE
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of FEHZEEHD UREERAE EHT
the net assets of the Group, as well as certain investment EZER R EMM B A AEE R
holding and other subsidiaries, which in the opinion EENEBRKEN -EERBHETT
of the directors, are of specific importance to or of Hi B AR ZER BLERBRIT
specific purpose for the Group. To give details of other Ko

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties and
certain financial assets which have been measured at fair
value. The financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2023. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly
or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1 HREGE

ZEVBRRDERBRELGAMAE
(FEEEAE]) B2 EEM K H
SEAN(TEZBMBRSER]) (B4
PBEREMBREEL BEGHEL
(IFAgst £ k2R FBELR
S RAIRBRB AR 2 WERER
S PR IRAE LA KRB - HEIA
RPEFECETHELHEET R
BYMERETEREERI - ZEMK
BRIOABTE BREHA FBEE
EERAEEREOZ T

GAREE

AV BRREEBEARTRENBAF
BE-_ZT-_=F=-A=+—HItEEZ
PIEHRKR -MBRRAARREZKME
EIEHNER (BELEMERE) - BX
SEAS R ZEL2AREHRERHNE

N (AT AKRERBENTEREY
KA FERN) ¥ EZFEHR
By BIVENAS #28 Wil -

R—RER N FES BIRTER KT
BT - MARRERAEEES
PREEHRAZHNRRXNBLUE
M RAEERFEERTHREALRE
HERONENE SEREMARBEER
(ERIAREEE

(@) HEREHREMBREERERANSG
IRk
b) BEMEHRPERTELNER: &

© AEENRERNEEREE-
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

92

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.1 HREE

EAEE )

B /B8 2 B ) B S SR 3R A S 5 B R ZK A 7]
MR WERA -2 G BRER - i B
ﬂﬂZ%ZiEE$E.HX/E 2|2 B
FERE WEBSEAREEXREAR
BiEsE BRI

BakEME2EWASEKE D 5B
MRAEBE R RAER ARIEE Hﬂ%”’
B0 bE 28 5| BUEIT Rt 2 R S AL 45 84
TR -PBEBARRIBZEENBRE
- WA A RAEERKE R RIRER
SRS REINEERE 2K

B EE R B RERR & XAt = @ 22
BAZRER A ZHEEE AAEH
BEFFEEENEHREHR -HB
NEZ A RS S (I RKIES
BN ARRR IR S e

MAEBMAEE —HHNB QR ZEH
- AIEBERRIZMNB AR CEE
(BEEE) REE ((EMFEEHIERE
2 IREE R (i) ES Nk Rt E

R MEROEWAREZAFE - (i)FT
REBEMIEE 2 A FER)EEERRE
I E L EE 2 BB AL - STRT E D
PHRARNERZASEBRETH SR
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the period
between the acquisition of assets and their realisation.
Due to the nature of such business, its normal operating
cycle may be longer than 12 months. The Group’s
current assets include assets (such as properties under
development and properties held for sale) which are sold,
consumed or realised as part of the normal operating
cycle for the property investment and development
business even when they are not expected to be realised
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recorded a net loss of approximately HK$169,733,000
(2022: profit of approximately HK$25,111,000) and as at
31 March 2023, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$285,656,000 (2022:
net current assets of approximately HK$67,379,000). As
at 31 March 2023, included in its current liabilities were
interest-bearing borrowings drawn down from banking
facilities totalling approximately HK$1,189,482,000,
among which approximately HK$713,880,000 were
drawn down under revolving loan facilities, of which the
Group could roll over the facilities in the next twelve
months generally.

2.1 4 W% (@)

-E 3R

AEBNYEREMBEREBZXB
HAKBEEEERESR AL ZHIMAE-
BRI ERBEE  RE2XBHAERR
12088 - AEEMEREREREHH
MBEERRAE—RERZXARAL
S ORRREZERNEE (FIERERTY
ERFELEYR)  AERPZEEE
TEERSHHREMI2EARNER -

HEKELYE

BHE T =ZF=-A=+—HIFE"
NEEE L FE184169,733,0007
T (ZFZZF 5% 7 4925,111,000%
L) BRZTEZ=F=HA=+—8"
AEBZRBDEBEBRLEERBDEELN
285,656,0008 T (ZE__F : REE
EFEA67,379,00087T) N T =
FZA=+—H ERHEEREWRS
ZR1TREE 491,189,482,000/8 7t H A
#9713,880,0008 TLIRERA IR E 3K+ #%
ERRERAEE —MAIERRTZE
AAREE-
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
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GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration of the liquidity
requirement for the Group’s operations, the performance
of the Group and available sources of financing in
assessing whether the Group has sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. The Directors
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management which covers a period of twelve months
from 31 March 2023. The Directors have taken into
account the following plans and measures in assessing
the sufficiency of working capital requirements in the
foreseeable future:

(@) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period
and up to the date of this report, the Group
has refinanced the existing banking facilities of
approximately HK$140 million;

(b) Ignoring the effect of any repayment on-demand
clauses, interest-bearing borrowings of HK$140
million which were classified as current liabilities as
at 31 March 2023 would have become non-current
liabilities and will be settled in accordance with
the maturity dates as set out in the banking facility
letters;

(c) The Group will have the financial resources
reasonably available from the internally generated
funds from operations, proceeds from disposal of
assets and cash and bank balances of the Group.

Based on the above, the Directors consider that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
coming twelve months from 31 March 2023. Accordingly,
the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

2.1 4 W # (@)

PREgE LR (g

ERBEGEEVERRBAEY ESEFT
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group for the first time for the
current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract
Annual Improvements to Amendments to
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,

lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41

22 Bt KR KBEZEH
AR BB R PIEAEE T W SR
AU TR ARA BB BB B
SERS L

(BRUBHREER) JIFH2ER

FIRAET
(BResRl) O BERRE- F5
FI6EAEFT EfERPEAE

(BBestER)  BRAR-ETARNA
FITHRAEFT Z

(BENFHREER) (BRMBREER)
ZF-)NIEE FIR (BBHBR
ZE-FF EER) 25 (F

FRAE BYBREEA) £
165 R MR & I &
(BBgstER)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are

applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued
in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS
3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination,
an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of
the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to business combinations that occurred on or
after 1 April 2022. As there were no business
combinations during the year, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

2.2

R RBTE 2R D )
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AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit
or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after 1 April
2021. Since there was no sale of items produced
prior to the property, plant and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the
purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous
under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well
as contract management and supervision costs).
General and administrative costs do not relate
directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to contracts for which it
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 April 2022
and no onerous contracts were identified. Therefore,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

(b)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the
fees that an entity includes when assessing
whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has
applied the amendment prospectively from
1 April 2022. As there was no modification
or exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities
during the year, the amendment did not
have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)
BERENBRELENE10R R E BT ER]
252857 (201 1B ET )
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEBMGHmEERFE165 (17T A)
HKFRS 17
BBMEHREENE17IR
Amendments to HKFRS 17
BEEMBRELNE17IR (BFTA)
Amendment to HKFRS 17

BB BHREERE175 (BTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

EASFERE1S (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB G ERIE15 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

BRI ENB1RREBM G RE LR
BERREF25% (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 8

ERE T ERIFESH (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 12

FR SR ERE125; (BFTA)

EEMEMERERAF | 2023F 1§

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

23 Bl fHr RAERZHE M
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AEBRZEMBRRPHRRBIAT
ERMERRER 2T REIERTER
FA R R o

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

REZHABENFHE LR AR EEL BT E

Lease Liability in a Sale and [ .easeback?®

E#MbHE B &

Insurance Contracts’

Rig& 47

Insurance Contracts” ®

Rz & 475

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information®

BRERE B EREERE17% R EEHHHEER
FOW — HHEER

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”y 4

HEESER B E (| ZFEZ_FEFIAR] )24

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”y

W#ERE I TEEE ([T ZFEEIAR])?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
BB E R

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

B8 ET B EE

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’

BE—XGELMEAZTERER BEFHBRELSE
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

100

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective
date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In addition,
as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS
17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from
a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised
in the investor’'s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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INTETLY: s

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in
particular the determination over whether an entity has
a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least
12 months after the reporting period. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued
the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or
before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022
Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements
as non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of
those liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may
require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide
non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments
to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is permitted.
Since the guidance provided in the amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary.
The Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy
disclosures to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or other component
of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition,
the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception
and did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences for transactions
related to leases. Upon initial application of these
amendments, the Group will recognise deferred tax
for all temporary differences related to leases at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.
During the year, the Group has performed a detailed
assessment on the impact of amendments to HKAS 12.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s interests in associates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

24 FEEFHRZIBME w0

e RN TR X))

RYIFHERIR - BB IEKAREM R
WMEBEE -BMENEFETRER
A RMBEEHAEREREETED
BRI BERER - Ble & F R E AT Al
ABEBE AEER=A=1+—HETH
B2 FRERENR - BURERRME
AR cREAREERENRE
rEBzREReELENSREESL
BMp (RREELAHBRRE) -
MAmARBEEMBEEXRERTIEE
BEZSFEMNBMAER -

BEHEBATLEEMBCRESEE
ﬁﬁ(ﬁé?i%ﬁ@ﬁbZﬂ%@@%
EeoWReEEEE u(ﬁéFiﬁﬁ
ﬁﬂDZT%@ﬁﬁﬁ#%ﬁ@ AR
BEBE REEMERCREBET
SREZHARER -

WEBEARERSELEMN (RS
EEBMAR) RFTHEENZ ¥5—
By AREEHECRER  B@MY
EXEBCEERSTAEB2REE -
EBRATHE ZHEBREFMAEEER
ZHBBERMREZESEL BN

DETE



EEREMERERAF | 2023F 1§

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its certain leasehold land and
buildings, investment properties and certain financial
assets at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarter building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis, or otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

114

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms
2.5% to 3%

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
10% to 20%

15% to 20%

20% to 25%

Hotel properties
Leasehold lands
Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during
the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEEH PR ZME (w0
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES & & %
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings KRENMEREFE LW REEY 2R
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use (BRERTAEEERENHEEME
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of an BRIBREREMENTER) - LAREGE
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for SWARKAETEREE T2
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production RAEESIREEN @RS SARITIR
or supply of goods or services or for administrative A% AEARERRLE ZEWEE
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. RIRBR (BIERZ SR ) 5HE - VIR HE
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including Ri& - PNWMER REVMEUARTET]
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, AR AR BRTTISAROR ©

investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting

period.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of KEMEZ A TFEZEBES 2 MR sE
investment properties are included in the statement of BIREEXZFEBEERAIER.

profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an FRERHEREYE 2 W EB
investment property are recognised in the statement of TRBEIEEFEARIBR R AR

profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal. o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold lands
Properties

25 to 50 years
2 to 35 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

118

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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120

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value and comprise land
costs, construction costs, applicable borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable
to such properties incurred during the development
period. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable estimated selling
expenses and other estimated costs to make the sale,
and the estimated costs to be incurred to completion or
by management estimates, based on prevailing market
conditions.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investrments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there will be a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 12 months past due. The
Group has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of
default based on reasonable and supportable information,
including the Group’s credit risk control practices and
the historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90
days past due. However, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

24 FEEFHHRZIBME w0

W% E W (s

— W& & (8)
WAENMREHI2EA MAEERE
@@éELﬁ KEIEEEQE&T
BREMER REAEBENEER
ﬁ%ﬁ&@%%ﬂ»iiﬂéémn
[B] Yz =& - #E B0 H B HA MY I 9B a% - R
i REFIERT MR INBE R T
TRt RAEBF 2 AW INREER
MERT AN 55 B AN K AT g B UK Bl 18 R E
BEAOFE AAEETAIRAEHE
EEN - cREERELZEEEHRKE
AHBE e RERME-

REHERATFENEREER KA X
ETRE UHEANTHEREEER
FTEREER - T XA E A& A
K FE U E 5 AR FRBIBR SN o

—fEBR — RIANGEERREY
2 HE B DA PR A 4B K 0 1
- AEEBRERELRRES
M2 A FABMEEERE
K& R &

FBE — 2RIANEERKRAY
ﬁ%pMXEx%WMﬁ
W EERESHEE
BEEBBHBIZESNE
B EEBBNS 8T

=
2

RiE AL REERE
MEmEE (ELIFEE
SR EERENERE
E) BEBEBEEM

‘EHIEREEERERN
THRTE

127



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B B o Mk
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ=-F—-=F=H=+—HIFFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

128

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings) (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the statement of financial position, net of transaction
costs. On issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount
is carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of
the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and equity components when the instruments are first
recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined with
reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable estimated
selling expenses and other estimated costs to make the
sale or by management estimates, based on prevailing
market conditions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of
profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

24 FEEFGHRZIBME w0

KR AE D)

BRAERBEEE  FHESRESMEHR
ELRRE YHMREERB A THR
LA BT A 8% 26 4 I A 75 I8 & & A] 1 B)
e AERBEERZBELERIBERE IR
42 R4 HA oK B T A - A R SRR E FI
RUALFT A S S D R R I A Al W &
FRFIERR o

BEXERBEENBEIZAREANE
REERERRBEHRZHE Hz,ﬁi’\ﬁﬁ
BEHRCHROXER LCRBEM 2
BER (RBE)FAE

(EPSSER DR SETES o pr e M4 ko K
ZHER] - DAAG B[R] — RS HERR E [R) — B
RMERXTRERREREINFAF
MBEBNANAEERNAHEAR
ARELRABEMEERAREER
B YEBERARKEBEAEENSK
AEXEEHRBREXEEZHHEA
WHBEEEZENYNAREREE
iﬂﬁi“iﬁéﬁﬁgﬁfﬁ%\ﬁi UL

EREFBEEEER BB EEHE
8 °

R i B &

BT Bh & 10 A] & FE i E W B 12 A °F
ERER  W/AE T E P 2 —UIMEM - fid
MR IER B RIA R R
AR PR (8 2 AN ST SH R 2 A
WA EREERR REQFERG
NEZWARN - A S EARRBEEZ fH
AERFHNERGEEREBa RN
BABEENREES IR IT
EERNTAGTABRREK



EEREMERERAF | 2023F 1§

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

136

()

(i)

(i)

()

v)

(Vi)

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operations is recognised
at the point in time when/as control of the asset
(a promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Bakery operations

Revenue from the bakery operations is recognised
at a point in time when/as control of the asset (a
promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Sale of food products

Revenue from the sale of food products is
recognised at a point in time when/as control of the
asset (a promised good or service) is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the food
products.

Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations,
as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of completed properties is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the control of the completed properties,
being the point when the legal title of the completed
property is passed to the customer and the
collection of the consideration is probable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vii)  Property agency services
Commission income from property agency services
is recognised at a point in time when the services
are rendered which is generally the time when the
transacting parties first come into an agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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INTETLY: s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby eligible participants
render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

140

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll expenses to the CP
Schemes to fund their benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the CP Schemes.
Contributions under the CP Schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CP Schemes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

24 FEEFGHRZIBME w0

Ah ¥ (a0

RN S B ANET B M JE S I8 B R
BRR 5 B HA B R TR E o SR HNIE
AFEETHENFEEERRAHE
ATEEAMNERRITHRE REHUA
TEH I ETE B FE SRS
FROER T REHRREE ATE
FE U RE RO F R (AT
1B g 26 50 BS B 7E b 2 E UK A B 1B 28 R
HREED MREEZETHRIER 2
A S IB 2R HER)

R LEREBNREBRNIEEEE
EXFEKAER RETCVISERE
BEE FAXIRARHER NFX5
BMRASEVSHABANKERE
EMFEREESFEEAEA L K
FHELZERMNRIBHIBRRIE  BIRE
ERTEBRNREATEBLUNEETE
XHAH-

ETHINBARRBE AR ZEEE
BUWIFBT -RBEMK ZFERBZE
ENAEERERRERZEXNER
B REERCBRRERAFEZF
VERFERET FANELEZELE
R E Aty 2 E M ATERR N R A O HR
B - AL BB - B2 EE
SNEFF AR 2 2 EWA B O KB
KPR



EEMEMERERAF | 2023F 1§

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor
The Group has entered into property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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144

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to
renew the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the
renewal. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option
to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g., construction of
significant leasehold improvements).

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of
the fact that certain matters relating to CIT have not been
confirmed/determined by the relevant tax authorities,
objective estimates and judgements based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies,
and interpretations and practices in respect thereof are
required in determining the provision for income taxes to
be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will have an impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimates for net realisable values of properties
under development and properties held for sale
The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties held for sale according
to whether their net realisable values are lower than
their costs, with their net realisable values based on the
realisability of these properties taking into account, inter
alia, management’s estimates of the expected selling price
based on prevailing market conditions, less applicable
estimated selling expenses and other estimated costs to
make the sale, and the estimated costs to be incurred
to completion. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s properties under development
and properties held for sale were approximately
HK$321,756,000 (2022: HK$337,320,000) and
HK$449,774,000 (2022: HK$487,200,000), respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$52,581,000 (2022: HK$64,470,000). Further details
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties
The Group engaged a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers to perform the valuations of the

investment properties of the Group at the end of the
reporting period.

The valuation of investment properties involves significant
estimations and assumptions, including, among others,
the estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for the
income capitalisation approach and the estimated market
price for the direct comparison approach.

The carrying amount of investment properties of
the Group as at 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$2,329,752,000 (2022: HK$2,522,690,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial
statements.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s estimates and according
to their understanding of the requirements of certain
PRC tax laws and regulations, and interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the relevant tax authorities
upon the completion of the relevant property development
projects. As the relevant tax authorities have not yet
finalised their LAT assessments for certain property
development projects of the Group, the final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on, inter
alia, available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax
assets related to recognised tax losses at 31 March
2023 was HK$19,570,000 (2022: HK$18,206,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 March
2023 was HK$501,786,000 (2022: HK$452,939,000).
Further details are contained in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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INTETLY: s

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon the
recognition of the sale of completed properties. Before the
final settlement of the development costs and other costs
relating to the sale of the completed properties, these
costs are accrued by the Group based on management’s
best estimates.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
costs of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are generally allocated to individual phases based on the
estimated saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in note 22 to the financial
statements.

The Group uses the general approach to calculate ECLs
on financial assets at amortised cost other than trade
receivables, which are determined with reference to,
inter alia, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, change in which can result in different
levels of allowances.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates
the IBR using observable inputs when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

150

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the restaurant, food and hotel segment which
engages in the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses; and

(b) the property investment and development segment
which comprises the development and sale of
properties and the leasing of residential, commercial
and industrial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure
of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit
before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
before tax except that bank interest income, unallocated
other income and gains, net, finance costs as well as
corporate and unallocated expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEZHER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z_-_=F=RA=+—HLEFE
Restaurant, Property
food and investment and
hotel development Total
378 NERE
BERREE RER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
Segment revenue (note 5) DI (KiFES5)
Revenue from external customers RENNPEE ZBA 574,461 109,021 683,482
Intersegment revenue AEE A 2,106 4,661 6,767
576,567 113,682 690,249
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment revenue WsH D R WA (6,767)
Total revenue LGN 683,482
Segment results DHEE 8,970 (96,642) (87,672)
Reconciliation: A -
Bank interest income RITHBWA 3,528
Unallocated other income and gains, net KD B E 4 A B Mz -
T 2,772
Corporate and unallocated expenses PERROEX T (19,790)
Finance costs R A (84,283)
Loss before tax BREtRIEE (185,445)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE7HER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued) BE-_Z-_=f=ZA=+—HLEE
()
Restaurant, Property
food and investment and
hotel development Total
RmRBE RERE @zt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TAR TER TER
Other segment information Hi o HER:
Changes in fair value of investment REME NTEE
properties, net F - (90,003) (90,003)
Share of loss of associates B E R AEE - (48,066) (48,066)
Other interest income Hb | 8 WA - 33,397 33,397
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of BB ZRFZRE/
trade receivables, net (CRERR) ¥ 4,235 (1,737) 2,498
Impairment of other receivables, net Heb AR ZORE  FE - 18,373 18,373
Impairment of goodwill BERE 11,889 - 11,889
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERSEITE
equipment
- segment - 67,517 23,952 91,469
- unallocated Aol 1,718
93,187
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREBEE 39,682 332 40,014
Capital expenditure BARX
- segment - 99,789 1,261 101,050
- unallocated Vol -
101,050*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BEXARZBIEANEYE BERERER
and equipment and investment properties. REWE-
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEZHER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022 B T-_—_F#=A=+—HIFE
Restaurant, Property
food and  investment and
hotel development Total
g% MERE
R RBE RER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT
Segment revenue (note 5) 2EMUBA (HEE5)
Revenue from external customers REIMNPEF 2 A 676,144 105,026 781,170
Intersegment revenue SEE WA 1,381 10,757 12,138
677,525 115,783 793,308
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment revenue WD EE 2 WA (12,138)
Total revenue BsUA 781,170
Segment results PWEE 51,070 56,990 108,060
Reconciliation: A -
Bank interest income BITH B WA 3,918
Unallocated other income and gains, net &2 B E 4 A Iz -
FE 5,324
Corporate and unallocated expenses TEERRAES (15,531)
Finance costs R A (63,199)
Profit before tax BR 5t AT A 48,572
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4.
INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued)

gESHER (@)

BE-_T-_—_#=ZA=Z+—HILFE

(%)

Restaurant, Property
food and  investment and
hotel development Total
25 MERE i
R KBS RER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT FHT
Other segment information Hittp HER
Changes in fair value of investment RENE A TEZS:
properties, net FE - (29,865) (29,865)
Share of profit of associates FEGE & A AR R - 35,991 35,991
Other interest income M S WA - 21,344 21,344
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of JEWE 5RFZRE,
trade receivables, net (RERE) FE (2,281) 1,056 (1,225)
Impairment of other receivables, net Hi YRR ME 38 - 2,151 2,151
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERSEINE
equipment
- segment - D 57,421 14,915 72,336
- unallocated vl 1,017
73,353
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEELHE 51,021 352 51,373
Capital expenditure BARAR
- segment - 35,634 50,211 85,845
- unallocated vl 95,669
181,514*

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant

and equipment and investment properties.

* BARXEREREDE BERRER

REME-
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE?BER (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION i & & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (@) KEMNBEFZWA
2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Hong Kong BE 285,742 258,509
Mainland China Hp B K B 397,740 522,661
683,482 781,170
The revenue information above is based on the FRIWA BRI TIRIEE FEIE
locations of the customers. & i1 5E ©
(b) Non-current assets b) FRBEE
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Hong Kong BE 913,415 969,226
Mainland China ey N 3,792,683 4,105,863
4,706,098 5,075,089
The non-current asset information above is based TR EEERIRIEEEM
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial EZHEmMELTEEERMTAR

instruments and deferred tax assets. EERIBE E -
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F - =F=H=+—HIFFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4.
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

No revenue from any single external customer accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

gETHER (@)

HREZEEPZEH

B2 _ T =R -_ZT-—-_4=ZH
=t+—BULEFE WEKEEME—I
HEE Z WA AEE AU Z10%3K A
J:o

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H AU A Rk ss o F 4
GAINS, NET
REVENUE KA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTIAT :
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Revenue from contracts with KEEFELHZHA
customers
Income from restaurant, food and B8 RMMBEEBKRA
hotel businesses 574,461 676,144
Proceeds from the sale of properties, #5543 F715 78 -
property management service VB B RIEUA K
income and commission income B A 12,976 10,728
587,437 686,872
Revenue from other sources XK G E KR A
Gross rental income HeW A@zE 96,045 94,298
683,482 781,170
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H At A R %o 5
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEPFAHZWA
CUSTOMERS
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WA EER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_FE_=SHF=-F=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
EH-RER NERER
Segments il BR @t
2 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TET TER TER
Types of goods or services EnRBREESR
Restaurant operations EHme 270,267 - 270,267
Bakery operations e ELE 129,776 - 129,776
Sale of food products RMHE 153,481 - 153,481
Hotel operations BELE 20,937 - 20,937
Property management services MEEE R - 1,148 1,148
Sale of properties MEHE - 11,828 11,828
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF A Z B
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437
Geographical markets W TS
Hong Kong B8 217,936 - 217,936
Mainland China B A 3 356,525 12,976 369,501
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBRFP A HZ B
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437
Timing of revenue recognition I A B 3255 5
At a point in time RE—EREEH 553,524 11,828 565,352
Over time ¥ B 20,937 1,148 22,085

Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF A4 Z I A
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F - =F=H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ HAb WA Rt & - #H
GAINS, NET (Continued) (#)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEFPGHZHA ()
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (5
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_FE-—F=ZA=+—HIFF
E
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
R MERE R
Segments BE TR @it
yik:i| HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THT
Types of goods or services ERBREESR
Restaurant operations BHugE 285,592 = 285,592
Bakery operations MeELE 120,105 = 120,105
Sale of food products RmiHE 248,256 - 248,256
Hotel operations BELE 22,191 - 22,191
Property management services MEE R R - 2,939 2,939
Sale of properties MEHE - 7,789 7,789
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 BUA
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872
Geographical markets WETS
Hong Kong e 244,282 - 244,282
Mainland China HE A 431,862 10,728 442 590
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 BUA
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872
Timing of revenue recognition W A\ 2B
At a point in time RE—FRE 653,953 7,789 661,742
Over time B R ] 22,191 2,939 25,130

Total revenue from contracts with ~ KEEE A 42 AU A
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE_-—F_-=ZF=HA=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H bt A Rk &
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEFEHZIA )
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER &)
(Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue TXHINKERFAEHZWAESY
from contracts with customers to the amounts HMEREEZ SR HER:

disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_E_=—F=-F=+—HIF
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
ER-_EK NERER
Segments BIE BR @t
2% HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TER TEx
Revenue from contracts with ~ REZEFAAZKA
customers
External customers IR 574,461 12,976 587,437
Intersegment revenue SEEBA 2,106 = 2,106

576,567 12,976 589,543
Intersegment adjustments and 7 EP R R8s
eliminations (2,106) - (2,106)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REZFP A4 2 WA 4%
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE_-F_-_=F=H=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ HAb WA Rt & - #H
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEPGHZHRA (80)
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (5
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 - = H=+—HIF
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
R MERE R
Segments BE TR @it
2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT AT
Revenue from contracts with ~ REEFAAZKA
customers
External customers IBEP 676,144 10,728 636,872
Intersegment revenue SEBEKA 1,381 10,757 12,138

677,525 21,485 699,010
Intersegment adjustments and 73 0 8 B g
eliminations (1,381) (10,757) (12,138)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REZFP A4 2 WA 4%
customers 676,144 10,728 686,872
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Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ=-F-=F=H=+—HIFF&E

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS, NET (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information
(Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period.

5. WA~ H oA Ko g o H

(8

KEEFEHZIA )

(i)

WA 7B &R (8)

TRETNARE BREEZT AR
BERVIZENABZBMATHE-

2023 2022
—g-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET F&T
Revenue recognised that was st ARBREHI I 2
included in contract liabilites at & &I & &2
the beginning of the reporting 2R A
period:
Restaurant, food and hotel Z8 - RmRBE 13,796 11,687
Property investment and MERERER
development 7,168 10,971
20,964 22,658
Performance obligations i) B&HEAML
Information about the Group’s performance EHEAEBRAORE AR

obligations is summarised below:

Restaurant operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

T

BHEE
BRHET BN ERIREEER
HTPEFRER -TFPREBE,E
1S PR & an IR TS 2 45 Il R B —
BB R HER-
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

162

GAINS, NET (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

Bakery operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

Sale of food products

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the products to the customers
and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days,
extending to a longer period for major customers,
from the date of delivery, except for new customers
or certain food products, where payment in advance
is normally required.

Hotel operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as services are provided and payment
is generally due when the services have been
rendered.

Property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Property management service
contracts are for periods of one to eight years and
payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of properties

In respect of the sale of completed properties, the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the legal title of the completed property
is obtained by the customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally made in accordance
with the terms of the respective sale and purchase
agreements.

5. We A~ H bW A R & - i 4

(%)

KEEFAHZHA (8

(i) BHEAML (3
A 1 JE AR &
BHEE—MRRE R REEET
BEPEHEK -BFPFRBE BUSH
A E R RS < s R —ARE
TR BER-

RuniHE
BHET—RRATL R ERE
ER - — MR E B%30290H
AR (FERFEEREER
BR) MEMRPHETRMBRIN H
BESEBELMK

B AR &

B 40 & £ — RR DA FR AL AR 745 Fef & A T
EZR R —RRE RERESEE
EHO

VX IR

J& 49 & 1 170 4R 4 AR 755 B B By ] 22
KoMEEERBEN/H—FE
NE WBEFEERNK-

VFEHE

MRTHEZHEMS  BHEME
REFRBERIMEZEERE
RZESHMEN X HER RS
RIBEBEE &S B ZBRM e



REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS, NET (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

Property agency services
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5. WA~ H Al A KU 5 E

(%)

KEEFAGHZHRA (8

(i) J&# R (80
Y ER IR

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
services have been rendered and payment is

BHEEREEHERBEZR 5
— ARt B BAREET30 B MBI H] -

generally due within 30 days from the agreement
date.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows:

i e A R e i o R
H A A R Mezs BRI T -

received in connection with the support from the
“Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment Support
Scheme” of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. There are no unfulfiled conditions
or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

2023 2022
—EC-=HE ==
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Bank interest income RITFIB WA 3,528 3,918
Investment interest income & F B A 2,081 11,303
Other interest income H At F) 24 A 33,397 21,344
Dividend income from equity investments 3& & &% A FE 58k &7
designated at fair value through other HE2EBAFEREZ
comprehensive income BRIRE 2 REWA - 4,169
Dividend income from financial assets BAFEYERERNERF
at fair value through profit or loss BREZEMEEL
R EHA 3,323 3,702
Gain on lease modification HMEEFT 2 W= 733 =
Gain on lease termination WIEME 2 2,115 109
Government subsidies* KT 8 B 10,199 850
Others EH A 12,282 9,164
67,658 54,559
* Government subsidies mainly represent subsidies * AT B = iR WA H B RI1T IR

EEAHEREES] R R
2l T HEEOEL - ABREmA AL
AR ARG IR T HEE =
I8 o
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6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. BREmEAMN (E#E)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after AEBERBAGEF, (BB EMNR,
charging/(crediting): (BFA)ATHIB:
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E--F
Notes HKS'000 HK8 000
ik FEx FET
Cost of inventories sold and services E&FE M ERERS 2 KA
provided 384,589 407,152
Depreciation of property, ME-BELRRBEINE
plant and equipment 13 93,187 73,353
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EFAEEEZITE 15(a) 40,014 51,373
COVID-19-related rent concessions 7 A $COVID-1918RE &
from lessors B 15(c) (1,000) (2,343)
Lease payments not included inthe K AHEBGEFEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 15(c) 6,313 3,806
Auditor's remuneration™ B E B 3,659 4,246

Employee benefit expense (excluding & 8 &I % (E =B
directors’ remuneration (note 8))*:  (FzE8) BN * -

Wages, salaries and bonuses T& #He kit 120,658 139,857
Pension scheme contributions** RKEFT M0
(defined contribution schemes) (FREMFEE) 11,083 8,089
131,741 147,946
Foreign exchange differences, net  JMNE =58 - JF58 170 (453)
Impairment/(reversal of ATEEZRE
impairment) of CRERE) :
— trade receivables, net —ENE FER FEB 2,498 (1,225)
— other receivables, net —Hb KRR FEB 18,373 2,151

Direct operating expenses (including BERE& 2 IREMEELEZ
repairs and maintenance) arising EREELH (BELE

from rental-earning investment RIRE)

properties 501 350
Changes in fair value of investment I EWME N FEEE F58

properties, net 90,003 29,865

164



EEREMERERAF | 2023F 1§

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

6 M B RN

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

BB mEA (BHE) @

PROFIT/ (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued)

2023 2022
—EC-=HE —ET--F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FET FET
Fair value losses, net:* NTEEE FE:
Financial assets at fair value BEAFESERRERR
through profit or loss REZEHEE 7,674 46,414
Loss on disposal/write-off of HE/HJHENE BER
items of property, HBEE BB FHE
plant and equipment, net 3,194 825
Impairment of goodwill* EERE" 11,889 3,233
Release of deferred income” WA BRRR (783) (205)

*k

The auditors’ remuneration included Ernst & Young’s audit
fee of HK$2,850,000 (2022: HK$2,850,000), and audit
fees payable to other subsidiaries’ auditors in respect of
audit services provided for certain subsidiaries in Hong
Kong and Mainland China.

Inclusive of an amount of HK$95,995,000 (2022:
HK$103,280,000) classified under cost of inventories sold
and services provided.

The impairment of goodwill and fair value losses on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The release of deferred income is classified under cost of
inventories sold and services provided.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

*k

R e RIELKETMERTZ
E5#2,850,0008 L (ZE = —4F:
2,850,000/ 7T) * MEFRIEERFEH
A T M B A AR ST BR 7% i e
BRSNS i =8

BEIRAECEGFERERERKEZ
X A895,995,000/8 T ( =& — — 4
103,280,000/ 70 ) 2 & 4 o

AR RE R IR A FESIREA B
TREZEMEE NTEER (K
g2 ABRAERR [ #HE]
o

ELEWABEEDBREEFERAM
B ORI AR R o

AR ER B A 0B I 3 08 W ey (R 3R AT 2A
RANEERRB 2 HFKFE -
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7. FINANCE COSTS

7. WK

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: B ADAT

2023 2022
—E=-= g

HK$’000 HK$'000
FrET FET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZFE 77,514 47,864
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESR ZF B 2,079 1,560
Interest on lease liabilities HEREZME 4,690 3,785
84,283 53,199

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant

EEMe
REES

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong

BEXZMABARARES LT

MATETRRAL) BB RRUEME
383(1)(a)* (b) (o) (kR BB A ] (#KEE
EENmER) ROIF2MBEAFEE

166

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong EMeaT
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2023 2022
—g-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&T
Fees e 900 905
Other emoluments: Hi2 -
Salaries and allowances Fre KoERL 10,984 9,923
Equity-settled share option expense  AREZS 45 E 7 BEIAERI X 20 149
Pension scheme contribution BRIRESFT BN
(defined contribution scheme) (REH-ZKGTE) 179 161
11,183 10,233
12,083 11,138
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

8. #F M2 w

(Continued)
(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE A) BrEHRITES
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive AFEEENBILIENITESHRES W
directors during the year were as follows: D
2023 2022
—E-= —ET_-=
Fees Fees
we e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BEAEEE 300 300
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam* B X - 91
Mr. Wong See King =ERBELEE 300 300
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, SR EE UG 5 A
Christopher* 300 214
900 905
e Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam resigned as an independent * EXHLER_T-_—F+tA

non-executive director on 15 July 2021 and Mr.
Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher was appointed as
an independent non-executive director on 15 July
2021.

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2022: Nil).

THEBEBIUIFRTESEREK
HEEREER-_E-_—F+A+H
RERERBUIFNTESR

REEWEREMNIBIIFNITEEH
HEaEHm (T ——F ) -
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM L s
(Continued)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (B) HiiT# =
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions  remuneration
5e gff NEREE B
R REM ZBRE tal e
ne =37 A BX % am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FET FET FTET FET
2023 —B-=F
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBRAE - 1,364 - - 62 1,426
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE - 2,279 - - 70 2,349
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SR#ELE - 843 - - 18 861
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen WRImELE - 1,500 - 20 18 1,538
Mr. Liang Rui RHEE - 4,558 - - - 4,558
Mr. Ma Hung Man* Ry e - 440 - - 11 451
- 10,984 - 20 179 11,183
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
e Bt IEREE RIKE
g IR pd -1 HE] ik
ne 2 b ¥ i Bm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
2022 —EC_CF
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBRE - 1,520 - - 55 1,575
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE S 2,353 S = 70 2,423
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BB EE - 751 - - 18 769
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen ~ BAIEL 4 = 1,563 = 149 18 1,730
Mr. Liang Rui RH%E - 3,736 - - - 3,736
- 9,923 - 149 161 10,233
* Mr. Ma Hung Man was appointed as an executive * BBXEERZZEZZFALAN
director on 8 September 2022. BEZARNITES-
There was no arrangement under which a director FAWEEZWESREREEM
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during e HE -

the year.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ 9.
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2022: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2022: one) non-director,

i = # R B 2 H M

RAFE  AfikaFEERENS (=
T F R EE HEMEEHT
REXHFS BT —R(ZTZZF:
—H)IEF FEETBRABZESFH

non-chief executive highest paid employee are as follows: EEZHMFBENT :

2023 2022
—==-= —E=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Salaries e 1,372 1,456
Equity-settled share option expense — AREZS 45 E 2 B IERT XX - 20
1,372 1,476

The remuneration of the non-director, non-chief executive
highest paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2022: HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000).

IEF FTBTHRABZESHEE
A 2 BN 721,000,001 T 2
1,500,000 TEHERN (Z T ==
1,000,001 7t &1,500,000/8 7T ) °
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10.

170

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2022:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed
at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable in
Mainland China have been calculated at the relevant rates
of tax prevailing in Mainland China in which the Group
operates.

10. Fi 5

BEENEHEIBRBFAREBEE 2
FTER TG FIR16.5% (ZE ==
16.5% ) R ERE - HEAREEH
— BT 8 & B R RS B/ A I T &Y
AERERE - %M B2 FHE2,000,000
ot (ZZ = = :2,000,000/ 7T) &
JERTF B K AB8.25% (=T ==
F:825%) HRTHERBEFNEREA
16.5% (T = —F:16.5%) - £ B R
H B K B 5B 2 B FR B M) 2 B IR TR
B A RE 2 BRI R E -

2023 2022
—E-= —FE=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Current — Hong Kong BNE—F B
Charge for the year REEXH 241 401
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE - (330)
Current — Mainland China BVER — A B K e
Corporate income tax EFTEMR 21,059 48,174
Land appreciation tax + 2B - 139
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (11,655) (14,852)
Deferred IR AE (25,357) (10,071)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year ANFEEFRBEX L (K% ) EE (15,712) 23,461
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10. Fi 5 8 (w0
BB R B R G AR B AT R F

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate S (BB ZRBERY (Ke)RliRE
to the tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax rate is as BREAEZBERSY (KR ) HRD
follows: ™

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Profit/(loss) before tax B AR A, (EE) (185,445) 48,572
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BEBEEHE16.5%

tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) T "%F:16.5%)
FTE A (30,598) 8,014

Effect of higher tax rates FEAME R 2
for specific provinces or enacted LISy -2
by local authorities (2,031) 15,880
Adjustments in respect of current tax  Ht i@+ HifH ~

of previous periods EHATIE R (11,655) (15,182)
Profits and losses attributable to FEAGEEE A alaF REE

associates 7,931 (5,939)
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (4,151) (15,802)
Expenses not deductible for tax IR 16,462 27,732
Land appreciation tax T HIIERER - 139
Tax losses utilised from previous BRABTHE

periods TIBE 1B (3,520) (183)
Tax losses not recognised RIERKBIIREE 11,850 8,802

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s BAEEERRRER
effective rate AEzBEXH (ER) (15,712) 23,461

DIEEEHE AR ZRIEBEBR S AL
8,470,000 T (Z T FMIBM X !
35,420,000/ 70) Bt ARG iEmk [
EEERARES (BE)] "

The share of tax credit attributable to associates
amounting to approximately HK$8,470,000 (2022: tax
expenses HK$35,420,000) is included in “Share of profits/
(losses) of associates” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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11. DIVIDEND

12.

172

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023
(2022: HK1 cent).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,571,359,420 (2022: 1,536,229,851) in issue during the
year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the year ended 31 March 2023
in respect of a dilution as the impact of the convertible
bonds and share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive
effect on the basic loss per share amounts presented.

No adjustment had been made to the basic earnings
per share amounts presented for the year ended 31
March 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
convertible bonds and share options outstanding had no
dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts
presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share are based on:

11.

12.

ik B

BETgTE2REE —=F=
= Et%ﬁﬁﬁ%%% (=
ZITE B -

B 7\ 5 8 PR B O\ EAG
FhRERN(B#)

A

BREAREF, (BB)SENRES
NAIEBREREABRBGAEE 2T
(BB RERE BT L ER 2 INE
19 #01,571,359, 420Hx (ZE=-—4&F:
1,536,229,851 % ) 5t &

F A R AR 1T {6 ) P B AR 55 % R A
PEJNEBRERABERCEARRES
TE RUENBERBERE T =
FZA=T—HLEFEMR2INEHRE
AEETE-

PR A R R 1T 2 ) AT HR AR IR 55 % BB A M
FrEfmERERBNEENEAEHE
PR MY ERESHEEE_T _—

FZA=1+—HIFEMRIOFRE
REFEFE-

SRERRIERF]/ (F5I8) TRIEN
TREHE

2023 2022
—E-= —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET F&T
Earnings/(Loss) BR (&E)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary ARstEE Hxﬁ¢ NEE & A
equity holders of the parent, Z B RREmRE
used in the basic and diluted ﬁﬁ/\%{ﬁiﬁé #, (E518)
earnings per share calculation (175,680) 3,822
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B &I
=F=f=

(5

+7

oA W ik
A FE

12#An%ﬁ%MﬁﬁAuﬁ
fl,

)

(Continued)
Number of shares
g g
2023 2022
—_E-= —=EFq -
Shares B 12
Weighted average number of AR ESRERKEE
ordinary shares in issue during AR, (E8) 2 FANB BT
the year used in the basic and TR N &
dilutive earnings/(loss) per share
calculation 1,571,359,420 | 1,536,229,851
PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. W %~ Wi B K 3% fa
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BE BER B
EENE TuREF  WEES #E RERRE BH  HRIR ek
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT THT THT FHL THT FHL
31 March 2023 —E-=f=A=1-H
At 1 April 2022: RZFE-ZFmA—A:
Cost or valuation BB (EE 405,211 552,616 307,014 122,950 103,156 28,790 21,873 1,541,610
Accumulated depreciation and ZATERAE
impairment (161,424)  (107,976)  (176,773) (77,563) (92,427) (25,747) - (641,910)
Net carrying amount EEFE 243,787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21,873 899,700
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—#mA-A 243,787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21,873 899,700
Additions RE - 43,049 29,322 3,016 24,289 1,374 - 101,050
Depreciation provided during FRFERE (N15H6)
the year (note 6) (14,008) (24,695) (27,940) (15,582) (8,677) (2,195) - (93,187)
Disposals/write-off HE /i = (618) (4,716) - (1,307) (370) - (7,011)
Exchange realignment ERAZ (15,720) (21,873) (4,049) 112 701 ) (1,602) (42,432)
At 31 March 2023, net of RZB-=%F
accumulated depreciation ZA=+-8"
BB EGHE 213,969 440,503 122,858 32,933 25,735 1,851 20,271 858,120
At 31 March 2023: RZEZ=F
—A=+-A:
Cost or valuation N EERRT 375,543 565,595 300,337 118,278 112,030 29,092 20271 1,521,146
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERAE
impairment (161,574)  (125,002)  (177,479) (85,345) (86,295) (27,241) - (663,026)
Net carrying amount REFE 213,969 440,503 122,858 32,933 25,735 1,851 20,271 858,120
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ¥ %~ Bk B B ik e (s0)
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
il % R i
BEWE  LhRET  DERE K RERZAE B EEIR ot

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TET TEL T TEL T THEL

31 March 2022 —E--F=fA=t+-H
At 1 April 2021: RZZ=—-fMWA—A:

Cost or valuation BRARES A 389,111 441,290 236,621 108,168 114,364 27,513 21,005 1,338,072

Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE

impairment (143,931) (94525)  (156,841) (62,707) (99,302) (24,629) = (581,935)

Net carrying amount FHFE 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—%#NA-A 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
Additions RE = 95,354 67,506 11,833 5,374 1,447 = 181,514
Depreciation provided during FRMERE (Fi6)

the year (note 6) (13,475) (12,640) (23,070) (15,654) (7,794) (720) - (73,359)
Disposals/write-off HE/FH - = (1,102) (30) (3,487) = = (4,619)
Exchange realignment ERAZE 12,082 15,161 7,127 3,777 1,574 (568) 868 40,021
At 31 March 2022, net of i3

accumulated depreciation =ZR=t+-8"

Bk REE 243,787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21,873 899,700
At 31 March 2022: WZE-ZF
=R=1-g:
Cost or valuation BRAREREE 405,211 552,616 307,014 122,950 103,156 28,790 21873 1,541,610
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRE
impairment (161,424  (107.976)  (176,773) (77,569) (92,427) (25,747) = (641,910)

Net canying amount BEFE 243787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21873 899,700
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at open market value based on their
then existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied on the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions as set out in paragraph
80AA of HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, from
the requirement to carry out further revaluations of its
property, plant and equipment which were stated at
valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, their total carrying amount would have
been approximately HK$327,000 (2022: HK$429,000).

At 31 March 2023, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$98,321,000 (2022: HK$328,642,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 39).

13. % 5% ~ Bt b5 Je ak s

BUBXRAERMEEMCRERRAN
B EERAATER - NWNEF=HA
—t—BEAKEETHELHRET
ETER-B-NANAFE ~A&EZHE
ETMETFUEBETE-—TER R
ARAKREFEREE ST ERIE6
T%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ¢M%M&%ﬁz
BRGXREZ B eHZENERIZMG
BIRZOE BEERREETE—Z
EfZBRTE

MZEHRE L RIEFUE L KAR
S MERTRBAEBREAR L4K
B B4 A327,0008 T (Z T ==
429,000/ 7T ) °

R_ZTE-_ZF=ZA=Z+—H8 &x4&H
B T JF {E #998,321,0008 Tt (T = —
1 328,642,000 L) 2 & T % - &
EREBEEER EAT-EBERS
FHRITEE 2R (K13E39) -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 4. &YX
2023 2022
—8g=-= —E-=

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B T FERT FAT

Carrying amount at beginning of R E ¥ Z BREE @ R4 {E
year, at valuation 2,522,690 2,515,637
Transfers from prepayments B e IR RIE 3,347 4,494
Disposal HeE (48,200) =

Net loss from fair value ANEERAERELA

adjustments B 1855 6 (90,003) (29,865)
Exchange realignment b 2 (58,082) 32,424

Carrying amount at 31 March, at A=A =+—H ZKH&E "
valuation RiGE 2,329,752 2,522,690

176

The Group’s investment properties consist of three
classes of asset, i.e., residential, commercial and
industrial properties, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 March 2023 based on
valuations performed by HG Appraisal & Consulting
Limited, independent professionally qualified
valuers, at approximately HK$2,329,752,000 (2022:
HK$2,522,690,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s investment
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s management has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is performed
for financial reporting. Certain investment properties are
leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment properties with
a carrying amount of approximately HK$1,857,419,000
(2022: HK$2,178,640,000) were pledged to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note 39).

Further particulars of the Group’s principal investment
properties are included on pages 247 to 252.

BESYEZED HHERRR K&
BiREWER="TBELEHER (BME=E-"
BERTIEVEIEAXN - R-_ZT_=F
ZA=ZtT—H XEEZEREMER
BERBIEESERGEMEEFT G
FEBABRAR (= TR
HRERBRAR)ETZHEEH®Y
£2,329,752,0008 L (Z &~ =
2,522,690,000/%7T) - BFE  AEEZ
EREREZREINHEMBEREE
KEYE NI HE - BEERBET
B BE BUMREGHISTEE
ZE ANEFZEEERYIEHARETT
HEREGER T REBERERGES
R-ATHREMENRKEHERTE
=H E—IPHEFBRCERTBRE
BsE15/ ©

= — —
=
S

RN-ZEBE-_=FE=A=+—0 ~&EEKE
E{E#)51,857,419,0008 T (— - —
F:2,178,640,0008 T) 2R EMED
BRI (EAAEEERE TR TEE
ZYEIR (MI5E39) ©

AEBEBREMEZE—THBER
EE4TEDEDH o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. &YW ¥ (50

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY A fE 8 %
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINTAEBREMEZ AT EFE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: [

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2023 using
W-®-=F=A=+-A
ERUNTEEETZATENE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTE EATEE EAFTEERE
ZHE BWAE BAE
(B-®) (B=®) (B=8) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FET FET

Hong Kong: Bk
Commercial properties [EEIES - - 143,100 143,100
Industrial properties I¥ME - - 119,190 119,190
Residential properties FEWE - - 30,220 30,220
Mainland China: F KR -
Commercial properties [EEXIES - - 1,917,226 1,917,226
Industrial properties I9% - - 120,016 120,016

2,329,752 2,329,752
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

14. &YW % )
NEEE S (5)

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2022 using
RZBEZZ§=A=1+—H
ERATEEETZ AT EAE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERWS EATHEE EATIER
ZEfE BAE BAE
(5—#) (B=@) (B=#) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THL THT TAET
Hong Kong: ENCE
Commercial properties HEME - - 148,700 148,700
Industrial properties I¥M%E - - 161,336 161,336
Residential properties TEME - - 29,740 29,740
Mainland China: B RE -
Commercial properties BE3/ES - - 2,060,200 2,060,200
Industrial properties TI9% - - 122,714 122,714
- - 2,522,690 2,522,690

RER BESBNIME-—REF
BZAFEAERTERE=HRPEA
SER (T —F :E)-

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. X&YW ¥ &)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) N TE ) s
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised BERE=ZRATFEEBRAZ A FER
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EHER:
Hong Kong Mainland China
3 PEAKE
Commercial Industrial Residential  Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties properties
HENE IEUM% FENE BENE IEN%E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tir THr Tir

Carrying amount at 1 Apri 2021 RZBZ-§NA—-HY
REE 152,900 161,336 25,000 2,062,780 113,621
Transfers L - - 4,494 - -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adustments MEZHERZ AFEAR
recognised in profit or loss i/ (BR) 38 (4,200 = 246 (30,230) 4319
Exchange realignment A% - - = 27,650 4774
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 and W= = =%
1 April 2022 ZA=1+-BR
“T-"4NA-H
LEHE 148,700 161,336 29,740 2,060,200 122,714
Transfers B - - 3,347 - -
Disposal e = (48,200) - - -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adustments MEZHERZ A TFEFE
recognised in profit or loss W/ (BE) 58 (5,600) 6,054 (2,867) (93,879) 6,289
Exchange realignment ERAE - - - (49,095) (8,987)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 R-F-=%
=A=1-H
ZEHE 143,100 119,190 30,220 1,917,226 120,016
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. B &Y ¥ (@)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) ARV
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TREMIEEYEGEER 2 (GERM
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REBHAE:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
EER EXTABEBAE #E
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-CF
Hong Kong:
BE:
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$15,000 to | HK$15,900 to
\ - (per square foof) HK$45,000 HK$47,000
EERIES ERHEL fbstmE (FFHRR) 15,000 T2 | 159008 E
45,0007 7T 47,0008 7T
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$2,250 to HK$2,350 to
- (per square foof) HK$3,260 HK$3,400
I%m% BERLIBE fhat B (B FHER) 225082 | 23508LE
3,260/ 1T 3,400 T
Residential properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$6,700 to HK$7,025 to
\ o (per square foot) HK$10,000 HK$10,700
FEME BERIEE fhat i (B FHER) 6,7008TZ | 70551E
10,000/ 7T 10,7007 7T
Mainland China:
rh B KR :
Commercial properties Income capitalisation approach  Estimated rental value HK$46 to HK$49 to
) (per square metre per month) HK$463 HK$505
BENR WABRLA fhstBE (BTAKEA) 46BTE A9BTTE
4638 T 505/ T
Capitalisation rate 28%106.0% | 2.8%1t055%
B X
Industrial properties Income capitalisation approach  Estimated rental value HK$17 to HK$18 to
) (per square metre per month) HK$21 HK$20
TEM% WABRLA fhstRE (BTAKEA) 17872 188 L E
PAN I 2087
Capitalisation rate 7.0% 7.0%
B X

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to recent transactions for similar
properties in the proximity with adjustments for the
differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area,

etc. between the comparable properties and the subject

properties.
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BBEELEE ATENBEMER
L% 2 MR SIEH R EHTE
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14.

15.

EEMEMERERAF | 2023F 1§

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is
estimated by taking into account the current rent passing
of the property interests and the reversionary potential of
the tenancy.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/decrease in the
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.

LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various leasehold
lands and properties used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased lands
from the owners with lease periods of 25 to 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of properties generally have
lease terms between 1 and 35 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension options, which are further
discussed below.

14.

15.

8-/ EXED
NF1E B S o)
BB AB RS AEEEBZY
By ARASKERAESERE
HiEEt o

st R T B (SF IR
K)EBA BRI WD B EBIRAY
$EAFEKREM D BALE
EEAEEN,HLBERRE DR
AFEABRD,/ M-

il

A& EAERRRA
AEBRREENSARELIRY
ENTABEAL - AEBEIRAEY
— RN BUAREEBBE T 1
BRO5ZEE06F + iR 5 3% % £ s T H M 15
B AR PR S S E A O
BEMEOHBBEN T1236F - — K
ma AEETTRAEELMALE
BERHBREEE-BRERENET
HEANZHBERIMT -
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. & (a0
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEBEERBKMA @)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) ff HHEE &
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use rEEZEAEEEREERFA
assets and the movements during the year are as BEWT
follows:
Leasehold
land Properties Total
S+ i L/ES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT
As at 1 April 2021 W_E-—4FmA—H 32,004 77,809 109,813
Additions NE - 61,518 61,518
Termination of leases RE&KIE = (1,671) (1,671)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T& (H7¥6) (2,070) (49,303) (51,373)
Exchange realignment PE 5 AR 1,340 1,150 2,490

As at 31 March 2022 and WRZ-ZE-_—_F=H

1 April 2022 =t+—Bk=ZT==
mA—H 31,274 89,503 120,777

Additions NE S 57,642 57,642
Remeasurement on lease ~ EFTEHEEET

modifications - 10,347 10,347
Termination of leases MEXI - (6,809) (6,809)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T& (H3E6) (3,035) (36,979) (40,014)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B (2,234) (2,122) (4,356)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-=F

=A=+—~” 26,005 111,682 137,687
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z —E - =#=H=+—HIF/E
15. LEASES (Continued) 15. G &)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEBEERKMA (8)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

(b) HMEARE
AEE AR KEAGERENS

movements during the year are as follows: EJR U
2023 2022
—g-= —E-C
Lease Lease
liabilities liabilities
HEAE HEBE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Carrying amount at beginning ~ REF¥) 7 BREE
of year 97,521 87,647
New leases HHEE 57,019 61,518
Remeasurement on lease EFTEEEREE]
modifications 9,614 S
Termination of leases mIEEE (8,924) (1,780)
Accretion of interest recognised F RFER 2 FI| B 18 g
during the year 4,690 3,785
Principal portion paid B A &1 (33,727) (48,780)
Interest paid 258 (4,690) (3,785)
COVID-19-related rent 38 A #COVID-19
concessions from lessors HEESER (1,000) (2,343)
Exchange realignment ME H 58 & (2,355) 1,259
Carrying amount at 31 March R Z=ZA=+—HZKHEE 118,148 97,521
Analysed into: Sak =1
Current portion mBER 1D 36,366 40,754
Non-current portion SEMENED D 81,782 56,767
118,148 97,521

HMERBZIHADMEMBEREK
B 5T 43 R 5E -

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 43 to the financial statements.
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15. LEASES (Continued)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued)

15. 5 (@)

AEBEERBAMA (8

184

(c)

()

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in

(0 EstABHmEAMEMENE

relation to leases are as follows: BWF
2023 2022
—E-= - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZNE 4,690 3,785
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEEZITE
assets 40,014 51,373
Expenses relating to short-term E2%G AT & B F#)
leases EH 6,313 3,806
COVID-19-related rent A ¥ COVID-19
concessions from lessors HEEeER (1,000) (2,343)
Gain on lease modification/ MEBE Rz W
termination (2,848) (109)
Total amount recognised in FFABRNESRE
profit or loss 47,169 56,512

Extension options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension options. These options are negotiated
by management to provide flexibility in managing
the leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with
the Group’s business needs. Set out below are
the undiscounted potential future rental payments
relating to periods following the exercise date of

(d) HE #3243 5
AEBEETESTEHEREN
MEAR -TEERE 7 BLEE
EUEBEIEEREEEMAS
W BN EE ¥ T RRE—
B o TXHIH T R E R S
THEZ BRI R ITR M
EIEAKRES  BLBENRL K

extension options that are not included in the lease FFAMBEBGR
terms.
2023 2022
—E-= —EC-CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Payable within five years REFRENS FET FAET
Extension options expected TR HEIT 2
not to be exercised CHRE =R 3,326 5,256
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (e) MERSMEABNUBHRKRMET
36(c) to the financial statements. 36(c) B °
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15. LEASES (Continued)

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of commercial properties, industrial properties
and residential properties in Hong Kong and Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of
the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$96,045,000 (2022: HK$94,298,000), details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

15. 8 (s

AEEEBHMA
AEBRBSEHELHLHEEREY
¥ ([:E14) BREURES K B ARKE
MEAYE - TAVERTEDE-HE
MBS ERAP M EREZES IR
BEREAMIAMEHARES K&
B R R WA 596,045,000
HIT (—ZF = — £ :94,298,000/8 7T
HFBHR Y BHMERMES -

R =FRZT_F=H=1+—
B NEEREHEEHEPETY 2 A E
HEASE T E R R EARE FE U 2 RBAIR
HERBEHOT:

2023 2022

—E-= —FE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Within one year —FR 81,179 84,714
After one year but within two years ~ — & {ERREN 73,469 81,419
After two years but within three years FRFEER =ZF R 53,501 58,052
After three years but within four years =& {BRPUFE R 31,449 33,253
After four years but within five years  POFE{EREFER 27,591 16,361
After five years hFE 83,432 57,700
350,621 331,499
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z - FE - = =H=+—HI F/F
GOODWILL 16. i &
31 March 2023 —E-=F=A=+—H
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2022: RZE-_—_FMA—H:
Cost %N 85,172
Accumulated impairment BETRE (20,702)
Net carrying amount REFE 64,470
Cost at 1 April 2022, net of accumulated RZE-__FWMA—HZKA
impairment bk REHRVE 64,470
Impairment during the year (note 6) FRRE (FiFE6) (11,889)
Cost at 31 March 2023, net of accumulated RZEZ=F=—HA=FT—H2KAE"
and impairment Hkk REFEL RBIE 52,581
At 31 March 2023: RZE_=F=A=+—8:
Cost PR 85,172
Accumulated impairment Z2iHRE (32,591)
Net carrying amount RAEDFEE 52,581
31 March 2022 - —#=H=+—H
HK$’000
F&T
At 1 April 2021: W-E-—4mA—8:
Cost BN 85,172
Accumulated impairment RETRE (17,469)
Net carrying amount RAENEE 67,703
Cost at 1 April 2021, net of accumulated RZEZ—FMOA—HZKA
impairment Nk 25HR1E 67,703
Impairment during the year (note 6) FARE (Hi3E6) (3,233)
Cost at 31 March 2022, net of accumulated RZEZZF=A=+—B2ZK=x"
and impairment Nk 25 E FRE 64,470
At 31 March 2022: RZE-_—_F=A=+—H:
Cost PN 85,172
Accumulated impairment Z5HRE (20,702)
Net carrying amount FREFE 64,470
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

° Mainland China food supply business; and

° Hong Kong restaurant and food.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

16. 7 & (#)

m Bz
MEBA GBS 2 ABESEEUT
REEESRUERENR

i
o
sy
el
pal
2
=l

PEESREELEMZHEREELT

2023 2022

—g-= —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Mainland China food supply business & B K FE & & & 3 75 9,989 14,263
Hong Kong restaurant and food BEEERERRM 42,592 50,207
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=Z+—HZEEE 52,581 64,470

The Group’s recoverable amounts of the Hong Kong
restaurant and food cash-generating unit, and Mainland
China food supply business cash-generating unit have
been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets/
forecasts covering a five-year period, approved by senior
management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections ranged from 10% to 14% (2022: ranged from
9% to 14%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows of the Mainland China food supply business
cash-generating unit and the Hong Kong restaurant and
food cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period is
ranging from 2% to 3% (2022: 2% to 3%).

AEERBERKRRRBESELEEMR
PRAERMEEXBREELSBN 2
AREeEEFEARBERABTEAS]
M2 AFHZMEEE B ZEER
EBRACEREEFEEE - RERE
FEREA Z TR ENF10%E14% (=
E-F N TF9%E14%) BB A F
B AERMEEXBRESELS
UARBEAERRRRBACEASBMNZ
REREAEREAN F2%E3I% (=
T F 2% %E3% ) ETTIEM -
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& M W

nded 31 March 2023 BZ=-F=-=F=HA=+—HIFE

GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2022. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted revenue/gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted/forecast
revenue/gross margins is the average revenue/gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget/forecast year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and/or expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recognised impairment losses of approximately
HK$4,274,000 (2022: HK$3,233,000) and HK$7,615,000
(2022: Nil) relating to the goodwill allocated to the
Mainland China food supply business cash-generating
unit and Hong Kong restaurant and food cash-generating
unit, respectively, being the carrying amount thereof
(before deducting the impairment losses) that it could
not recover. The impairment losses arose mainly due to
COVID-19 induced deterioration in economic conditions
and other negative operating factors affecting those cash-
generation units.

16. 7 & (g)

- A R RN D

FTE—E-_=F=ZA=+—HAK=%
T =ZA=t+—HzLtilReELE
N2FEABEERSTERABR BEER
HﬁéMEEWLﬁﬁEﬁENW%W
BZEEERIRHMOT

REETRE,
EEEZEE

HEWA,EBEERN -
FRMBA BB ERPTIE
REERRE RAFEN —FRE2F
BN ERERN W E R TEBARER
AR/ SHERTSERMAS -

IR R — T B 2 IR R B ARFTBIAA
NMRRERBEM AR ERR -

BEZZ-_=F=-A=+—HLFE"
AEBHEIADBELETERERBERE
%%ﬁqﬂiﬁi T_L&%C/%’&EQA&ELDD

CELABNZEEHERBEBED L
4,274,000 7T (=T = — 4 : 3,233,000
7 70) &7,615,0008 0 (ZE = =4 :
/) AASE T KE 2 REE (0
BRREEER) REBXEEEAR
COVID- 198 B & B AR A E M &
ZERSELBEMNZAmAXRMK



EEREMERERAF | 2023F 1§

Notes to Consolidated Fipancial Statemeqts
T A M Ok

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. R B & A6 2 &
2023 2022
—E== —=F-——

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Share of net assets DHEEFE 744,563 869,857
Due from associates JE U B 5 N B 2 FRIE 472,620 471,743
Loans to an associate BT —EBERRZER 42,803 43,102
1,259,986 1,384,702
Portion classified as current assets D EAREBEE Z 25 (283,038) (300,974)
976,948 1,083,728

The amounts due from associates and loans to an JEULES & N RIFRIB M AE T — B E R A

associate are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

In the opinion of the directors, except for certain
amounts due from associates totaling approximately
HK$283,038,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$300,974,000), which are considered as short-term
advances, the remaining amounts due from associates
and the loans to an associate (collectively, the “long-
term interests”) are considered, in substance, part of
the Group’s net investments in the associates, for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future.

There was no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from and the loans to
an associate. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

ZE7% Eﬂ%fﬁ#ﬁ RBRIREREE-

BEEZRA @F_“_:¢EHE+*
H FE U & R FUIE A $£49283,038,000
,%m(_%t;:$4mQW4mm%ﬁ)
WRARPRBR HAREKEHE A RR
BRAEENARRENER (5 [ &RH
B BE RS ARNEEERE QR
FHFIREN—F D EA B R AR
BEARFT B N KA REE K ©

R EE L N R R THERB ZER
RIDRBEZNORBHES R -_F—=
FRZF-__F=ZA=1t—H BE%
R A
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=—FE==F=H=+—HIFZF
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. R B & A8 2 3 (9
Particulars of the material associate are as follows: TEBMEDNTFEBOT:

Percentage of

Place of ownership interest
Particulars incorporation attributable
Name of issued shares held and business to the Group Principal activity
HMEIKR
% HECRITROEE XY rEERERER L EEER
2023 2022
ZEC=F | ZE-—F
South China International Purchasing Ordinary shares (unlisted) Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding
Exchange Centre Limited (‘SCI")
ERERAER SR OERARA L@k (3F L) Bk BRAER
([ZmER])
SCl and its subsidiaries (collectively the “SCI Group”) are ZEEBEBRRENB AR (#E [ =B
mainly engaged in property investment and development B FERFRRENXEMERER
in Mainland China. The SCI Group is considered a EREK -EMBREEREAELE
material associate of the Group which, in the opinion of —RMEEBRERG ARREERE
the directors of the Company, is strategic to the Group’s HUEAREB Y ERERBEREE D
property investment and development operating segment BRBEMIER WA S S HmER AR
and has been accounted for using the equity method in =EARR

the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F==#F=H=+—HIFEF

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

17. 7 ¥

A E 2 B (e

TRINFEFBEBREEZMBERNRE
(EREBRZEMNERELAR) K
HGEMBHRERAZREAEYRER:

2023 2022
—E-= - S—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Current assets REEE 145,378 183,291
Non-current assets FERBEE 3,308,407 3,612,808
Current liabilities mEEE (689,750) (783,158)
Non-current liabilities FEMBAR (1,892,818) (1,892,740)
Net assets BEFE 871,217 1,120,201
Less: Non-controlling interests B SRR (1,439) (884)
Net assets attributable to owners of ZEmBEIEEHEAR A
the SCI Group EIHEEFE 869,778 1,119,317
Reconciliation to the Group’s Bt A ERBEECASE
interest in the SCI Group included REMBRREE K
in non-current assets:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership  ZN£2 [E Ff G 4 2 tr {71 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of AEFEEGEREREE
the SCI Group BEFE 434,889 559,659
Unrealised interest expense eliminated 7 % I8 | & 5% u“_: 1 5K 80 80
Due from the associate”" JEE W Bet 8 R B RRIR 223,265 211,370
Loans to the associate” mYHER 7 Z B 42,803 43,102
Carrying amount of the interest therein I & 2 < # z IR HEE 701,037 814,211
Revenue WA 31,770 43,184
Profit/(loss) for the year REERFM (BE) (89,928) 75,739
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  H b2 EK A (&) (159,057) 267,816
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ ANEE2EW A (E18)
for the year B (248,985) 343,555

A

In the opinion of the directors, these long-term interests
are, in substance, part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.

. EERR 2SR

2EBE FRAE
EREE QB 2RE
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F=-=F=HA=+—HI FE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

17. BB A8 Z R ()
TEHRAEE AR REA Y B A )

information of the Group’s associates that are not B IS ER
individually material:
2023 2022
—_E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Share of the associates’ losses FARMLEEAREE
for the year 2,824 1,878
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRBEAR ZERZ
Group’s interests in the associates AR E(E 275,911 269,517

18. 5 & B 4% 20 F 1 1 Bk e it L
fib 2 i A i 2 A R

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_-fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Equity investments designated EEARAFEIERR
at fair value through other Hth2EKWAFEEZ
comprehensive income EERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value FT#EZREE A FE 95,868 119,492
Unlisted equity investment, FELTRERIRE EAFE
at fair value 33,663 35,553
129,531 155,045

1161
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faE ZHA=+—AIFE

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 18. 1 & B # 2 F 1 5 I &k i H
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER fit 2 WA R B 2 B A AR
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued) & (@)
The above equity investments were irrevocably HHEAKEIWF%J:LT%ﬁﬂxﬁﬂ@ZW i
designated at fair value through other comprehensive B WAEEE A BN IEEZER
income as the Group considers these investments to be BRATEIEERREMEEBATRE
strategic in nature. IE o
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the fair value BE_T-_=-F=A=+—HIEFE"
losses in respect of the Group’s equity investments AEEREMEARABRZIEE K
designated at fair value through other comprehensive ANFEEIEREENREMEEBAFRE Y
income recognised in other comprehensive income BRIEE 2 AT EEEL 24,118,000
amounted to approximately HK$24,118,000 (2022: BT (ZF = =4 :27,105,000/ 7T ) ©
HK$27,105,000).
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. #% 2 F 5] IR K i 18 35 b O
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS Wz e & E
2023 2022
—E-= —ET-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Listed equity investments, at fair value MR E LA FE 68,009 71,508
Listed debt investments, at fair value +HEBKEKRE R AFE 8,916 33,029
Unlisted investments, at fair value FEFMRE AT E 47,313 55,404
124,238 159,941

The listed equity and debt investments were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were fund investment
products issued by banks. They were mandatorily
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest.

s MEFRRERENEIEEERM
DRBEATFEFABRRZEHEE-

EHiIF EHREY/PITHETZEESR
BEM - AREANEAESRELIER
R BRI BT B 1 5% 5l 0 8B A%
AFEIEENBETREENSRE
o
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of the listed and unlisted investments
were based on the market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions or quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period.

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$41,037,000 (2022: HK$53,988,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 39).

20. PROPERTIES UNDER 20.

DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE

¥ 2 F 10 5 BR R i 4R g PR

BzemE&E

EmRIFETREZ R FHETIZS B
BREHEZTE R TEIRREHRZ

FIEWELLE.

R-ZB-_=F=ZA=+—H &x%&H

AR TE {8 #9 /41,037,000 7T (=

% :53,988,000/8 7T ) Z I A FETI B
ERBGHREzEMEED FEMN
ERAKBMERE TRITEE ZER

(Pff5¥39) °

BROPDERFELEY X

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRp Y X
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
At beginning of year NG 337,320 313,607
Additions NE 7,266 11,602
Exchange realignment ME W A (22,830) 12,111
At 31 March R=A=+—H 321,756 337,320
Properties under development TEEARATHIREZ T 2
expected to be completed: BREAYE:
Beyond normal operating cycle BHESRIERBDEEL
included under non-current assets* B & 4% ‘& A Hi* 321,756 337,320

*

Based on the current best estimates made by the Group’s
senior management.
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE_-—F_-=ZF=HA=+—HIFE

20. PROPERTIES UNDER

21.

DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)

The Group’s properties under development are located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Included in the Group’s properties under development
are land use rights with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$236,311,000 at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$252,408,000).

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are located in
Mainland China.

INVENTORIES

20. FRPYERFELED X
(8)

BRYME @)

AEE 2 BRPOECNPERERE
o

FAREB Z2ERTPUWERR_FT
—_ZTHFZA=Z+t—BREEEEAY
/236,311,000 (& = —
252,408,000 7T ) 2 T H {5 FA#E o

15 1 th & 9 %
R BRI S R R B AR -

Food, beverages and others Ron KB R H A

21. # &
2023 2022
—E-=F —EC-C4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
30,082 39,107
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F=-=F=HA=+—HI FE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

196

22, fEW & 5 Bk 2

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Trade receivables BUE SRR 56,160 53,476
Impairment BB (25,247) (24,034)
30,913 29,442

For restaurant, bakery and hotel operations, the Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on demand
or credit card settlements. For sale of food products,
customers are generally given credit terms of 30 to 90
days, except for new customers or certain food products,
where payment in advance is normally required. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management.

Generally, the Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

RER WEENBEEENS  AEH
HERP 2B FHRRER RAIKHIAE
AREE -BRMHEMS TP —RE
HI0EQR 2 EEH EHEFPHET
RMmAIRSIN BL—RAFLMNK AE
ESRUH B RERRBRKGEHRETT
BB - S B B M AR
TR

—BmE AREYEREREKE S
RERTEEAERRIEMERIR
Tt BB ZERFEA /T E -

RBEHR BREZEFRRERAH
KR EBRBEZRE DT

2023 2022

—E-= —ZE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Within 30 days BIEAZ=30H 12,654 9,212
31 to 60 days 31E60H 3,967 4,310
61 to 90 days 61290H 3,073 NO2H
Over 90 days B E90H 11,219 10,395
30,913 29,442
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22 EW B 5 IR 2 (#)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EWEBEZERZREBEREZS N
trade receivables are as follows: ™
2023 2022
—E-= —E==

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
At beginning of year iNCZ)! 24,034 24,542
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEE  FEE (MIFE6) 2,498 (1,225)
Exchange realignment M 5 3 B (1,285) 717
At 31 March R=A=+—H 25,247 24,034

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one
year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2023

AEBNBRE BHBEREEREET
WMEDIT AT ERBEEER - BHE
ENREBEEERUBERANZERTS
2 EAER B B BN E - LAt B R
RS EHAISNEEBESM Ea0
BB AR A B AR S TRRI Y & 32 K2 7] 52
R —RM = - MW E S HRF0a
iH—4F - BT IAMEE - B ASHMIT TR
B o

TXEARERARBEEEAKE
ZEWEZERFEERBRNER

R-ZBZ=5=ZA=+—H

Expected Gross Expected

credit carrying credit

loss rate amount losses

A A

FEBER IREAE FEER

% HK$’000 HK$'000

% FHET FET

Credit-impaired receivables 1 BB {E < & U BR 3X 100 16,743 16,743
Other trade receivables HiEWE SRR 2

aged: AR -

Current to 3 months BNEf =@ =@ A

past due - 19,694 -

Over 3 months past due  #1E88:8 =& A 43.1 19,723 8,504

Total #aEt 45.0 56,160 25,247

197



Notes to Consolidqted Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F - =F=H=+—HIFFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
As at 31 March 2022

22, JEW B 5 B 3 (@)
R-ZEBE-_—_F=A=+—H

Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
TEHj 78 5
FEEEBX REAE EEEBE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% TFET FET
Credit-impaired receivables 1= B BB 2 fE U BR X 100 18,065 18,065
Other trade receivables HEMEKRE SRR
aged: AREe
Current to 3 months BNERZ= @ H = & A
past due - 19,048 -
Over 3 months past due %1 EA#8:8 = 1@ A 36.5 16,363 5,969
Total et 44.9 53,476 24,034
23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 23. H i W IR K - % 2 KT AT R
AND PREPAYMENTS TH
2023 2022
—g=-= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Prepayments TET IR 54,243 128,422
Other receivables and deposits HhERERRIES 400,312 412,235
454,555 540,657
Impairment allowance BB L (38,960) (22,051)
415,595 518,606
Portion classified as current assets D EAREBEE Z 25 (381,529) (472,201)
Non-current portion IEREN 2 EB D 34,066 46,405
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

Included in the balance of other receivables and deposits
are amounts due from third parties of approximately
HK$297,965,000 (2022: HK$353,789,000), which are
unsecured, except for certain other receivables totalling
approximately HK$150,920,000 as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$292,008,000), which are guaranteed by
certain third parties, bear interest ranged from 5 to
14% (2022: 5 to 14%) per annum and repayable within
three (2022: four) years. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

Impairment assessment

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by considering the probability of default of
counterparties. As at 31 March 2023, the probability
of default applied ranged from 0.63% to 100% (2022:
0.66% to 100%) and the loss given default was estimated
to be 69.8% (2022: 68.8%). Expected credit losses are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to, inter alia, credit quality of debtors or historical loss
record of the Group and/or other reasonable and
supportable information available. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate
applied as at 31 March 2023 was 12.4% (2022: 6.2%).

A MR K - B & B TR A AR
IE (%)

Hfh g IR B Kk % 2
Hib e R R IR S 2 e ERKE
= FRIE#I297,965,000/8 7 (—E - —
F : 353,789,000 L) - B R IE A E
R (BR=_E-_=F=A=+—HH
ETE=ZFERZETEMERER
4 $£49150,920,0008 L (Z T ==
292,008,000% 7T ) 5N) ~ 5F B F F E
%%%im% —E - F:5%%F14%)

REBER=ZFR(ZEZ_F: EEME
Bo-ahEEETHEBBESRETR
& e

W AE A
BEIMITRESREAPHEREER
SHFEHZAIGEMET R_TE=_=
EF=ZRA=1+—H BEEANTF0.63%E
100% (ZZE =% : 0.66%£100% ) Z
EOmgeE REAMES 2EBEA
HET/R69.8% (ZZT =% 168.8%) °
FEHEEEENERERBIEBRG A#
ThE W2 (AR eE)BEBAZE
BEEESNASERESEELHE R HE
A B EEAEER BEXE/ER
WL\A&HH&EW)&?R&*X%@% K5t 88
(@A) R-—TE-_=%F=A=+—H
RRAZEBEEBRAE124% (T ==
6.2%) °
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 23. H i L IR K - % 2 KT AT K
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) TH (#)
OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS A Wi BR 3K K& 2 (80
(Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continued) W E E A o8
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EmEWERR MR ® R EEIEREE
other receivables and deposits are as follows: AT :
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
At beginning of year iNC)! 22,051 17,067
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEE FRE (MFE6) 18,373 2,151
Exchange realignment BE 5, 58 B (1,464) 2,833
At 31 March R=A=+—H 38,960 22,051
Except for the balances mentioned above, the remaining Br EXCRrat 2 &8RSN Righ & @l & BT
financial assets had no recent history of default and past HYWEEANREL KBRS RE-
due amount.
24. DUE FROM DIRECTORS 24, JE I & = IE
Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed RARE 7B 1 A 5RBI 55383(1)(d) Ik ] & 78
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong nE (RBEFNREM) RHIFEI.2
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Hong Kong RERBCEBEEREFBERED
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of ™

Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

At
Maximum 31 March Maximum
At amount 2022 amount At
31 March outstanding and at outstanding 1 April
2023 |during the year 1 April 2022 during the year 2021
R-E_—F

RAEE =ZA=1+-H RAEE
R-Z-=f% PR ZTZZF MAEE RITZ-F

=ZR=+-H A =% mA—A ZEEEH mA—H
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TAR FTET THET FTET TET
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung BNBLE = 3,397 3,397 3,397 3,008
Mr, Ma Kai Yum ENEsE 1,525 1,806 469 816 816
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SR#it 1,240 1,243 1,043 1,243 935
2,765 5,109 4,779

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest- FRWEEHRIELAERR RERZEX

free and repayable on demand. EE-
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25. CASH AND BANK BAILANCES, 25. Hle kfTaity - MR 2
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED KB E %k
TIME DEPOSITS
2023 2022
—E=-= — T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Cash at banks and on hand RITHEGF LIRS 280,778 268,763
Time deposits E R 40,529 54,418
321,307 323,181
Less: Pledged time deposits for short & : AR HIRITE K&
term bank loans and other HiR{TEEREZ
banking facilities TEHTF K (33,568) (43,473)
Restricted cash (note) ZRREIIRE (M) (32) 92)
Cash and bank balances & MIRITH R 287,707 279,616
Note: B 5T

According to the relevant contracts/agreements, property
development companies of the Group are required to place
at designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for
potential default in payment of mortgage loans advanced to
certain property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will only
be released either after the property ownership certificates
are submitted to the banks as collateral or when the property
purchasers have repaid the full mortgage loans to the banks.

RRIEMA N, HE AREZMEERRD
BIAFN— E%%ﬁﬁ"?aifﬂ TRPIERE
T RARERRBERZETHNEERR
HER - ZBARBES TR BEERTES
FPEEFERIZMERERARITNERE
RIBEREETT TR -
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES,

26.

202

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$218,049,000 (2022:
HK$194,515,000). The Renminbi is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on relevant bank deposit rates. Short term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

2.

26.

Bl R AT &

B 2R3 e
R B 4 E B £F K

(%)

RIFEHR AEBUARBENE
é&fﬁﬁ 4588 B #9218,049,00078 7T (=
T — 4 :194,515,0008 1) - AR
WHABRERREMEE A 1R
B B KBER) (OMEE Bl 155 & 45 &
EERNETERIBE)  AEEE
BB ETINEER 2 RITHBA
REBEMEY-

ATRITHESRBBRITERAERZF
Eﬁﬂwﬁﬁﬂyﬂ S o RFARERZ BRI

I ﬁHﬂEHﬂT— ZHEFET )\?
Hﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ?ﬂg ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬂ
BRI EEBBIELAEENRHE
B ERTTH -

ME £ 8 5 Bk 3K

RBEHR BNEZRFRERTAH
ZHREOMT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Within 30 days BEAZ=30M 24,744 17,815
31 to 60 days 31£260H 6,883 3,309
61 to 90 days 61E90H 5,828 7,451
Over 90 days @0 H 19,364 16,022
56,819 44,597

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are fﬁff%ﬁg RERFERBEEARES

normally settled within the normal operating cycle.

BEBEINER-
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27. 3 fih JE i Bk X

F& 5t 3% & E

DEPOSITS RECEIVED Kk #% 2
2023 2022
—EC=E —EC-C4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M aE TET FETT
Contract liabilities aHEE (@) 16,095 20,964
Accruals s E A 3,715 4,561
Other payables and deposits HEmEAERREKIES
received (b) 214,453 349,166
At 31 March W=A=+—8” 234,263 374,691
Portion classified as current DEATRBEEZHBY
liabilities (227,484) (867,618)
Non-current portion ERE) 22D 6,779 7,073
Notes: MisE -
(a)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ AFEHBEFBEOT:
31 March 31 March 1 April
2023 2022 2021
—EC-=F —E-= —E-—%F
=A=+-—H0 =A=+—H MAH—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET Fi&T
Consideration received FEREFRE:
from customers in advance:
Restaurant, food and hotel B8 -RMMABE 14,153 13,796 11,687
Property investment and MEKRERER
development 1,942 7,168 10,971
Total contract liabilities ERAaEE 16,095 20,964 22,658

Contract liabilities include consideration received from
customers in advance for the Group’s sales of food
products and sales of properties. The decrease in
contract liabilities in the current year was mainly due to
the decrease in consideration received from customers in
advance at the end of the year.

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an
average term of three months.

EHABERERKREFPREKREAE
BZHERMRBEENE -AHABER
RERRITITEAREFRZER
BB AR -

b) EMMENKRFILFE - FHHRS=

&R -
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28. PROVISIONS 28. 13 i
Provision for
restoration
costs
BRRABE
2023
—E—=
HK$’000
FHExT
At beginning of year REH 5,554
Amount utilised during the year REANESRESE (724)
Exchange realignment bE X 38 (143)
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 4,687
Portion classified as current liabilities NEARBEBEZH Y -
Non-current portion EME) 2 BB 4,687
The provision for restoration costs relates to the Group’s BREABEEAREENGREESER
obligations to reinstate its leased properties to their SRIESBERENEREZEEBHEE
original state or to a condition, as specified in the WEMl e xR RZEEE
respective tenancy agreements, at the end/upon the o
termination of the relevant lease terms.
The provision for reinstatement costs was determined ERRABBEN2EZBAELBRRIES
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by BERYBBARRESHAEL 2E TR
the directors of the Company with reference to past BRAGFTMETE - % SR REETF U

experience and available information. The assumptions FEHRIEE] (@A) -
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate.
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 20. W B Z AT fE & KTk &
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE %
BONDS
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZHTHEE
2023 2022
—E-=& —E--F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
BERAE ER X
(%) ZIH#A TER %) FERB THL
Current
E
Bank loans - secured 3.1-6.4 Ondemand 656,293 1.3-4.8  On demand 922,121
BIEH-GHA RERK RENE
Current portion of long term bank 3.9-72 By31March2024 533,189 1.6-5.0 By 31 March 2023 20,907
loans - secured
RBROTEFZANBHD R-E-ME=A RZZE-=%=A
—BiE =+-H8# =+—HH
1,189,482 943,028
Non-current
FERE
Bank loans - secured 5.2-7.2  2024-2027 509,565 1.8-5.2 2023-2026 686,158
FIEH-FHA R-ZZE-MEZE RZE=-=F%
—E-tF ZECRE
1,699,047 1,629,186
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS (Continued)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings (Continued)

29. Wit 8 2 #4715 8 K o 40k B

% ()

MR Z WA & (8)

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Analysed into: WA
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFGE R

Within one year or on demand —FRNHIZEREEE 1,189,482 943,028
In the second year £ 4 331,469 564,023

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FZFERF
(EEMEEREEAN) 178,096 122,135
1,699,047 1,629,186

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
are borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$65,580,000 as at 31 March
2023 (2022: HK$44,615,000) which are denominated
in Renminbi. The remaining interest-bearing bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
are secured by the pledge of certain assets of the Group
as further detailed in note 39 to the financial statements.

Convertible bonds

On 15 July 2021, the Company issued 3% convertible
bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$75,425,251.80 (the “Convertible Bonds”). There was
no movement in the number of these Convertible Bonds
during the year. The Convertible Bonds are convertible
at the option of the bondholders into ordinary shares
from 15 January 2022 at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.60. The Convertible Bonds are redeemable at the
option of the issuer at 100% of the principal amount plus
interest accrued. The Convertible Bonds carry interest at
a rate of 3% per annum, which is payable half-yearly in
arrears on 15 January and 15 July.

R-ZE-_=F==+—HB &K
SENBEZRTEBEEFTLEERES
465,580,000 L (=& = =
44,615,00087C) < BEAARKEHE
HAMW B 2 RITEENNBITFE.

W

AEEETHEZRITEETHAEMAK
SEETEERER E—ZZHBER
B H R M 39 -

| \m

] % 1% %

RZE-Z_—F+A+HB ARAIET
T R4 #8758 B75,425,251.807% JT K13%
MR ES ([ATBRES]) - ZEFaHk
BREHFBERFAWEEE - 0 BRE
SO HEFFAEAEREE S -__F—
A+HBERVRERE.OE TER A
AR o 1T A AR IFIZ100% 2N 2 58 1
JEET ) B HEE] o AT AR (E 5 1% 5 F K3 [E
e R—A+RBREtAT+EBE¥
FXf—IRe
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

The fair value of the liability component was estimated
at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest
rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The
residual amount is assigned as the equity component and
is included in shareholders’ equity.

The convertible bonds issued during the year ended 31
March 2022 had been split into the liability and equity
components as follows:

9. fff B Z SR AT 1% & K o 4 ik &
% (#)

o i H %5 (d@)

BEHS MDA BEENETEERERR
BIEZEMNEUESNRASTRRIRE-
Flep e mOR AR S Wit AR

S o

Bk

BHE_ZE-_—_F=-A=1—RBILFEET
BRI RAR B9 R B EER Y iz #8940
T

HK$’000
FExT
Nominal value of convertible bonds issued BT RRES EE 75,425
Equity component =B D (16,162)
Direct transaction costs attributable to the BRAEGHIPMEEIZKAN
liability component (1,501)
Liability component at the issuance date BITAMBERS 57,762
The movement of the liability component is as follows: BEHBICEBHNAT:
2023 2022
—E-=F =S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At beginning of year R A) 58,171
At the issuance date RE&1TH - 57,762
Interest expense B H 2,079 1,550
Interest paid =AREA/ESA (2,262) (1,141)
At end of year RER 57,988 58,171
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30. DEFERRED TAX 30. %% it Hi
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year AFEERELEREBEEE 2 EHUT :

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 0% JE L TE B R
2023
—BZZHE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from  Revaluation
related acquisition of of investment
depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
R B
BBEHEAE AREEZ REME
HERHE ATERE EXR @zt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TER TER
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_—FNA—H 20,360 6,417 270,478 297,255
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the AEFBHEF 2
statement of profit or loss EERELE/ (Ke)
during the year (note 10) (Hi3%10) 299 - (23,691) (23,392)
Exchange realignment ELAE - - (2,570) (2,570)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZEZ=%$=ZA=+—H
31 March 2023 ZEEHEARAE 20,659 6,417 244,217 271,293
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30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 30. % % B 16 (a0
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) % JE B IE A o)
2022
—E-ZF
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
A U
BABHENME  ARE4Z REME
WrERHE  ATEHAE X st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET FHET
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—FNA—H 20,801 6,162 271,604 298,567
Deferred tax credited to the AEEBRES
statement of profit or loss FAZERERE
during the year (note 10) (FF3¥10) (441) = (2,737) (3,178)
Exchange realignment LS - 255 1,611 1,866

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 R-E-_—%=A=+—H
March 2022 ZEERERERE 20,360 6,417 270,478 297,255
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30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 30. % 2 B JE (@)
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are RAFEZELEHBEEZZSHWOT !
as follows:
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS I B IE B
2023
—EC-=E
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
WA ERR
PERBER
HEEE Kz ER ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THER THERT THERT
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_—FWNA—H 793 18,206 18,999
Deferred tax credited to AEEBRERPHAZELRE
the statement of profit or loss (Ki3E10)
during the year (note 10) 601 1,364 1,965
Gross deferred tax assets RZE-_=f=A=+—HZ
at 31 March 2023 ERHREEERE 1,394 19,570 20,964
2022
—E--F
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
A A LA B R 2R
JE R4
HEaE EHE2ER mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET AT
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—FWA—H 704 11,402 12,106
Deferred tax credited to AEEBERPHAZELRE
the statement of profit or loss (Ki3E10)
during the year (note 10) 89 6,804 6,893
Gross deferred tax assets RZE-_Zf=A=+—HZ

at 31 March 2022 ERHREEERE 793 18,206 18,999
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30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$444,616,000 (2022: HK$403,993,000),
subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated
tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$57,170,000 (2022: HK$48,946,000), subject to the
agreement by relevant tax authorities, that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Other than as disclosed above, deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is currently not considered probable by
management that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$1,838,540,000 at
31 March 2023 (2022: HK$1,917,726,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

30. %% 4 B E (@)

R TEE E ()
AEEERBEAZHIEBE f@
444,616, ooo,’ém(:T::
4083,993,000/& 7T) * /8 %ﬁ%a"ﬂk%ﬂ
%f?é’ﬁﬁf{/ﬁfé‘i'ﬁﬁﬁtvﬁﬁTaTﬁﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁ
RAUBRESBEZBBAARZRKER
MafEE NEEITTERE R B ARRE
2 & 5T B TE E5 18 4957,170,000% 7T (=
T~ :48,946,000/ L) (ZBEFFARS
MEHKERE®R  FOJ{EE)  MmitEn]
A LA B 2R 7R ER B e A K 88 2 S 1B B
R—FE2RFAINE R EXBERES
SN HREREBRIRATAIREEE R
Bz R RN AERETSAZ ESE
RIBEE WAL EEBERELR
HEE -

BT (PRBEMERE) - RPBEARRE
A2 NI B R ERIBINEEET IR
2B BWEU10%TEIF - BRERE
B NF—A—HBES LEH
RZZEZT+F+A=+—HEMESE
2 BF o fid R B K Pk ERIE SMT & B T
AEHER 2 BEABBEIEL B RER
EENREFHR AEBEALER
5%3%10% ° At AEBERZEZERF
BIARBEKR 2B AR ST NF—
A—BRELZAEFNMD IR KR EHBR
AL

NRZEZ=F=A=+—0 X&£EL
KPP B AR B ASSTENR 2
MEBARZKELRFENSZENHE
BRELEHE-EZRE ZEHWBR
ARAERRDRZERN 2 #E T
K-R-_ZE-_=F=ZfA=+—RH @Y
FRAKEZHBARIZIREEB 2GR
M 48 = 58 A H #91,838,540,000/% T i
AERBELEMBER(ZEZZF:
1,917,726,0005 7T ) °

R ) ) B B BRI A+ P B3 S EE AR PATAS
PR
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31.

INTETLY: s

DEFERRED INCOME

31. EE KA

7R £2 B 9 AR AE U AR I B BT HB P R
R—BEFBEAENEFERAEIZRS
WY -BE—R-_=F-A=+— EHJ:

The Group’s deferred income represents cash subsidies
received from a government authority in respect of
a property development project in Mainland China.

Deferred income of approximately HK$783,000 (2022:
HK$205,000) was released to the statement of profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2023.

FRERITEW AL A783,000 7T (=
— — % : 205,000/ 7T ) ET%%MEAEE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. Ik A
SHARES % 13
2023 2022
—EC-=HF g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT THET
Issued and fully paid: BT RAERA:
1,571,359,420 (2022: 1,571,359,420) &A% & 1E0.107% 7T
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each TRM,571,359,4200%
B
1,571,359,4200% ) 157,136 157,136
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RRal 2 BASEHENT :
is as follows:
Number of Issued Share
shares share premium
in issue capital account Total
B&1T
BOBE BRETRE ROEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TET
At 1 April 2021 It Sub2
@ﬂ H 1,382,796,290 138,280 1,440,624 1,578,904
Issue of shares upon subscription 338 i {7 5 3517
of shares o) 188,563,130 18,856 65,335 84,191
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 AT -—%
and 31 March 2023 =ZA=z+—-8”"
—E-ZF
mA—B&
—EC-=F
—A=t—H 1,571,359,420 157,136 1,505,959 1,663,095
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SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in
note 33 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2015
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the 2015 Option Scheme include the Company’s
directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group and consultants of any
member of the Group. The 2015 Option Scheme became
effective on 24 August 2015 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the 2015 Option Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company. If the number of share options of the offer
to directors or any of their associates is in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company'’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, the grant is subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting
in which the grantee and his associates shall abstain from
voting.

32.

33.

A ()

Wi Mot 1
AR TR AR A B0 FE 18 R AR VR R AT )
BT RN IS R M 333 -

i M it

ARRIRE—HBERESE (2T -8
FRHBETE )  SYAKERBZK
NELBER B ER2BERMHIE X
RE) - ZAEZREBR2EEREALR
AEF(BREBIUFNTES) &K
EEBETRAKETAKERRZ
BE —T-AFEREFIER T
—AFNAZTEBERBER LI

STRERET B E%A B+ FRE
A

RE-_T—HFBRE S AR
ZEARITEBRE EREFRREITER
ARARREMBSEDETRNEEZ
10% (R — PR 2 BB
R AIBERRERRAS L&
MEBSEERHEBEAARERSE-

BRYTEEEREVTRLESEAARE
MIERITESRHE-MIRETFEFRRE
SR BAZERIESE BBAQR
PRI B TR 1D0.1 % sk A EfA] 12
& A EAfE - 4B (EE (LR T AERA QA
2 B (E) 8 385,000,000/ 7T BII#% H /&
TR ER RN R RS E A - AR
AREBEABARAEG LRERE-
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33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the offer date, which
must be a business day; (iij the average of the closing
prices of the shares stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value of a
share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the
2015 Option Scheme during the year:

33. Wk Mz 7 w8 (a0

BRECRLE B B28RAKXRE
BEABRERSNRE/BT -KTH
BRENTENHESETE -

BREZTEEB IHESETE HAE
PBUATNERZESE  \ARBIEN
REZAH (ZBEUAREER)INEE
BMaRZMERAT ([BZF]) & H®R
EBXRMAFIZWHE: (RO RERRER
BHRAEEXARBR e R RER
P52 U (8 + R fn m{E -

BRI IR TR A AR RS K
RERRELKRER-

EREERN —Z-hFBRIETET
R ARTTIE 2 B AN T

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-CF

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

mEFY T
TEE BREXE IEE EREHE

HK$ HK$

per share per share

shRERT SRBT
At beginning of year REA] 0.714 11,200,000 0.714 11,600,000
Forfeited during the year REREXK 0.714 (200,000) 0.714 (400,000)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 0.714 11,000,000 0.714 11,200,000
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No share options were exercised during the year (2022:
Nil).

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z - Z - =
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—F=Z/F=1—HILFE

33. W Mz HE ut & (a0
ERILE (Z BT F ) T
o

REBERRERITE ZBREZITEE
KATE BRI

2023 2022 Exercise price* Exercise period
—E-= T =F TEEE THEHB
Number of Number of
options options HK$ per share
BREHE BERESE BRAET
2,500,000 2,600,000 0.714  20-2-2020 to 19-2-2025
R EF_A+REZE-_RAF_ATNA
2,000,000 2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2020 to 2-6-2025
TECEFANAZAE_E-_AFNAZH
2,500,000 2,600,000 0.714 20-2-2021 to 19-2-2026
TE A -+HEZZE-XF-A+NH
2,000,000 2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2021 to 2-6-2026
TE - —HXRAZBE_Z-_XRFXAZH
2,000,000 2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2022 to 2-6-2027
—E - RNAZBE_ZT-_t+F,N"AZH
11,000,000 11,200,000

The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

No share option was granted during the year (2022: Nil).
During the year, the Group recognised total share option
expense of HK$20,000 (2022: HK$149,000) in respect of
share options granted in prior years.

. BT B ARIE H RS AT A3 TT
AR AR 2 E A AR B B e 2B

o

RAFRLBERBBEERN (ZF =
FE) G RAFE AERERTFRE
ZEBERERMER L BREILARES
20,000/ 7t ( —ZF = — % : 149,000/8
7T) °
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33.

34.

216

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
11,000,000 share options outstanding under the 2015
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 11,000,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
issued capital of HK$1,100,000 and additional share
premium of approximately HK$6,754,000 (before issue
expenses and excluding the transfer of relevant amount
from the share option reserve).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 11,000,000 share options outstanding
under the 2015 Option Scheme, which if exercised in full
would represent approximately 0.70% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 81
and 82 of the annual report.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. The transfers to these reserves
are determined by the boards of directors of the
subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The reserve funds are restricted as to
use but can be used to offset against future losses or to
increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

33.

34.

i Mz 4 s B a0

RBERR BB - — nEERET
2 - R 2 7B 11,000,00017 B A% #E 5 &
TE - IRBARRIRITRALRE - 2ET
B AR TTEE 2 BB AR #E B B 2 B 5o
#%1711,000,0000% & 38 A% & SA N B 31T
P& ZN1,100,0005% 7T LA K BB INIR AR 3k (B 47
6,754,000 7T (MR FHITHZ AT E TR
FEBREFEER 2 EESHE) -

Rt EEEMERRERD BiEZ
T FEREFE XA EBE
11,000,00017 & A% # 8 K 17658 - 14 &
BIOTFEAERAREBEBITRG A
0.70% °

fik i
AEBREAFERBEEEZ RER
R EE DD 2N A FRECTRE2
B2 AMNEDE-

AEE 2 ERE /SARER P BEAMERX
M Z M B R R ABE D K 2 A TE 7 4 o B
BRAZESERREPEBBERER
ERBEZEHE - LEHET AR
SR - R EEOR 2R 2 5 18 Y 5 S R R R
ANET B 2 B 2 AR
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 35. B & k&R ED 2 k4

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING & W8
INTERESTS
Details of the certain subsidiaries of the Group that have AEBETHBAREBEANIEZRE
material non-controlling interests are set out below: mZFEENMT
2023 2022
—E=-= —_E-—
Percentage of equity interest held by 4% A% # 25 Fr 435 i i 2
non-controlling interests Bt
— Sleek Treasure Ventures Limited —IEERIIRAR AR R
and its subsidiaries (“Sleek HB AR
Treasure Group”) (MNEESXE]) 40% 40%
— Profit Smart Group Limited and —MEEmEEBRAAR
its subsidiaries (“Profit Smart HB AR
Group”)* ([FBEER]) 24% 40%
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to 7 Bt &= JEIERRHEZE 2
non-controlling interests REEZRH,/ (BHE)
- Sleek Treasure Group —IEE & 2,131 (2,791)
— Profit Smart Group* —FEEE" 1,929 1,945
Dividend paid to non-controlling BT IR R 2 IR R
interests
— Sleek Treasure Group —JEE&£E - 400
— Profit Smart Group* — Mk EE" - 400
Accumulated balance of non- REE BE 2 JEERER 2
controlling interests at the reporting ~ R&H 4564
date
— Sleek Treasure Group —BE & 9,719 (850)
— Profit Smart Group* —FEEE" 7,098 8,542
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 35. EF&E kR ESZ Z2EL

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING & It B 2 5] (@)
INTERESTS (Continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRIRAEMB AR Z&EMBEER
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts BME-MERE B ATARREKHER
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: L EBRE
Sleek
Profit Smart Treasure
2023 Group Group
FIE & B &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Revenue A 130,094 412
Profit for the year RE E 8,040 5,327
Total comprehensive income REEHBABE

for the year 8,040 5,327
Current assets MENVEE 30,483 726
Non-current assets, including goodwill JERENE & - B IEEE 42,018 23,724
Current liabilities meBE (37,093) (152)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (5,832) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) ESESATE, (FTA)

operating activities REMEFE 23,635 (31,389)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEFBE, (FTA)

investing activities ReneFE (11,469) 41,500
Net cash flows used in B & R B P

financing activities REMEFE (12,436) (10,730)
Net decrease in cash and cash RekREEEEER

equivalents B FEE (270) (619)

218
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 35. B & k&R ED 2 k4

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING g il AT §
INTERESTS (Continued)
Sleek
Profit Smart Treasure
2022 Group* Group
FIBe &= = JIEE & =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FET
Revenue WA 120,922 218,815
Profit/(loss) for the year NEFRF, (&EE) 4,681 (6,594)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for A E 2 mE WA~
the year (Fi8) s 4,681 (6,594)
Current assets MBEE 26,624 40,109
Non-current assets, including goodwill 3E BN & & - B i & 36,931 121,504
Current liabilities mENEE (35,602) (144,398)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (6,599) (17,353)
Net cash flows from operating KETEBFTIS
activities REmEFHE 19,521 40,679
Net cash flows used in wEEEFTH
investing activities BEREFHE (1,396) (3,604)
Net cash flows used in financing REEEATA
activities BeRe v (18,078) (45,598)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and R4 MIREHEER
cash equivalents #n, (R ) F 5 47 (8,5293)

The above summarised consolidated financial information
has reflected the effects of acquisition accounting,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments.

* During the year ended 31 March 2022, Sleek Treasure
Group was the holding company of Profit Smart Group.

L‘AJ:#%GEM%?%#E&%E&HM&ZE%%IE
ARE BRBERATERER

* RBE-_T-_—_F#=A=+—HIt#F
B IBEEEAFBRER ZIERAA
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

220

(@

During the year, the Group had non-
cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$57,642,000 (2022:
HK$61,518,000) and HK$57,019,000 (2022:
HK$61,518,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for leased properties.

36. ZaH e RMH

A FEFRIHLE2XS
@ FA REEVENHEER
mE AEBERAEEE
AEEBENIERSEMSD
B B57,642,0008 7T ( =&
— ~%:61,518,0008 7T) &
57,019,000/ 7T (=T ==

= ——

61,518,000/ 7T ) 7 JT °

(b) During the year, the Group had no non-cash b)) FR AKEWEREENE
lease modifications to right-of-use assets EXHHEAEEENEE
and lease liabilities of HK$10,347,000 and B1& 7 5410,347,000% 7T
HK$9,614,000, respectively, in respect of lease 19,614,000/ 7T+ #E 17 IR
arrangements for restaurants (2022: ni). cHEBGEREI(ZE ==

FoE)o
(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING (B) ®h & i B E A 2 A 1B
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Balances
with non-
controlling Interest-
shareholders,  Convertible bearing bank Lease
net bonds  borrowings liabilities
FERBRR
BE RE  TRRES AEBTEH HEaE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR T TiEn

At 1 April 2021 R_E-—FNA—-A 27,073 - 1,638,199 87,647

Changes from financing cash flows BEEH HEREL (2,160) 74,2847 (11,387) (52,565)*

Non-cash ftems HHLEH

New leases MHE - - - 61,518

Termination of leases AERLE - - = (1,780)

Interest expense MER% = 1,550 = 3,785

COVID-19-related rent concessions (L ABCOVID-19/ M &

from lessors EA - (2,343)
Equity component of convertible bonds AT Ak & & i iE 55 - (16,162) = =
Direct transaction cost attrbutable to AT EAE EHH

the liability component of convertible B EEX FHEF

bonds - (1,501) - -
Exchange redlignment BERAE (410) - 2,374 1,259
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. A &0 ERM (5
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING B) MEFEHELrZARES
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (#)
(Continued)
Balances
with non-
controlling Interest-
shareholders,  Convertible bearing bank Lease
net bonds  borrowings liabilities
*ERRR

BE FE  TEREF HEROTHEE BEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEn TR TEn TEn

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZBZZ4#=A=+t-Ak

—E--FMA—H 24,508 58,171 1,629,186 97,521
Changes from financing cash flows BB EBZRE&TEL 12,903 (2,262) 73,140 (38,417)"
Non-cash items HHELEH
New leases oHRE - - - 57,019
Remeasurement Bt E - - - 9,614
Termination of leases MER - - - (8,924)
Interest expense MERZ - 2,079 - 4,690
COVID-19-related rent concessions £ A $1COVID-1918EH 4
from lessors ER - - - (1,000)
Exchange realignment i H A% 550 - (3,279) (2,355)
At 31 March 2023 RZZ-=F=R=1+-H 37,956 57,988 1,699,047 118,148
* Includes principal portion paid of HK$33,727,000 * BEE AL #BH 33,727,000
(2022: HK$48,780,000) and interest paid of 7L (=& = =4 : 48,780,000/
HK$4,690,000 (2022: HK$3,785,000). 7T) + & B - 7 84,690,000 7T
(=& = =% :3,785,000/7T) °
# Included proceeds received from issue of convertible " PRETAIRKRESFER
bonds of HK$75,425,000 and interests paid of 1875,425,000% 7T & B 14 F &

HK$1,141,000. 1,141,000/ 7t ©
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR
LEASES

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

36. B2 HE XM @

(C) MEH &4

FARERERZEERSRNA

statement of cash flows is as follows: ECRIN

2023 2022
—E-=F —EgE-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Within operating activities KRSEE)A 6,313 3,806
Within financing activities MEEFHA 38,417 52,565
44,730 56,371
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

37. KA & &

RBEHR RIAMBHRER 2KARE
[ELUNNE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Guarantees given for mortgage AMEBERERZ
loan facilities granted to property EBEEFBEMEL
purchasers K ELR - 143

The Group had arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of their property units and provided
guarantees to secure the obligations of these purchasers
for repayments. The guarantees terminated upon either
(i) the issuance of the real estate ownership certificates
which will generally be available within one year upon the
completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the satisfaction
of mortgaged loans by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
was responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with any accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and
the banks were entitled to take over the legal titles and
possession of the related properties. The guarantee
period started from the dates of grant of the mortgages.
The directors of the Company considered that the fair
value of the guarantees was not significant and in the
case of default on payment, the net realisable value of
the related properties would exceed the repayment of
the outstanding mortgage principals together with the
accrued interest and penalties. Therefore, no provision
had been made for the guarantees in the financial
statements.

AEECDAETERZYMEEMRR
TRE UTREERUMBRZZERE
TEREE-FRERRFLERSE
(—RREFRELTHE—FA)ED
% K(NMEEREMNRBETIERRL-

RBERGES HZFERERIZBN
P RAKEBREEERRER 2K
BAL BREREMNRT 2 EMER
MEREIF MRTTAEEKEEBYE
Z&m%ﬁ%&%ﬁ% EREEEH
RIS A HIERG - ARRESRRA ER
ZRFEIFEXN Wb RAERNKE
BRI ERFEREBS R R
ERZB AT ERETMEMERZE

° PR L B B 0 B S R A BLFE AR AF
B

S
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38.

39.

224

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

38. ki

RBEHR AEEBATEAASE:

2023 2022

—EBC-=H g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Contracted, but not provided for: ELRT A A AR B 4

Property, plant and equipment ER VN 2,540 2,979
Properties under development BERPYE 15,595 16,932
18,135 19,911

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s assets were pledged to secure certain banking
facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income
generated in respect of certain investment properties of
the Group has been assigned to certain banks to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

39. & & K

RBEEPR AEEZETEEEHER
W ERAEEMERE TRITEEZ

ER LN AEEEHE

A

E )

THREME

ZHeWas TETRT ERAKEM
EEETRITRE ZER-

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

=2 FET FET

Property, plant and equipment  #12%  BE M & 6 13 98,321 328,642

Investment properties HEME 14 1,857,419 2,178,640

Time deposits B TE R 25 33,568 43,473
Financial assets at fair value BATEYERREZF

through profit or loss BEZEHEE 19 41,037 53,988

Total carrying value at 31 March M=A=+—B#&KMEE 2,030,345 2,604,743
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@

o)

The Group had the following transactions with

40. HEANL X5
A EBERIEA LRE NEIT TSI

(@)

related parties during the year: R
2023 2022
—g-= —FE=-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
Sales of goods to related  [FE R AHE S M@
companies (i) 155 126

The selling price was determined based on
mutually agreed terms. The related companies
are controlled by a director of a subsidiary of
the Group.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

M

(i)

The amounts due to directors are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due from/to non-controlling
shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Details of the amounts due from associates
and loans to an associate as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 17 to the
financial statements.

U)

REEHRABEZGREEE
B BE QR A ALE—E
MEBABZ —RERESH-

HEEALTZREEER:

)

ENEFFAREER 28
RIZBRERE -

FE M A< FE 43 R AR SR 3RO
REER 2EREERE
3\%0

PR & HA K e W B &2 2 m] R
ARGET-—HBERRZE
REBEN Y BHRERM T
17 »
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(©)

40. HEAL R 5 (9)

Compensation of key management personnel of the € AEEFTEZEEEABZHMMM:
Group:
2023 2022
—_E-= =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Short term employee benefits %2 Hi{g & 1& 7 14,006 13,926
Post-employment benefits RRAE A 196 188
Equity-settled share option RSB R IERER
expense 20 190
Total compensation paidtokey EXfIFEEEEAE
management personnel o e 14,222 14,304

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 8 to the financial statements.

Exe £ - THBERMBER

FMIEES -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 41. @R z2M T H

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

TR RBENSBITANBERR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

YRR ME

2023 —¥=-=
Financial assets SREE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
BAFEIE
BEEE kREMZE
BATESIE BAREZ
RRERPRE SEHR AL SREE
MemEE BHEREE -EERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn FEx TEn TEn
Due from associates BB & DR RE - 472,620 - 472,620
Loans to an associate BTY-BBENTZER - 42,803 - 42,803
Equity investments designated at fair value through 15 A& A FEFIH K
other comprehensive income REM2ZARAFREZ
BERE - - 129,531 129,531
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss & A FEFE kB
RENCREE 124,238 - - 124,238
Trade receivables B E 5 R - 30,913 - 30,913
Financial assets included in other receivables, SIARMBEKER  RER
deposits and prepayments BRFECEBEE - 361,352 - 361,352
Due from directors EREEHE - 2,765 - 2,765
Restricted cash XRHBEE - 32 - 32
Pledged time deposits BEATHER - 33,568 - 33,568
Cash and bank balances Re R\ETES - 287,707 - 287,707
124,238 1,231,760 129,531 1,485,529
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY M. EERHN 2B IR @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BENSRTANSRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2023 —Eg-=
Financial liabilities tRAaR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
P8 £
RAFHEN
EA =i
HK$’000
FET
Trade payables JERTE Z RN 56,819
Financial liabilities included in other payables, FFAEMENERR BT EA R
accruals and deposits received BlkeremasE 67,370
Due to directors ENEEHIE 3,067
Due to non-controlling shareholders B4 FEYE AR AR 3R 3R 0B 37,956
Convertible bonds Al ES 57,988
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE 1,699,047
Lease liabilities HEAE 118,148
2,040,395
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY A1, BNz T H @
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

TR RBENSBITANBERR
MBREE - (&)

2022 g
Financial assets TREE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
BATESIE
Bk RRAMZE
BATES& WARE 2
RRERPRE A S AR AT SREE
MemEE EMeBEE ~HEnkE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TEL ThAR ThET
Due from associates BB E N R 2 R = 471,743 = 471,743
Loans to an associate LT -REBENRZER - 43,102 - 43,102
Equity investments designated at fair value through 18 AR AT EFI % &
other comprehensive income REMEZARARREZ
BERE - - 155,045 155,045
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss & AF(E5I KRR BT
RENSREE 159,941 - - 159,941
Trade receivables EKESER - 29,442 - 29,442
Financial assets included in other receivables, SARMEKEER  RE R
deposits and prepayments BRFECEBEE - 390,184 - 390,184
Due from directors JEEEHE - 5,109 - 5,109
Due from non-controling shareholders R SEERIRR B - 15,253 - 15,253
Restricted cash XRHHEE - 92 = ®
Pledged time deposits BEAERER - 43,473 - 43,473
Cash and bank balances ReRFITHH - 279,616 - 279,616
159,941 1,278,014 165,045 1,593,000
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 11 BRI 22 T R
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BENSRTANSRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2022 —_F-—
Financial liabilities TRBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
LA 55
XA ETH B HY
TREE
HK$’000
FHET
Trade payables JERTE Z RN 44,597
Financial liabilities included in other payables, FFAEMENRR BT EA K
accruals and deposits received Blikeremas 221,093
Due to directors FEEEFIE 4,349
Due to non-controlling shareholders FE A< FE 13 AR AR SR K IR 39,756
Convertible bonds TR ES 58,171
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B RITIEE 1,629,186
Lease liabilities HEAE 97,521

2,094,673
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
receivables, financial assets included in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments, loans to an associate,
amounts due from associates, amounts due from
directors, amounts due from non-controlling shareholders,
restricted cash, pledged time deposits, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, financial liabilities included
in other payables, accruals and deposits received,
amounts due to directors, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders, interest-bearing bank borrowings and
lease liabilities reasonably approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities/no fixed
terms of repayment of these instruments or because the
effect of discounting not reflected in the carrying amounts
of these instruments are not material. The fair values of
the non-current portion of financial assets included in
other receivables, deposits and prepayments, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities have
been calculated and assessed mainly by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities, as appropriate. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk
for interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities
as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 were assessed
to be insignificant.

2. eMITRZAFHRE2FHE

J& %

AEBEREEREBTERIANTE
SFECZBRNMER -RNEHMESEH &1
ErtremTAZEEEYUBTHE
FERAZIEBABE HEREEE
=B M -

ERMITANAFERZTIARENRS
RETBRETRS GRRFEERE T
) AIRBHEEARK

EREECDHESIRUBENR FTASH
BEZHMBRER &S RFEMARE -
BT HEBMERARNER BREER
AR SRIE - EURE B 5UE - FEUGEZERR R
BRI ZRHEe SEBAEHER
Re RIRITHES  BNESERR A2
BMNEZHEMENER BitERRE
Wik BT ESRUE  BAEERRKRE
HIE-MEZHRITEE UREESED
AFE FERIPEARE ZFIA
WEREEEXRARSIALEAZETR
ZEEERMIITEZERMTRE
MATEAFECREEGERS °F
AR EEMEWRERER  me RBERMK
B WEZRITEEREES & 2 FEA
HEreMmEEL A FEXEEBER
BEEUGR FERRBR LGB TEHA
(EA) 2 TRENAE R A G 2 M XTI
FEHAKRBEEREFERTH - R_F
Z=F=ZA=+—HRZZEZZF=A
=+—H AEERMEZRITEER
HEBBEBsAGTRORRKRBEATE
WL B TEK-

gSl
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42.

gy

INTETLY: s

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments
classified as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income/financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are based on market values.

The fair value of unlisted investment designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income has been
estimated using the asset-based approach based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The valuation approach requires
the directors to analyse the value of the underlying asset
which is then discounted for considerations such as
marketability.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input
to the valuation of financial instrument together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2022:

42.

pal

e THZAVFHERAFHE
J& B ()

DRAETRAFEINERNEMEE
WARRIEZ TS RESREND
FE R RAFEYERRIESFEED
CREENATFERTBREAE - D
MARATEIEIREZYEENS
BMEEMIE LTI EEHENE -

BERLFESRENEMEERATR
BRIEZIFLFHRENDFEDREAE
EMEHAMNET A FNRREREE
EP ALt -ZMEREEREENNT
ﬁ?ZHWﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁFﬁﬁ&%ﬁ%
MBUEEERXIENITE-

Tx#iliemT AGENERTAEBRE

BABBERN -_ZE-_=ZF=ZA=1+—
AT F=A=+—HWE{HK
RRE DT

Significant valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range
BEARMGERM AUEERARE gE
2023 2022
—EBZz=HF | ZZ2--F
Unlisted investment Asset-based approach Discount for lack of 30% 30%

marketability

FLEMEE BEEWE

The discount for lack of marketability represents the
amounts of premiums and discounts determinated by the
Group that market participants would take into accounts
when pricing the investments.

As at 31 March 2023, it was estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount
for lack of marketability by 1% would result in increase/
decrease in the Group’s other comprehensive income by
approximately HK$472,000 (2022: HK$356,000).

Rz Mg E

RemSRBENTESEAEEETH
MZRHEETHEETERZERNGE
ﬂ]ﬁuﬁiﬁg\ °

R-E-_=F=A=+—8 HEH
thESRFTIAENBERT HetR=™
SN IE I %G B B AN
Bz Hb 2w AN, R4 49472,000
BT (ZZF = — 4 :356,000/ 7T ) °
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 2. e MTRZAFH KA PR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& & (=)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 2N F 1 JE R
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREAAEESRIAZ ATERE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: B
Financial assets measured at fair value: EAFHFBEZEMERE:
As at 31 March 2023 Ro-E-—=F=H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ATEAERER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBH % EXTEE EAFTHE
ZHE BAHE BAHE
(%5-8) (5=8) (B=E) ok ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T#R TR
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATETIRERREM
through other comprehensive income FHRAREZ EREE 95,868 - 33,663 129,531
Financial assets at fair value through RATESRERRBET
profit or loss REZEREE 76,925 47,313 - 124,238
172,793 47,313 33,663 253,769
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-—_—F=HA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ATEFEFRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERMS BRUBR EATAHER
ZHE BARE BARE
(E—8) (B=FE) (5=E) nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT THx TR TR
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATEIRRRER
through other comprehensive income PERAREZERERE 119,492 = 35,553 155,045
Financial assets at fair value through BRTETIRRAEREP
profit or loss REZEREE 104,537 55,404 = 159,941

224,029 55,404 35,553 314,986
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INTETLY: s

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rate relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

Assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest
rates would increase/decrease the Group’s loss before
tax for the current year by approximately HK$16,990,000
(2022: decrease/increase the Group’s profit before tax by
HK$16,292,000).

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity to the interest
rate used above is considered reasonable with the other
variables held constant.

B R B HRH R R UK

AEEZFTESHITABEMEZRTT
EE UEBRERBRTER -ZFER
TRAZIZENRRAKERKEERE
T AKRENTELZHRHEEBREBEL L
HiteMEENAG PIMEKE 5K
AN ENE R

Zli'%liraﬂlﬁl\/%f&ZExﬂ YRS

1*gﬂ ‘//lb@]é%ﬂ &HXFH
2 EEXFEHNLABEEZSTARZ
BZ R o

ED
AEBEE TGN EESHER T RS
RSB FHMEFBZRITEE-
AEEZHERITEREZERN R RE
B GR BRI 55 R M 529 KX [,
B EREER TEARRARMG
NMEFRXFRXNETINESZE 212
o

BERBERR S KREEZRITEER
REAE G M AREE BIFIRE, 5
PI0ERBESAEBMREAFE 2B
Tt A1 5 1B 32 AN, 8L > 916,990,000 7T
TR CF R EINAER A
% 16,292,000/ 7T ) °

BEERA REMEBESHSTE ZE)
T~ ﬁXJ:FﬁﬁHZﬂ%‘ﬁZ@EEw%AE °©
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK

The Group trades mainly with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures, as appropriate.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

For properties that are still under development, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with
individual customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount
up to 80% of the total purchase price of the properties.
If a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
loan during the term of the guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage loan may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount under the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to retain the customer’s deposits and sell the related
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. Unless the selling price would drop by no less than
20%, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
the property out and in this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is largely
mitigated.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

A3. B B B O B R B

(#0)

{5 B R b
AEETREMNFRAEERHFNE=T
HETR G - REAKREBRR  AEREE
HETRXINEFPHAKBEENEE
BEREF - I ARBEREERELE
ﬁ%o

RERTHERME  AEEETHE5
EFRBENEMEBEMELNRIEBEE
FAEEO B ERRITRMEER  MER
TRRSR/MFEEBEEMNS% - IR
BEOREREEREESRBERELY.

A A RBERNRITAIGEE ERAE
BEEEFAE T REERALZLER
HHEREETFE - ERFMRRT K
SEARBFFPONREL HEBMEL
EMEREM AARE SIS FIRITHIR
B BRIFEE TEADRN20% AEET
SHEHEZVERAZBL Bt K
RAEERRAEENEERRARR
&~

Ja B B TR B 4F R B 4
TRETNR=A=1t—HAREBELAEEDN
EEBR (E2UBHERNR/ERE IRIE
BEFLEBZNANE A ES M
BERRISERIR)NEEERRERER
BERUARFRERD B -FIREER
TREEZREARE-

235



Notes to Consolidqted Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F - =F=H=+—HIFFE

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. W A by B B H AR ROBOK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) f5 B R B (a0
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Ja B b PR R 5 AR B S (s
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZEZ=F=H=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
128 RAEH ZHEY
FEER FEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RR FTRB FZRRB IS ait

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TRT TRT TRT TRT

Due from associates** FE MR D B 2 BB 472,620 - - - 472,620
Loans to an associate** BF-BBEEQT2ER 42,803 - - - 42,803
Trade receivables* EWESER - - - 56,160 56,160
Financial assets included in other TARMERR BER

receivables, deposits and prepayments BRREZEREE 102,356 262,348 35,608 - 400,312
Due from directors** ERESHE 2,765 - - - 2,765
Restricted cash’ ZREARE" 32 - - - 32
Pledged time deposits" BEACHER 33,568 - - - 33,568
Cash and bank balances” RERRITHER 287,707 - - - 287,707

941,851 262,348 35,608 56,160 1,295,967




43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
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(%)
5 BB )
Jal b bR e 5 K B &% (80

A3. B B P E AR R BOK

(Continued)
As at 31 March 2022 R-_ZE-__F=RA=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
128 AT 2HER
EERE EERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RE E-BR E=ER A% A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT TR TR TR
Due from associates** FE W Bt A B) 2 TR 471,743 - - - 471,743
Loans to an associate** B -HEENRAZER 43,102 - - - 43,102
Trade receivables* EWE S ER - - - 53,476 53,476
Financial assets included in other TAEMERERR BER
receivables, deposits and prepayments BAREZEREE 393,025 - 19,210 = 412,235
Due from directors** ERESHE 5,109 - - - 5,109
Due from non-controlling shareholders*  FEUR I 12 I iR R X8 15,253 - - - 15,253
Restricted cash" ZRHURS" 92 - - = 92
Pledged time deposits" BHEAEHEX 43,473 - - - 43,473
Cash and bank balances" ReRBTLER 279,616 - - = 279,616
1,251,413 - 19,210 53,476 1,324,099

*k

A

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 22 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial instruments is considered
“normal”, as they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial instruments had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Not yet past due

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

*k

R AKBEIRA GO ET AR R
B 5 R0 AR B R R R Ay B AR B 75
BRI T2 R EE o

TRIANEREERREARILE
B EARMOLARE RIBEEH
XPZEZLR T HBERNBRIAKRE
R EE -

FEAEEmYERERKESERZE
BREBzE-—SEEE RETBHRR
M sE22 R 3 5 -
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
by considering the maturity of its financial assets and

liabilities and projected cash flows.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank

and other borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

43. W B g & B AT &R
()
W% SRR
AEERZEEBAEREENHA
MREHRSREREELE SR
LS

AEENB R AEBERRITREME
§ HEESHBMEEBELE ZHRET
fi7o

TRAAEERHREMRNEHEE
AaARITRMSFEEN T HIFR -

2023
—EZZF
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—F40TF -F
HRERE ERE EENRL @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THR TR
Trade payables EREZER 56,819 - - 56,819
Financial liabilities included in other FARMES R B ER
payables, accruals and deposits received REUWEEZEMEE 60,591 6,779 - 67,370
Due to directors EREERE 3,067 - - 3,067
Due to non-controlling shareholders B FEERRRFE 37,956 - - 37,956
Convertible bonds ARRES 57,988 - - 57,988
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 29) K5 2 R1THEE (KizF29) 1,189,482 509,565 - 1,699,047
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank K5 ZRTHEE
borrowings FEXM 86,016 14,549 - 100,565
Lease liabilities HEERE 43,555 76,573 7,999 128,127
1,535,474 607,466 7,999 2,150,939
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. BB g s B H R R WK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) B &2 R (s
2022
—E-F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Over 5 years Total
—EHT —F
EANE ZRF AENE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THET
Trade payables T 44,597 - - 44,597
Financial liabilities included in other payables, &t AE MR - T B
accruals and deposits received kBEMZREzERBE 182,491 355 6,718 189,564
Due to directors ERNEEHE 4,349 - - 4,349
Due to non-controlling shareholders B FEERRR TR 39,756 - - 39,756
Convertible bonds ARRES 2,263 76,095 - 78,358
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 29) Mt 22 RITIEE (FE29) 943,028 686,158 - 1,629,186
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank MEZBTEEZ
borrowings FEZR 3,265 7,672 5,799 16,736
Lease liabilities HEBE 51,587 59,101 - 110,638
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ SN L EREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers mIRATIEL R 143 - - 143
1,271,429 829,381 12,517 2,113,327
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

240

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings are term

loans with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$915,519,000 (2022: HK$768,217,000). The loan
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand” and
has been classified as current liabilities.

Notwithstanding the above clauses, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows:

A3. B B B O R R B

(&)

W& 2 A @)

B & :

MEZRTEERTERAFEAEY
915,519,000 T2 EHER (=&
— 4 768,217,000 T ) < BRI
HEE—E R EREEE R
4T ERTT AR BER BB R -
Fith st i BB RS - 2 EFA
T A REXR] RESEARTEAE

f&e

BEBALER BEEL TR RLE
ERER12E A ARERE2HEBE -
EXZRRREETAIRBE R B
PRl B HA B 558 - AT R B
SEEREMBRRE B ZMBIK
W AREEETERZL WEED
TR RARE—BERFETHAR
AR o

RS — A @B ERIENK
BRI MRS R S R
BAA B TR Skt B R 08 B SRED
BB (AR B E 0 SR
mT -

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

—£40TF —FZRF BENE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TER

As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H 517,592 106,974 32,670 657,236
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZ§=A=+—H 416,431 362,910 12,230 781,571
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual listed equity investments classified as
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 18) and listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (note 19) as at 31 March 2023 and
2022.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Shanghai stock exchanges and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The market equity index for the following stock
exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest trading

Bt 5 e B i PR H R B OBR

(#)
ik 15 el Fex
HXZM S L B 5 TR A 3R 1 SO S K {1
~MEEZE @Jﬁﬁ%@lﬂx$a’é%2 M?
TETE%ZJ—LM RZTB_=R-ZT_
FZA=1+—A AKEMEYH 2B
EBRERIIRE D E/EERAFED
BE&E’\\E@EEHW\EEEEZ%\ K&/
HEERE (MEE18) 2 ER Lk
Txé&’\*E%TQQ¥TE§\JEE&E@TEEEP
BRI e REE (MEE19) P Emgs
RE-

AEENEHREEES FINKLE
BREX S LT RIERREHRNTS
HEMGBE-

MBBHFEH (NEFEREREHRZ &
BAOXGHEEBRERRE)  RFRZ

day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and the e REREEENT
respective highest and lowest points during the year were
as follows:
High/low High/low
during the during the
Asat  year ended As at year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2023 2023 2022 2022
REZ REZE
—E-=F S
=ZA=t-H =ZRA=+-H
R-B-=% LEER |RZT-F HEER
=ZA=+-H e/ |=A=t—-8 &/
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index EE—fEEEY 20,400 22,701/14,597 21,997 29,491/18,235
Shenzhen - SZSE Component Index S3E 31| — %8 25 X & 5 & 11,726 13,122/10,087 12,118 15,290/11,331
Shanghai - SSE Composite Index 3§ — &4 S EH 3,273  3,425/2,863 3,263 3,724/3,023
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,

with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the listed equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income, the impact is
deemed to be on the fair value reserve.

43. B % Ja By B E R R BOR
(40

1 18 & B (&)

TRETAEEMEERFINE NRE
HEREAMRBIFET BEEREER
WEBARZERME  HRERKEZAF
EEHRs%EE) 2 T - AT
ZIEZEANFEYERNEMZERA
BRIy FESKEMS  BEEEWN

BRAHBAFERBERNTE-

Carrying
amount Changes Increase/
of equity in profit/loss decrease
investments before tax in equity*
ERRE BB ARR
REE FEZ28 BAE/ B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FEL
2023 it xS
Investments listed in: LEhRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &8~ E A 2 E AP
thought other comprehensive R EHRE
income (note 18) (HizE18) 95,868 - 4,793
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fair value BE-REHETREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (H:19) 64,454 3,223 -
Shanghai - Financial assets at fair value LE-RBRTPREL
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (H:19) 3,555 178 -
2022 ket
Investments listed in: LTTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &8 — A 2 E U AP
thought other comprehensive REZEHRE
income (note 18) (MiE18) 119,492 - 5974
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fair value FE-REETREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) REE (F19) 67,207 3,360 =
Shanghai - Financial assets at fair value E-MEREPREL
through profit or loss (note 19) REE (F19) 4,301 215 =
* Excluding effect on retained profits * TEERB RN FE
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its businesses and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements except for the undertaking
by the Company under a banking facility letter granted
to a subsidiary of the Group to maintain a minimum
consolidated tangible net worth of HK$3,000,000,000
(2022: HK$3,000,000,000), which has been complied
with during the year. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March
2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
and convertible bonds, net of cash and bank balances
and pledged time deposits as a percentage of the
Group’s total equity. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods were as follows:

A3. B B B O B R B

(4)

BAEH
AEEEAREENERBR RERA
SEAGREZRNEN BEFRE
MEARLL R UXFHEEBER  FI&R
RO R(EE

REBBBELCEBANES RABEE
MRS SEEEARERITEL S
BoOHPBAARERLERE A5EA
MRRREERNKEZEITHR -BRARF
MAEE —EHBARERZIRITE
FERAEMRH 2 AZ AR ERRES
B & &% 183,000,000,000/& 7T (=&
— 4 :3,000,000,000& 7T) (RER
BEEST) 4 REB W EEMIMERINZ
BRER - BE_ZB_=F=A=+—
BER-ZZE-_—_F=A=+—HItFE
W WEREAEIEENE BIZ - Rk
R

AEBUABRBEL X (AARKEME
ZIRITEE R RERE SRR £ MRTT
mer XRAIEEe M ERERFERR
EAREBRSEEZADL) EEER
FIES - RIREHREAR BB RIT

2023 2022
—E=-= —FE-=

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000

hg=a FET FET

Interest-bearing bank borrowings Mf 8 2 $R1T{& E 29 1,699,047 1,629,186

Convertible bonds Al AR (S 5 57,988 58,171
Less: Cash and bank balances & : 3R & & ER7T45 8% 25 (287,707) (279,616)
Pledged time deposits EHEFEBRTR 25 (33,568) (43,473)

Net debt FaE 1,435,760 1,364,268
Total equity R BE 3,585,202 4,078,405
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 40.0% 33.5%

243



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

& M W

Yearended37 March 2023 BE-—F_-_=ZF=FA=+—HIFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

44. K5 2 BBk &

R|ERR RRAR M BEIRRAK 2 E

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TFET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries g F 2,213,226 2,116,604
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 2,213,226 2,116,604
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and H o fE YRR -
prepayments R4e RIafrtoE 72 73
Due from a subsidiary FEY —REIF B A R 5KIE 80,000 80,000
Cash and bank balances He KIRITE 3,675 5,632
Total current assets MEEERE 83,747 85,705
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES (57,988) =
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZIR{TIEE (267,316) (124,126)
Other payables and accruals HiEMNERRESER (8,163) (9,343)
Due to directors ERTE B RIA (17,225) (18,102)
Total current liabilities MBBERE (350,692) (151,571)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFHE (266,945) (65,866)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ E#ZEBERABAE
LIABILITIES 1,946,281 2,050,738
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES = (68,171)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B B2 Zfﬁ ﬁ B (82,000) (101,826)
Due to associates JESTESE 2 N B FRIB (191,121) (176,982)
Total non-current liabilities FERBEEREEE (273,121) (336,979)
Net assets BEFE 1,673,160 1,713,759
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITIRA 157,136 157,136
Reserves (note) e (PaE) 1,516,024 1,556,623
Total equity =B E 1,673,160 1,713,759
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 44. &% 8 Z B K 0L & (o
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Bf5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARZEBHENT :
Equity Retained
Share  component Capital Share profits/
premium of convertible Contributed  redemption option (accumulated
account bonds surplus reserve reserve loss) Total
TRARES REEA/
REGEER BEHs BEAEY 24BERE BRERE (RHER) @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iR T AR TiEn FER TiEx FER

At 1 April 2021 R-ZE--%mA-AH 1,440,624 - 59,759 316 5,398 35,949 1,542,046
Loss for the year and total TEEBERAER

comprehensive loss for the year 2EFBAE - - - - - (19,928 (19,928)
Equity-setiled share option arrangements INEREE 2 BRERH - - - 149 - 149
Issue of convertiole bonds BankEs - 16,162 - - - - 16,162
Transfer of share option reserve upon REREX N

forfeiture of share options ERBRERE - - - (36) 36 S
Issue of shares upon placing of shares RERDERTORY 65,335 - - - - - 65,335
Final 2021 dividend —Eo-ERHRE - - (47,141 - - . (@7,141)
At 31 March 2022 and at 1 April 2022 W=B-=f=B=1+-AR

R-E--£MA-A 1,505,959 16,162 12,618 316 5,511 16,057 1,556,623

Loss for the year and total TEEBBRAER

comprehensive loss for the year EFBAE - - - - - (24,905) (24,905)
Equity-settied share option arrangements ~ JVERZE 2 BREZH - - - - 20 - 2
Transfer of share option reserve upon REBRELNE

forfeiture of share options ERERERE - - - - (18) 18 -
Final 2022 dividend SgooERHBE = = = - - (15,714) (15,714)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%=A=+-H 1,505,959 16,162 12,618 316 5513 (24,544) 1,516,024
The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a RARIZEBRBBTIA—NAN—FNA
result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August 1991 TZHZAEEEEMES  BAAQA
and represented the difference between the nominal BORAz BEERBEASEEEAMmMU
value of the share capital issued by the Company and BeMBARcEHEEFBEZER
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired MEBEFEZOARBITZE-

pursuant to the Group reorganisation, less the effects of
the bonus issue of shares in previous years.
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Notes to Consolidqted Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=-F - =F=H=+—HIFFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 44, A Q6 2 M BRI F @)

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as

REBRE-NN-FRQBE (%@ﬂ%

amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to i) BRAMRZE TEEBANDIKT
shareholders under certain specific circumstances. fRER o

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits/(accumulated loss) should
the related options expire or be forfeited.

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2023.

45.

BREFRBEERRLERKRITEZER
BOVE FHE—THRPHRERH
2 AR RERSN Z @ EREK &
SEARNEABRERTERERER
0 (B AR 30 A B ME AR 3B B s B0R MR
BERERBEN,(REBRE) -

BB ok 2 i

BHH/REN _ZE_=FA-TN\H
REESQUELIRER M



Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2023 are as follows:

Name/location

BB/

Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEME

Tenure

HEREE

Type

b

31 March 2023

—E-—Z#F=ZA=4+—H

RIZBE-=F=A=+—HAEEFENT
RREMEFBELT

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
HEEERNE
(EHK)

Effective
% held

BERH
BOk

Stage of
completion

e 7 B B}

Hong Kong
gH

Unit B, 26th Floor

Wyler Centre, Phase Il

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

RSB B2005%
BRpOFE_H

262B=E

Ground Floor and Cockloft
61 South Wall Road
Kowloon City, Kowloon
JUBE SRR A P 3
G615k ™ M 2

Shop on Ground Floor

No. 188 Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
Rk

BiEa

1885 L 48

15th Floor and

Car park space No. 5
Young Ya Industrial Building
381-389 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
MARE

YD IH 38381-389%%
BLTERE

1518 &

T 5557 B s

Notes:

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

I A

Medium term lease

I A

Medium term lease

I A

Medium term lease

I A

I

GES

GES

I¥

1,568

87

114

2,604

i3]

'13.;_\.,:

100

100

60

100

Completed

B

Completed

B

Completed

BEK

Completed

MEERI-T¥ R—EE C—E%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -ZE-_=F=A=+—HAEBFANT

as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued) EREYEFEOT : (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
HAEEEEAY BERES
&8/ RS ] (FFHXK) B THER

Hong Kong
gH

Shop No. 1 on G/F Medium term lease  C 104 60 Completed
together with the loft

thereto, Beverly Court

Nos. 151-159 Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon

NEERKY FHIFR A EES BIERK

B IB151-159%%

R

N

HRER

Ground Floor Medium term lease  C 53 70 Completed
No. 355 Sha Tsui Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

WREE F EAAE L) [GES BEK

Y IB 383555

N

Ground Floor, Medium term lease  C 102 100 Completed
No. 102 Main Street Ap Lei Chau

Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong

BB  EAAE L) EES 2EK

BS M I K E51025%

b:lIN

Shop on Ground and Cockloft Medium term lease  C 89 100 Completed
No. 186A Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon

NEERKY h HRAR 4 EES BIERK
BIB1186A

TR E R g

Shop on Ground Floor Medium term lease  C 77 100 Completed
No. 270 Ki Lung Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon

NLBERKY F EAAE 4 [EES BEK
EE 552705%

3 T

Notes: B E -

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

HEREE

Type

b

Schedule of Principal Properties
iE%%ﬁE
= H

31 March 2023 —F==%#=H=

R-E_=F=ZA=+—HBAKEHFAENZT
RREMEFBEOT  (F)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
floor area % held completion

(m?)
HEEERNE BEREE
(EAK) BAL THER

Hong Kong
gH

Flat F on 1st Floor
Gold Reserved Count
No. 16 Tai Main Lane
Tai Po, New Territories
HAXNE
A B 1697

e

—EFE

5/F and main roof

No. 35 Tsing Yuen Street
Tai Po, New Territories
AN

IR 355
TERETERA

Lot No. 423 on D.D. 292
No. 18 Ko Tong Ha Yeung
Sai Kung, New Territories
MAAE

= TF185%
EEMLEBNNG
292403 B 42357

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

I A

Medium term lease

I A

Medium term lease

I A

50 100 Completed

50 90 Completed

B

70 90 Completed

BEMK

i3]
WMEBR I -T% R-—EE -C—HEX

ﬁl{‘:




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -ZE-_=F=A=+—HAEBFANT

as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued) EREYEFEOT : (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
HAEEEEAY BERES
&8/ RS ] (FFHXK) B THER

Hong Kong
gH

Ground floor & 1st floor Medium term lease R 83 90 Completed
Lot No. 424 on D.D. 292

No.17 Ko Tong Ha Yeung

Sai Kung North, New Territories

HmABEIL R EIRR AT T=x BIERK
=IE N7

ERMIEHNH

292473 R B 4245%

T R —1&

Lot No. 1528 on D.D. 244 Medium term lease R 62 100 Completed
No. 30 3rd Lane, Ho Chung Village

Sai Kung, New Territories

MAAE FHIFR A F=x BIERK
BRI FE3B305%

EEMLENN

F 244573 R 55 15285%

Lot No. 1582 on D.D. 244 Medium term lease R 31 100 Completed
Ho Chung Village

Sai Kung, New Territories

MAERE R EIFR A TF=x [=8-354
BB

EEMXENN

F244K)3 B 5 15825%

Mainland China
B K

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C 28,390 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

R B FERFR 4 [SES BEK
ARFEEMERERIR

FEPREES

Notes: B E -

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

HEREE

Type

b

31 March 2023

Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEME
—E-—Z#F=ZA=4+—H

R-E_=F=ZA=+—HBAKEHFAENZT
RREMEFBEOT  (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
HEEERNE
(EHK)

Effective
% held

BERH
BOk

Stage of
completion

e 7 B B}

Mainland China
GEPN:

A building at Hua Shan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guangdong Province
NRERE

HBE

RIEH

BHIXR
ENK 7z —BEF

Imperial Palace
Hong Yi Cun
Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

A EE R
B
1
REAE

14 Zu Miao Road
Chancheng District
Foshan Municipal
AN

B =

18 BB B 145%

A building at Xi Huan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guangdong Province
URERE

EBE

AIEE

BHIXE

PR —BETF

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

I A

Long term lease

3Ktk

Medium term lease

bk

Medium term lease

I A

%

C/R

[GES

I¥

4,647

4,899

6,838

18,922

B &L -

100

100

100

100

Completed

Completed

Completed

B

Completed

MEERI-IT% R—EE C—E*




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

RS

Type

&5l

R-E_=F=A=+—BAKEFAENT
RREMEFBEOT  (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
HEEEBRNE
(EHK)

Effective
% held

BERER
BOK

Stage of
completion

52 A B B}

Mainland China
thE A

Carrianna Friendship Square
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RIS B =
ARBEREREREZIA
EERAES

Block 5, Hui Bo Commercial Centre
Guangzhou South Station

Shibi Street, Panyu District
Guanzhou City

Guangdong Province

BRE

BMmESRAES

&M Ea vk

SERHEH LR

An industrial complex at

18 Xingye Road

Xiuying District

Haikou City, Hainan Province
N BmEE/AT

FE 18R — R

Commercial Office Building Units
Block 3 Jiahui Life Plaza

Northern portion of Wandao Road
Quhai Community, Wanjiang District
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province
BRERS

EIRfEtE

Bt

FAE A 15

SRR SE A T

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

REREA

Medium term lease

ki)

Medium term lease

REREA

Medium term lease

i)

C/R

FEYS
F=E

[GES

%

C/R

SEYS
FE

4,210

9,203

15,907

3,682

GEE

100

100

65

100

Completed

BEMK

Completed

Completed

BEMK

Completed

MERR I -T%¥ R—EE C—H%



Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWE ﬁ %
= H

31 March 2023 —F==%#=H=

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R -Z - =F=A=+—HAEBZHERE

equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: R EEMEFFET

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion

(m?)
HEEEHENH BERER

2B/ HAKE 5l (FFHXK) BAlk THER
Hong Kong
g8
Unit A, 26th Floor and Medium term lease | 812 100 Completed

Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,
22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and
Lorry Parking Space No. L21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase |l
200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
HRER R HITRA) Tx BIERK
KEHEE2005%

EmPLE =5

261EAZE R2EF19%

2055 + 215K ~ 225 -

395% A0SR BRI K

1Lk EHAE M

Unit 18 and 19 on 8th Floor Medium term lease | 298 60 Completed
Wah Sang Industrial Building

Nos. 14-18 Wong Chuk Yeung Street

Shatin, New territories

AW H R HITRA) Tx BIERK
BT EA14-185

EHET¥AE

BE18E R19E

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER: I- T R—FE C—HX




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HAAEEFELE
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: A ZEBYWEFBNOT: (&)
(Continued)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
BEEEROR BRER
2B/ HRMtE 5l (RFHXK) Aot TR

Hong Kong
gE

(i) The 12th floor of Tower Two, and ~ Medium term lease | 2,780 95% Completed
(ii) Flat Roof B2 on the 7th floor of

Tower Two

Ever Gain Plaza

No. 88 Container Port Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories

R F EARE 4 Tx BEK
5 1B 78 58 3% 885

KAZH B

=B+ &k

i—ELEEIBFAB2

Mainland China
PR

Nos. 3-6, 5/F Medium term lease  C 1,068 100 Completed
Carrianna Friendship Square

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RYIAS B [ R ERFE A EES BI&K
ARBRERERBERA

EEFREES

AHE3-65%

Notes: e

ﬁl{‘:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I- T R—F= C—&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
i?%%ﬁ?
= H

31 March 2023 —E==#=H=+4—
Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-_=F=A=+—HAEBFAELRE
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: FZEBYEFBOT: (&)

(Continued)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
BEEEROR BREE
2B/ HRAME Hhl (RFHXK) Aot TR

Mainland China
B KPR

Units A, B, Cand D Medium term lease  C 557 100 Completed
14th Floor and Unit South B on

17th Floor, Lianhua Building

Renmin South Road, Luohu District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS B = EAFE A EES BIERK
BHEARERE

ERE

1418A B CKDERI7THEMEBE

Room 301-304, 321-326 Long term lease C 1,570 100 Completed
Shenzhen Centre

Commercial Building, Min Tian West

Road, Futian Centre District

Futian District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RGBT R REFEL EES [=5:-354
BAER

BHPLERBEA

I LEBRE

301-304% [2321-326 %

14 Zu Miao Road Medium term lease  C 12,954 100 Completed
Chancheng District

Foshan Municipal

I FHITHA) BE =354
BHR

18 B RE 1457

lleq:

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T¥ R—F=E C—&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-_=F=A=+—HAEBFALE
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: FZEBYEFBOT: (&)
(Continued)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
BEEEROR BRER
2B/ HRMtE 5l (RFHXK) Aot TR

Mainland China
A AR

Sales Centre Medium term lease  C 1,739 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BE; R EARE 4 EES EIEX
BEERERMAER

AR AR ECR

ZHEP O

Commercial Units numbered 8-S113, Medium term lease  C 2,036 100 Completed
8-5S212, 8-S301 and 8-S401 of the

4-storey building, and 10 parking

spaces at basement Level 1

No. 8 Building on Land A3-4

Fifth Avenue

Runcheng Apartment Complex

Qianxing Road, Xishan District

Kunming, Yunan Province

EHERHAT F EAAE 4 [EES BIEMK
78 1L [ A BR

B NEERLKE

A3-43 $881R £ 2 U EHE T

&5 /8-S113 + 8-8212 »

8-S301%8-S401 2 B Efi

ARRZEFIEIEZ

10fA R B L

ﬁﬂ:

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER I-T% R—FE C—B%




Schedule of Principal Properties
iE%%ﬁE
= H

31 March 2023 —F==%#=H=

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HAAE£EFELE

Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: R EEMEFFET

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion

(m?)
HEEEHENH BERER

£/ HRME Al (FHK) B THER
Mainland China
Gl PN
Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease ~ C/R 212 100 Completed

Junction Renmin Road South
and Chunfeng Road
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS =  EARE 4 [GEV4 2EX
ARBEIERBERZR T=x

EBHAERES

Imperial Palace Long term lease C/R 153 100 Completed
Hong Yi Cun

Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN BE = REALD GEY4 BEX
BRI F=E

Ht—#f

BEAE

'13';{,:

Notes: B

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PIEER: I-T% R—FE C-&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-E-_=ZF=ZA=Z+—HAELEFELE

Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued) RZEEMEFBOT: (&)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)

BEEEHENH BERER
EB/ HRMtE Al (FHK) B RTHEER
Mainland China
hE K
Leather Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 34,510 100 Completed

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

BE; R EARE 4 EES EIEX
EEBLERMAERR

B RAE B EBR

HREAREKRFH L

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 49,157 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BHER F EAAE 4 [EES BIEMK
EEBEARMEAE R

LB RAERECR

BMZ %0

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T¥ R—F=E C—&%




Particulars of principal properties under development held by
the Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

Location

1t B

Use

Jick

Site
area
(m?)
TEE
(F7HK)

31 March 2023 —F==%#=H=

Schedule of Principal Properties
i?%%ﬁ?
= H

R-E_=F=ZA=1T—BHAKEHFER

R TEWEH

Stage of
completion

52 B B B

B (&)

Expected
Effective completion
% held date

ERER

BA BEETHRAH

Mainland China
P

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE;

EEBLBERMAER
mEEXR
R AE B EBR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road F section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE;

BEBLERMAE R
REEXRE
BB R AR EFR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

BHE;

BEBLERMAER
REEXR
AR AE B ECR

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

26,069

77,757

22,731

Foundation work
in progress

WETIZETH

Foundation work
in progress

ETI2ETH

Foundation work
in progress

R TI2ETH

100 N/A

TER

100 N/A

100 N/A




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2023 —F=Z=#=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the

Group as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

RIBE_=F=ZA=1+-BAKEHFER

hZEBYMEHBOT  (F)

Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
(m?)
T EE BRER
5 R®g (£FHK) 5E RL P B Aotk FFEABEH
Mainland China
B KR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone
Lianyungang
HE; mE/EE METRETH TEA
EEBLERMAERR
mEEXR
B RABREER
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone
Lianyungang
HE; HE/EE METRETH TNEH
BEERERMAER
REEXER

IR RAB BRI GER
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